
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

13 October 2016

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

A meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee will be held on 
Friday, 21 October 2016 at 10.00 am in Committee Room One, County Offices, 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the business set out on the attached 
Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 
(17 Members of the Council and 4 Added Members)

Councillors J D Hough (Chairman), R Wootten (Vice-Chairman), B Adams, W J Aron, 
Mrs J Brockway, S R Dodds, A G Hagues, B W Keimach, Ms T Keywood-Wainwright, 
C R Oxby, Mrs H N J Powell, Mrs S Ransome, Mrs L A Rollings, Mrs N J Smith, 
S M Tweedale, L Wootten and Mrs S M Wray

Added Members

Church Representatives: Mr S C Rudman and Mr P Thompson

Parent Governor Representatives: Mrs P J Barnett and Dr E van der Zee

Public Document Pack





CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA
FRIDAY, 21 OCTOBER 2016

Item Title Pages

1 Apologies for Absence / Replacement Members 

2 Declarations of Members Interests 

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2016 5 - 14

4 Children's Health Services Model and Commissioning Plan 
(To receive a report by Charlotte Gray, Team Manager Children's 
Commissioning, which provides the Committee with an 
opportunity to consider the final service model and 
commissioning route for children's health services in scope of the 
review prior to consideration by the Executive on 1 November 
2016)

15 - 100

5 Schools that work for everyone - Government consultation 
(To receive a report by Martin Smith, Children's Services 
Manager – School Standards, which provides the Committee with 
a summary of the key proposals in the consultation document 
'Schools that work for everyone' (Published by the Department for 
Education (DfE) 12 September 2016))

101 - 114

6 Corporate Parenting Panel Update 
(To receive a report by Tara Jones, Service Manager Regulated 
Services, which provides the Committee with an update on the 
work of the Corporate Parenting Panel)

115 - 126

7 Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy - Six Monthly Update 
(To receive a report from Mary Meredith, Children's Services 
Manager Inclusion, which updates the Committee on the progress 
of the Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy, including plans for the 
Lincolnshire Teaching and Learning Centre (LTLC) and the 
mobilisation of the Behaviour Outreach Support Service)

127 - 132

8 Sector Led School Improvement Model - Update Report 
(To receive a report from Gavin Booth, Children's Services 
Manager – Education Strategy, which enables the Committee to 
consider an update relating to the Sector-Led approach to School 
Improvement)

133 - 136

9 Open Select List for Children's Services Placements 
(To receive a report by Amy Allcock, Senior Commissioning 
Officer, which invites the Committee to consider a report on the 
Open Select List for Children's Services Placements prior to it 
being considered by the Executive Councillor responsible for 
Children's Services on 31 October 2016)

137 - 156

10 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 157 - 164



Programme 
(To receive a report from Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, 
which enables the Committee to consider its own work 
programme for the coming year)

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Rachel Wilson

Direct Dial 01522 552107

E Mail Address rachel.wilson@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

9 SEPTEMBER 2016

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR JOHN DUNCOMB HOUGH (CHAIRMAN)

Councillors B Adams, W J Aron, Mrs J Brockway, S R Dodds, A G Hagues, 
B W Keimach, C R Oxby, Mrs H N J Powell, Mrs S Ransome, Mrs N J Smith, 
L Wootten, Mrs S M Wray and M A Whittington

Councillor D Brailsford attended the meeting as an observer

Officers in attendance:-

Debbie Barnes (Executive Director, Children's Services), Stuart Carlton (Assistant 
Director Children's Lead Early Help), Maggie Freeman (14 - 19 Commissioner), Gary 
Headland (Chair of the Federation of Lincolnshire Colleges), Tracy Johnson (Senior 
Scrutiny Officer) and Rachel Wilson (Democratic Services Officer)

20    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE / REPLACEMENT MEMBERS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors T Keywood-Wainwright, Mrs L 
Rollings, S M Tweedale, and R Wootten.

Apologies for absence were also received from Mr P Thompson (Church 
Representative), Dr E van der Zee (Parent Governor Representative) and Councillor 
Mrs P A Bradwell (Executive Councillor for Children's Services).

The Chief Executive reported that, under Local Government (Committee and Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990, Councillor M A Whittington had been appointed to the 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to replace Councillor S M Tweedale 
for this meeting only.

21    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting.

22    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 JULY 2016

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2016 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9 SEPTEMBER 2016

23    UPDATE ON SAVINGS PROPOSALS IN THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
BUDGET 2016/17

Consideration was given to a report which provided an update to the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee on the saving proposals in the Children's Services 
budget for 2016/17 and anticipated cost pressures for 2016/17 and beyond.  It was 
clarified that these proposals had come before this Committee in November 2015, 
and this report was a reminder of the savings which had been agreed and 
implemented.

The Committee received a presentation which provided members with more detailed 
information in relation to the following budget areas:

 Readiness for School
 Learn and Achieve
 Readiness for Adult Life
 Children are Safe and Healthy
 Cost Pressures

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained within the report and presentation, and some 
of the points raised during discussion included the following:

 It was queried whether the government covered the cost of the 67 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) as it was listed as a zero 
value in the budget table.  Members were advised that young people who 
came into the country and were assessed as being under 18 and without a 
guardian were the responsibility of the State.  The numbers did vary, but on 
any given day there would be between 40 -70 UASC in the care of 
Lincolnshire County Council.  The authority did receive a grant from the 
government, which did cover the costs of supported accommodation for over 
16's.  Children assessed as under the age of 16 would be placed in foster 
care.  The issues arose with those children under 16 who had complex needs.  
However, officers currently thought that caring for these children was cost 
neutral for the authority, but it was not known how this could change in the 
future if the needs of the cohort were different.  Members were assured that 
officers were committed to continually reviewing this situation.

 Whether children with Special Guardianship Orders (SGO's) transitioned to 
adult care would depend on their needs, such as if they had mental health 
issues or a disability.  However, if a child had an Education, Health and Care 
plan in place, they would be transitioned in accordance with their plan.  
Members were advised that case law in relation to SGO's meant that children 
which were subject to a SGO tended to be younger and that it would be quite 
a few years before transition to adult care would be required for those with a 
SGO.

 It was commented that investing in preventative services for children was the 
ultimate invest to save option, as well as being morally the right thing to do.

 It was queried whether there was any way of measuring the impact of the 
introduction of signposting in place of services such as early health or careers.  
Members were advised that in relation to NEET (Not in Education, 

Page 6



3
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

9 SEPTEMBER 2016

Employment or Training), those groups of young people who were classed as 
vulnerable were measured so data was collected on NEET via vulnerable 
group.  It was too early to see whether losing the careers guidance service 
was having an impact but it may encourage schools to increase their offer in 
relation to careers.  Removing careers guidance from schools was a risk, and 
this was acknowledged, but the council was now making decisions about 'least 
worst' proposals.

 It was acknowledged that capacity in terms of sector led work was a concern.  
Lincolnshire was seeing a growth in schools that wanted to be part of multi-
academy sites or teaching schools, and they were working really well together, 
but it was recognised that there was a gap on the east coast.  97% of schools 
had joined the Lincolnshire Learning Partnership.  Schools were undertaking 
peer reviews and engaging with the local authority on the peer reviews.

 There was a challenge with small rural schools in Lincolnshire, and there was 
an opportunity for them to work in collaboration.  It was no longer desirable for 
schools in Lincolnshire to stand alone and work in isolation.  It had been slow 
progress but it was reported that now a tipping point had been reached and 
people were seeing it as something different, there was a need to sustain the 
momentum.

 It was queried what the effect of budget savings had been on staff, such as the 
number of compulsory redundancies and the effect of these redundancies on 
the remaining staff.  It was reported that the most significant redundancies 
were in the Careers Guidance service.  It was thought that there were about 
70 compulsory redundancies, but they were not all full-time.  It was also noted 
that the costs of these redundancies were met from the corporate redundancy 
budget, not the Children's Services budget.  The Director agreed to send out 
details of all redundancies after the meeting.  Members were advised that 
morale was positive.  Management had worked hard to ensure that the 
workload which was left behind was manageable for staff, and also there had 
been a lot of work on staff engagement to ensure that management team were 
visible.

 There were currently no plans to undertake impact assessments around 
previous savings.

 In relation to the supported accommodation contract, it was reported that 
Public Health used to have responsibility for all supported housing in 
Lincolnshire.  The contract was set up so that the provider managed which 
people they would take.  However, the authority believed that it should decide 
who was more suited to supported accommodation and contracts re-tendered 
to that effect.

 It was queried whether there was anything which could be done to challenge 
the courts if the authority felt that the wrong decision had been made.  
Members were advised that there were avenues which could be pursued if it 
was felt this was the case, but it was not a common situation.

 Concerns were raised that the impacts of making cuts were not always 
captured.

Page 7



4
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9 SEPTEMBER 2016

RESOLVED

That the comments made in relation to the current position of the 2016/17 saving 
proposals for Children's Services and anticipated cost pressures for 2016/17 and 
beyond be noted.

24    POST 16 AREA BASED REVIEW

Consideration was given to a report which summarised the current situation in 
relation to post 16 (up to 25 for young people with Education, Health and Care Plans) 
education and training in Lincolnshire.  The report would seek approval from the 
Executive Councillor for Children's Services for the Council's position in relation to 
the forthcoming area based review of post 16 education and training institutions in 
Greater Lincolnshire.

The outcomes from the Committee's working group which was held on 25 July 2016 
were reported to the meeting, and it was confirmed that they had been taken into 
account within the report.  These included concerns around the need for a broad 
curriculum in reach of all pupils and concerns that school sixth forms and other 
providers, such as Bishop Burton College and University Technical College, were 
excluded from the review.

The Chair of the Federation of Lincolnshire Colleges was in attendance at the 
meeting, and advised the Committee that the federation consisted of 10 colleges 
across Greater Lincolnshire.  It was reported that the federation was going into the 
area review open minded, and had been working collaboratively on a number of bids.  
A single data pack had been made available to all chief executives and principals 
during the week, and would be provided to other stakeholders the following week.  It 
was emphasised that there was a need for caution in making conclusions about what 
the right answer was too early in the process.  This was an opportunity to examine 
the way that further education was delivered across the county.  There was a need to 
get the best possible outcomes for young people in Lincolnshire.  However, it was 
emphasised that this was not about a structural merger.

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers and 
guests present in relation to the information contained within the report, and some of 
the points raised during discussion included the following:

 Concerns were raised regarding how this review would fit into the review being 
undertaken by the shadow Combined Authority and the Greater Lincolnshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) and with devolution.  It was reported 
that the scope of devolution was aligned with the review and would be 
informed by the GLLEP.  It was highlighted that the colleges would make their 
own recommendations and the shadow Combined Authority could also put 
forward recommendations informed by the GLLEP which may differ to the 
colleges.  However, it was noted that the colleges would make their own 
decisions and could accept or reject the recommendations.

 Concerns were also raised regarding Bishop Burton College and the loss of 
farms.  It was requested that this issue was raised with the Chief Executive 
and a formal response provided back to the Committee on the situation.

Page 8



5
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

9 SEPTEMBER 2016

 It was highlighted that there was a need for functional skills facilities to remain 
in colleges for those 16 year olds who did not achieve maths and English at 
schools, as this was an important part of the college system.  It was noted that 
this area of provision would be explored, but it was acknowledged that 
investment was needed in lots of areas of the curriculum, including functional 
skills.

 The importance of life skills was also highlighted, and members were advised 
that there were study programmes for 16-18 year olds which covered 
vocational skills, but not necessarily life skills.  These programmes covered 
thing such as how to manage in the world of work, but there was some scope 
to include broader life skills.  

 Concerns were raised regarding the need to match the curriculum with the 
needs of the Lincolnshire economy, and it was commented that colleges were 
offering too many courses in hairdressing and beauty, which were surplus to 
requirements.  

 Young people had clear ideas about what they wanted to do, and there was a 
role for Post-16 providers to engage with young people in relation to the skills 
which were required locally and nationally.

 There were concerns that sixth form colleges were not being included, and it 
was thought that there was a need for a holistic view, and it would be difficult 
to see how the best outcomes could be obtained when sixth forms were not 
being included in the review.

 There was an issue around matching skills with economic growth 
requirements, but members welcomed this being addressed during the review.

 There were concerns around careers guidance, as it was commented that the 
advice given by schools was very patchy.  It was felt that until children had the 
opportunity to received good advice at school they would not be able to make 
the right decisions.

 It was queried whether the review would address the Ofsted grading of 
colleges, as the majority had either stayed the same or gone down in their 
grading,  Members were advised that there had been a recalibration across 
the country and there was now only one college rated as outstanding in the 
whole country.

 A member commented that they felt reassured that there would be a more 
holistic approach than previously.  There was a responsibility on the authority, 
and post-16 providers to ensure that young people were on courses that would 
lead to a job.

 It was highlighted that the wording in Appendix C regarding collaboration 
around apprenticeships appeared to imply that the arrangements between 
Boston College, Grantham College and New College Stamford would be the 
only one.  The Committee agreed that the wording should be made clearer to 
reflect that there may also be other collaborative arrangements around 
Apprenticeships, and it was requested that the wording be recirculated to the 
Committee.

Page 9



6
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9 SEPTEMBER 2016

RESOLVED

1. That the Committee supports the recommendation to the Executive Councillor 
responsible for Children's Services as set out in the report.

2. That the comments made be passed to the Executive Councillor responsible 
for Children's Services in relation to this item.

25    PARTNERS IN PRACTICE

Consideration was given to a report which invited the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee to consider the proposed partnership agreement between the 
Department of Education (DfE) and Lincolnshire County Council's Children's Services 
as part of the Government's Partner in Practice Programme.  The proposals were 
intended to improve practice in Lincolnshire and other Children's Services by 
transforming the quality of children's social care services and early help 
arrangements.  Members were advised that the DfE had approached high performing 
local authorities to work with them about what an alternative child protection system 
would look like.  The authority had submitted its Partners in Practice proposal, but at 
the time of the meeting it had not yet been accepted.

Members were informed that the proposals to transform Children's Social Care were 
structured around three different work streams with 10 aspirations of what the 
authority wishes to achieve over the next four years.  It was believed that the three 
work streams would enable Lincolnshire to innovate which would improve the 
authority's practices and be more child focused, building on its approach for 
relationship based practice.  The three work streams were aligned to the DfE's reform 
programme, and were as follows:

 Practice and systems
 Governance and accountability
 People and leadership

The Committee was provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers 
present in relation to the information contained within the report and some of the 
points raised during discussion included the following:

 It was commented that the report was excellent and was welcomed.
 There was agreement that staff relationship with the child was an important 

issue, and that there should be one person for the child to go to.
 Members were pleased to see more use of 'Signs of Safety, and saw this as a 

positive move away from a tick box way of working.
 It was commented that the successes of families working together in 

Lincolnshire showed the strength of the model.
 There would be much more voice of the child in this process.
 It was queried why, if Lincolnshire was already an outstanding local authority 

in child protection was it being asked to look at alternative delivery models.
 It was confirmed that it was common for children to get attached to their social 

worker, and a lot of children in the care system had existing attachment 

Page 10



7
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

9 SEPTEMBER 2016

issues.  Anything that would reduce the number of people a child had to deal 
with would be positive.

 Concerns were raised with regard to Aspiration 6 as it was thought there was 
a need to know the exact ways that young people would be diverted away 
from criminal behaviour.

 In terms of the governance work stream, the authority would be looking to 
explore collaborative working with joint ownership.

 The Youth Offending Service would be moving into Children's Services, and 
then officers would be able to start working through how services would be 
further developed and integrated.

 Officers commented that they were pleased with the comments about 
innovation, and management thought that this approach made sense.  It was 
highlighted that this was a once in a lifetime opportunity to change the way 
that children's social care was provided.

RESOLVED

That the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee supports the 10 
aspirations as set out in the proposed partnership agreement between the 
Department of Education and Lincolnshire County Council's Children's 
Services as one of the Government's Partners in Practice.

26    CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY'S GUIDE TO SCRUTINISING 
CHILDREN'S SAFEGUARDING ARRANGEMENTS

On 9 October 2015 the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee was asked to 
consider and comment on the CfPS 21 questions guide for Councillors on 
Safeguarding Children.

It was agreed following this that Officers would be requested to provide the 
Committee with assurance in respect of the questions set out in the CfPS Guide 
2015.

The Committee received a report which set out the work undertaken across 
Children's Services in response to questions 5, 6 and 7, which were as follows:

 How are local commissioners considering safeguarding issues in their work 
across a full range of local services?

 How effective are 'early help' strategies in identifying children in need and 
addressing factors that may lead to concerns about safeguarding?

 What has been learnt from early intervention approaches in the local area? 
What is effective and what are the resource implications?

RESOLVED

That the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee note the contents 
of the response.

Page 11



8
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9 SEPTEMBER 2016

27    PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 1 2016/17

Consideration was given to a report which provided the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee with key performance information for Quarter 1 2016/17 which 
was relevant to the work of the Committee.

Members were provided with an opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained within the report and some of the points raised 
during discussion included the following:

 It was queried whether any analysis was carried out on complaints to 
determine whether there were any patterns.  It was noted that there was a 
complaints officer, and the complaints listed in the report were the complaints 
which were submitted to the local authority.

 Concerns were raised regarding performance of the achievement gap at 
foundation stage not being narrowed.  Members were advised that narrowing 
the gap was a significant challenge.  Some academies were not engaging with 
the authority, but all were measured by Ofsted on the gap as it was a key 
Ofsted indicator.  It was noted that it was very difficult to remove the gap. 
However, there were a number of schools who had not yet provided their data.

 Members were advised that in the future the gap would not be measured on 5 
A – C's, there would instead be a move toward Progress 8.   It was unclear at 
this stage how the authority would benchmark from last year to this year.

 In relation to Care Leavers in suitable accommodation, it was suggested 
whether the target should be 100%, as there were concerns about whether the 
10% could 'slip'.  Members were advised that these young people were 
managed on an individual basis to ensure they were in the right place.  Work 
was also ongoing on how the authority could pump prime some investment 
and work on creating more suitable accommodation for car leavers around the 
county.

It was noted that there was a working group on School Performance if any members 
were interested in joining.

 At this point in the meeting it was moved, seconded and:

RESOLVED

That in accordance with section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of 
Appendix D to the report on the grounds that if they were present there could 
be a disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to ask questions in relation to 
Appendix D of the report and officers responded to those questions raised. 

Page 12



9
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

9 SEPTEMBER 2016

RESOLVED

That after the consideration of exempt information, as defined above, the 
remainder of the meeting be held in public.  

RESOLVED

That the comments made in relation to the performance information be 
noted.

28    LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP

It was reported that the Scrutiny Sub-Group met on 6 July 2016 but unfortunately the 
meeting had to be held informally due to being inquorate which was the reason why 
there were no minutes included with the agenda for this meeting.

The Sub-Group received the outcomes from Serious Case Review C which had now 
been published.  The case involved the death of a 5 month old baby with a suspected 
degenerative neurological condition.  The baby had been the subject of a neglect 
case, however a post mortem determined that the child had died naturally and the 
review concluded that the death could not have been prevented.

The Sub Group was updated on the work of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children 
Board (LSCB) and was informed that Bishop Grosseteste University had been 
approached to produce a short play relating to child sexual exploitation which would 
be performed at schools around the county.  It would be performed by drama 
students and written and produced by the University, with funding from the LSCB.  
The brief for the play was to feature real stories of child sexual exploitation from 
around Lincolnshire.

A new Education Sub Group of the Board had been formed whose aim was to better 
engage with the education sector to build their skills and knowledge, share resources 
and ensure the key messages of safeguarding practice reached those who spent a 
lot of time with children in Lincolnshire.

Some of the new policies currently being developed were the Consent and 
Competency Guidance which allowed for children to visit a GP without their parents' 
consent and included appointments to secure birth control.  Criminalisation of 
Children in Care was another new policy which promoted a sensible response to bad 
behaviour from looked after children in care homes.  Previously the police were 
called to all situations, regardless of triviality, but this policy would assist staff to deal 
with offences themselves.

With regards to the membership of the Sub-Group, officers were in the process of 
identifying new added members to fill the vacancies.  Contact had been made with 
the Police and Health who were both interested in having representation on the Sub 
Group and were looking into finding possible representatives.  A new district 
councillor representative had been appointed, which was Cllr Mike Exton from South 

Page 13



10
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9 SEPTEMBER 2016

Kesteven District Council.  The Parent Governor Representatives had also been 
approached to see if one of them was able to fill the Parent Governor vacancy.

The next meeting of the Sub Group would be held on 28 September 2016 and the 
Sub Group would receive updates on the work of the Board and its Sub Groups, 
Serious Case Reviews, and a report on the Identification and Prevention of Child 
Sexual Exploitation.

Members expressed disappointment that the Sub Group was not quorate on this 
occasion as it was due to consider a Serious Case Review.  It was clarified that, 
following legal advice, substitute members were permitted on the Sub Group, but it 
was still required to be politically balanced.

RESOLVED

That the update be noted.

29    CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report which enabled the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee to consider its own work programme for the coming year.

Members were reminded that there was to be a budget workshop held on 25 
November 2016 from 2.00 – 4.00pm.

An issue was raised by one of the members in relation to a government consultation 
on a review of the five mandated reviews by Health Visitors for babies.  Members 
were advised that a report on health visiting would be presented to the Committee at 
its October meeting.

RESOLVED

That the content of the work programme be agreed.

The meeting closed at 1.05 pm

Page 14



      

Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 21 October 2016 

Subject: Children's Health Services Model and Commissioning 
Plan 

 

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider a report on the Children's Health Services Model and Commissioning 
Plan which is due to be considered by the Executive on 1 November 2016. The 
views of the Scrutiny Committee will be reported to the Executive as part of its 
consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendation(s) to the Executive as set out in the report.   

 
(2) To agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive in 

relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background
 
The Executive is due to consider a report on the Children's Health Services Model 
and Commissioning Plan. The full report to the Executive is attached at Appendix 1 
to this report. 
 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendation(s) in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive. The Committee’s views 
will be reported to the Executive.   
 
 
3. Consultation 
 

 
 

 

 

a) Policy Proofing Actions Required  
 

Not applicable 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report. 

Appendix 1 Report and Appendices to the Executive on Children's Health 
Services Model and Commissioning Plan 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Charlotte Gray, who can be contacted on 01522 553783 
or charlotte.gray@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
 
  
 

Page 16



Report Reference:  
Executive/Executive Councillor

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services

Report to: Executive 
Date: 01 November 2016

Subject: Children's Health Services Model and Commissioning 
Plan

Decision Reference: I011790
Key decision? Yes 

Summary: 

Children’s Strategic Commissioning Service is reviewing early years and 
children’s health services that are currently outsourced, further details of which 
can be found in the background section of this report. Expenditure on these 
services in 2016/17 is £13,998,367. 

A decision was taken in July 2016 by the Executive Councillor responsible for 
Children’s Services to agree the final service model and preferred 
commissioning route for the early years services in scope of the review. Early 
years services will be procured by means of an open competitive tender and 
should be operational by 1 July 2017.
 
The Council’s Executive is now asked to approve the final service model and 
commissioning route for children’s health services in scope of the review. The 
current contractual arrangement with Lincolnshire Community Health Services 
NHS Trust (LCHS) for these services is due to cease on 31st March 2017 with 
an option to extend to 31st March 2018. The review of children's health services 
will support the Council to find savings of £350k in 2017/18 and a further £350k 
in 2018/19. Additional savings will be sought where possible. 

Recommendation(s):
That Executive:

1 Approves the final model for new children’s health services set out in the 
Preferred Children's Health Service Model section of this report at pages 6 
to 11.

2 Approves the following commissioning options :
a) That the children’s health service 0-19 (25 SEND) is in-sourced and 

provided by the Council's Children's Services department.

Page 17



b) That the existing online counselling service contract with Xenzone is 
varied from 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018 to include a pilot for the 
additional elements required under the review. 

c) That a single online counselling service is procured through an open 
competitive tender and services are operational from 1st April 2018.  

d) That the additional sexual health service elements required under the 
review are embedded into Public Health’s existing Lincolnshire 
integrated sexual health service contract by way of a variation to the 
existing agreement. 

e) That the Director of Children's Services in consultation with the 
Executive Councillor for Adults, Health and Children’s Services be 
delegated the authority to approve the final form and content of the 
emotional wellbeing, including whether the service should be provided 
by the Council alongside the new children’s health service 0-19 (25 
SEND) or procured through an open competitive tender process. This 
will require further discussions with schools and the School Forum to 
identify if there is a method for achieving joint commissioning, subject to 
school funding changes.  Delegation to include determining the form 
and content of the service and approving the entering into of all 
necessary legal documentation.

3 That the Executive Director for Children’s Services in consultation with the 
Executive Councillor for Adults, Health and Children’s Services be given 
delegated authority to take all decisions necessary to give effect to the 
decisions in paragraphs 1 and 2 above to include approving the form and 
content and the entering into of all necessary legal documentation.

Alternatives Considered:
1. That an alternative model is proposed for children’s health services.

2. That alternative commissioning options set out in this report for the new 
children’s health services are agreed. 

Reasons for Recommendation:
The recommended model for children’s health services was developed taking into 
account findings from the review. Further model options have already been 
explored with a variety of boards including Children’s Services Directorate 
Management Team and Corporate Management Board and the final model is 
deemed to provide the best offer to families within available resources. Not 
agreeing to the model or changing the model risks altering/removing services 
where there is a clear rationale for needing them. Further work would be needed 
to understand the impact of changes which would increase the time required to 
implement new services and for savings to be realised. 

Alternative commissioning options have been given thorough consideration and 
the recommendations provided to Executive are believed to offer the best 
approach to securing value for money services that will improve outcomes for 
children, young people and families. It is believed that to agree alternative 
commissioning options would result in this not being achieved as successfully.

Page 18



1. Background

The Council’s Children’s Services Directorate has the lead commissioning function 
for the services set out below, all of which are being reviewed:

Services Service Category
 Health Visiting
 Family Nurse Partnership
 Antenatal Weight Management
 School Nursing

Health 
£11,279,040 (16/17)

 Early Years Service for Children’s Centre Communities
 Locality Services - Participation and Engagement
 Locality Services - Crèche 
 Locality Services - Skills Development
 Locality Services - Adult Learning
 Locality Services - Bi-lingual support
 Locality Services- additional commissioning
 Locality Services- Witham Family Centre

Early Years
£2,719,327 (16/17)

These services cover a broad range of health and early childhood based support 
for children and young people aged 0-19 and their families. Children’s Services has 
only recently become the responsible commissioner for all of these services and 
now has an opportunity to review current service provision holistically for the first 
time and to re-shape services as required. 

The strategic outcomes the services will support are:

 Joint Health and Well-being Strategy for Lincolnshire 2013-2018:
o Theme: Improve health and social outcomes for children and reduce 

inequalities
o Outcome: Ensure all children get the best possible start in life and 

achieve their potential
 Lincolnshire Children and Young People’s Plan 2013-2016:

o Children and Young People are healthy and safe.
o Children and Young People develop their potential in their early years 

and are ready for school.

On 29th July 2016, the Executive Councillor for Children’s Services approved the 
final model for the early years services in scope of the review and that these 
services will be re-procured by means of an open competitive tender. In advance 
of this decision on 15th July 2016 the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny 
Committee considered and supported the recommendations for early years 
services. These reports are available to the general public.

This report deals with Children's Health Services.

Current Commissioning of Children’s Health Services

When Public Health transferred to Local Authorities in 2013, Councils became 
responsible for commissioning public health services for 5 to 19 year-olds (up to 25 

Page 19



for young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)). On 1st 
October 2015, Local Authorities were further delegated commissioning 
responsibility for public health services for 0 to 5 year olds. In Lincolnshire, 
Children’s Services undertake the commissioning and contract management of all 
these services which now include:
 Health Visiting
 Family Nurse Partnership (FNP)
 Antenatal Weight Management
 School Nursing

Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust (LCHS) delivers all of these 
services. The Council has a contractual agreement with LCHS made under S75 of 
the NHS Act 2006 for the services. This is due to end 31st March 2017 (a further six 
months extension is currently being agreed to 30th September 2017 and following 
this a final further six month extension can be invoked). 

Each of the service elements is described below.

Health Visiting
The service leads delivery of the Healthy Child Programme for 0-5 year olds; a 
prevention and early intervention public health programme that lies at the heart of 
universal services for children and families and aims to support parents, promote 
child development, improve child health outcomes and ensure that families at risk 
are identified at the earliest opportunity. 

The Healthy Child Programme in Lincolnshire follows the model below:
 Four levels of service: community, universal checks and advice available to all, 

universal plus where more intensive support is needed and universal 
partnership plus where muli-agency intensive support is needed.

 Delivery of five (currently mandated) universal checks: antenatal 28+ weeks 
pregnancy, new baby (10-14 days), 6-8 weeks, 8-12 months and 2-2 ½.

 Support around six high impact areas: transition to parenthood, maternal 
mental health, breastfeeding, healthy weight, managing minor illness and 
accident prevention and healthy 2 years olds and school readiness. 

Family Nurse Partnership (FNP)
FNP commenced in Lincolnshire in 2014 and covers Boston and Skegness. FNP is 
a licensed evidence-based, preventative programme for vulnerable first time young 
mothers aged 19 or under at time of conception that provides intensive and 
structured home visiting from a Family Nurse as follows:
 1 per week during first month of involvement with FNP
 Every other week during pregnancy
 1 per week first 6 weeks after delivery
 Every other week until 21 months
 Once a month until age 2.

The maximum caseload is 25 per full time equivalent to allow significant time to be 
spent with families. 

Page 20



In December 2015, the Executive Member for Children’s Service within authorised 
delegation agreed that the FNP programme should not be commissioned across 
the county and that delivery should continue for the existing client group but that no 
new referrals should be taken on. The decision was taken due to disappointing 
findings from the independent randomised control trial in the UK, the Council being 
unable to afford countywide roll out of FNP leaving an inequity of provision and 
FNP not being scalable across Lincolnshire under license restrictions. Instead 
through this review the Council is looking at its offer to vulnerable women in 
general around pregnancy and early years. The FNP target group of teenage 
parents is arguably more limited than the group that the Council considers may 
need an intensive support service. Current service users of FNP will receive 
continued support to on the programme until they can be transitioned into Health 
Visiting services which is projected to be by 31st March 2017.

Antenatal Weight Management
The service provides pregnant women with a Body Mass Index (BMI) of 35+ with 
tailored advice and support throughout pregnancy between 16 and 36 weeks 
gestation. The service helps women make manageable changes to their lifestyles 
in order to limit weight gain in pregnancy to between 5 and 9kg, given the 
increased risk of health complications to them and their child during pregnancy and 
beyond. The service is available for women who are due to give birth at either 
Lincoln or Boston Hospitals. 

School Nursing
The School Nursing service supports the delivery of the Healthy Child Programme 
to children aged 5-19 (25 SEND) which offers a schedule of universal health and 
development reviews, screening tests, immunisations (commissioned by NHS 
England), height and weight measurement and health promotion guidance. 
Schools and families are able to opt out of the universal offer.

Age Group Activity Commissioner
Reception
(4-5 Years)

• School entry health needs assessment via questionnaire 
to parents

• Height and weight as per the National Child Measurement 
Programme

• Hearing Test

LCC

Year 6
(10-11 years)

• Height and weight as per the National Child Measurement 
Programme

LCC

Year 7
(11-12 Years)

• Health needs assessment questionnaire completed by 
the young person

• Presentation on transition to secondary school and the 
introduction of the service

LCC

Year 8 Girls 
(12-13 years)

• Presentation of HPV programme and delivery of vaccine 
1

NHSE

Year 9 Girls 
(13-14 Years)

• Delivery of Vaccine 2 of HPV programme NHSE

Year 9-10 (14-
15 Years)

• Delivery of PSHE sessions or health promotion activity on 
sexual health; focusing on delay in sexual activity, 
sexually transmitted infections and contraception

LCC

Year 7-13 (11-
19 years)

• School nurse drop in – minimum of one session every 
half term

• Clinic in a box; comprising of age appropriate sexual 
health advice, chlamydia testing, pregnancy testing, issue 
of condoms via c card scheme and emergency hormonal 

LCC

Page 21



contraception
Anaphylaxis • A presentation on the management of anaphylaxis is 

delivered to every school every academic year
LCC

School based 
immunisations

• The school nurse can also offer further immunisations 
e.g. Fluenz; Meningococcal ACWY; school leaver 
vaccinations.  

NHSE

Targeted support is provided for children and families including assessment and 
care packages on parenting and behaviour; continence/enuresis, healthy weight 
and emotional health and wellbeing. The service also provides relevant support for 
complex cases.

Preferred Children’s Health Service Model

Appendix A - Section 1 sets out a summary of review findings relating to children’s 
health services including:
 Statutory duties
 Needs summary
 Engagement results
 Evidence
 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) questionnaire feedback

The findings of the review to date and options for future service models have been 
presented to a variety of boards and groups (Children’s Services Executive 
Directorate Management Team, Corporate Management Board, Women and 
Children’s Board and a Members working group with representatives invited from 
both Children and Young People and Health Scrutiny Committees). A preferred 
model for new services was provisionally agreed. Further public engagement, via 
an EIA questionnaire, has taken place to understand any positive or negative 
impacts the preferred model may have and EIA’s have been updated accordingly. 
These can be found at Appendix B. The Council’s Executive is asked to agree the 
preferred service model for children’s health services.

The Council will commission four services:
1. Children’s health service for 0-19 (25 SEND)
2. Online counselling service
3. Sexual health service
4. Emotional wellbeing service

1. Children’s Health Service for 0-19 (SEND)
 Children’s health services for those aged 0-19 (25 SEND) will be integrated into 

a single service and this service will be closely aligned to the Council’s Early 
Help and Social Care teams for children and young people. This mirrors the 
government’s intention in joining up the commissioning powers for 0-19 public 
health services and will allow a service to be delivered that offers a coherent, 
effective, life course approach.

 The Health Visiting service workforce will be sustained or enhanced and the 
School Nursing service workforce will reduce with re-deployment into other 
services being a key aim.

Page 22



1a. Children aged 0-6:
 Services will be enhanced for all children aged 0-6 with a significant focus on 

age 0-2. The evidence base and feedback from professionals supports this 
approach. This is essential for laying down solid foundations for the rest of 
children’s lives aiming to prevent many issues that ultimately impact on later 
health and social care services. 

 The service will identify women that are pregnant as early as possible and lead 
delivery of integrated antenatal education alongside midwifery and early years 
services, for women and their partner/network to help them prepare for 
parenting. 

 The service will deliver universal checks, provide group support sessions, 
enhance peer support and have a greater presence in children’s centres/local 
community venues to support all families. 

 All families will be allocated a specific Health Visitor that they will see 
antenatally during the early weeks and months. For any vulnerable family this 
can continue up until their child is at the end of their first school year. 

 Children will remain under the care of a Health Visitor until they finish reception 
year. Health Visitors currently hand over responsibility for children at age 5 to 
School Nurses. In particular this will have a positive impact for families with 
more complex needs who will have maintained more regular contact with a 
consistent Health Visitor. Families will have support over this key transition 
period from a professional that knows their history and can work from a more 
informed perspective with the school. For most universal families there will be 
no increased demand on Health Visitors as a result of this change.

 Health Visitors will be supported to spend more time with vulnerable families to 
deliver intensive support to them. 

 Where children are born with a disability the Early Support Care Coordination 
(ESCO) team will act as the lead professional working with the family through 
early childhood and a universal Health Visiting service will be delivered unless 
there are other exceptional circumstances that require a more targeted 
approach. 

 The Health Visiting workforce will be upskilled to identify emerging mental 
health concerns and deliver mental health interventions to women and their 
partners. In Lincolnshire there is a gap in provision between what interventions 
Health Visitors can currently deliver and the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) commissioned Perinatal Community Mental Health Service (for women 
with a serious mental illness or history of serious mental illness that are either 
pregnant or up to one year post-partum). The negative impact of poor maternal 
and paternal mental health on children is well evidenced and NHS England’s 
independent Mental Health Task Force has already put forward 
recommendations to invest significantly in perinatal mental health services as 
backed in the National Maternity Review Report 2016. Health Visitors must 
bridge any gap between universal support and perinatal services as they are 
best placed to identify and intervene where there are concerns.

1b. Children age 6-19 (25 SEND)
 If parents or professionals have any concerns about a child’s health, that 

doesn’t require GP or specialist health involvement; nurses will undertake an 
assessment of need at any age and will deliver interventions to support families 
e.g. continence and enuresis, healthy weight. This will include involvement on 

Page 23



early help, child in need and child protection cases and the delivery of health 
intervention packages as relevant.

 Vaccinations and immunisations will continue to be provided through NHS 
England commissioning arrangements.

2. Online Counselling Service
 There will be an increased online counselling service for children and young 

people where they can access advice about health/lifestyle issues and can 
speak to qualified counsellors about specific concerns they have. The service 
will be able to directly refer to the 0-19 health service so that children can 
receive face to face interventions from qualified nurses.

3. Sexual Health Service
 Countywide sexual health services that are currently available to children aged 

13+ will be enhanced to cover a younger age range to provide information and 
intervention. 

4. Emotional Wellbeing Service
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to work with schools to 

promote emotionally healthy environments and to deliver direct interventions to 
children and families that are struggling with issues that are impacting on their 
lives but who are not eligible for other services such as Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS).   

Page 24



Age Universal Targeted Specialist Changes Gaps Key Risks
Mandated antenatal 28+ week review 
(named Health Visitor) in the home.

Antenatal review and 
intervention based over a 
number of visits as required. 

Antenatal review and intervention 
based over a number of visits as 
required.

Named Health Visitor for all families up to 
6-8 weeks. More intensive antenatal 
involvement from Health Visitors for families 
that need extra support.

Antenatal education from 30 weeks 
pregnant- integrated delivery (Health 
Visiting/Midwifery/Early Years).

Antenatal Education delivered 
by Health Visitor/Midwife if 
families that need additional 
support don’t engage in 
universal offer. 

Antenatal Education delivered by 
Health Visitor/Midwife if families 
that need additional support don’t 
engage in universal offer.

Introduction of universal antenatal 
education classes.

50% of women deliver 
with ULHT. Possibly less 
under LHAC. Midwifery 
involvement from multiple 
trusts challenging.Antenatal

Emerging mental health concerns 
assessment.

Mental health intervention by 
Health Visitor.

Mental health intervention by 
Health Visitor.

Health Visitor delivering mental health 
intervention- training need.

Potentially still a gap 
between intervention a 
Health Visitor can 
deliver and CCG 
commissioned 
Community Perinatal 
service.

0-3

Mandated reviews (10-14 days (home) 
and 6-8 weeks) by named Health 
Visitor.

3-4 month group sessions by skill mix.

Mandated review (8-12 months) Health 
Visitor led.

18 month group sessions by skill mix.

Integrated review 2-2/12 Health Visitor 
led for children not in childcare or 
Setting led for children in childcare

Bookable health clinics, drop-in health 
clinics and telephone/online advice 
sessions.

Peer support programme 
(breastfeeding/feeding, delayed 
weaning, mental health, CWD).

Named Health Visitor to deliver 
time limited interventions as 
needed alongside universal 
offer.

Named Health Visitor to deliver 
interventions as required 
alongside universal offer. 

Named Health Visitor for all families up to 
6-8 weeks and longer if targeted or 
specialist.

Use of skill mix to deliver some mandated 
reviews for universal families.

3-4 month and 18 month groups.

Change to 2-2/12 review by Health Visitor 
(mandated currently). Review led by 
professional with most involvement with 
child. If setting has health concern they can 
refer to Health Visiting and visa versa.

Health visiting lead on registration to 
children’s centres.

Improved peer support programme.

Current mandate around 
2-2 ½ review restricts 
ability to deliver fully 
integrated review. If 
mandate lifts proposed to 
change review timescales 
and documentation used.

Bookable health clinics, drop-in health 
clinics and telephone/online advice 
sessions.

Peer support programme 
(communication, toileting, behaviour, 
sleep, mental health, CWD).

National Child Measurement 
Programme (NCMP) Reception. Health 
Visitor led.

Advice to parents on vision and 
hearing screening, low level 
continence issues and other areas of 
school readiness.

Targeted time limited 
interventions for children up to 
end of Reception.

Health assessment at school 
entry where needed and liaison 
with school as appropriate 
relating to specific health needs 
of the child. Joint working with 
school as needed.

Health assessment at school 
entry where needed and liaison 
with school as appropriate relating 
to specific health needs of the 
child. Joint working with school as 
needed.

Health Visiting is responsible service to end 
of Reception. 

No universal health needs assessment at 
school entry, no hearing screening in 
Reception.

NCMP delivered by Health Visiting Service.

More intensive support for more vulnerable 
families.

Age 3-end 
Reception

Vaccinations and Immunisations 
(NHSE funded)

Contract relies on School 
Nursing staff to provide 
enough volume of people 
to deliver programme. 

P
age 25



Any changes are risk for 
NHSE as commissioner.

NCMP Year 6. Public Health Nurse 
led. 

Health assessment and 
interventions for school aged 
children around public health 
issues. Liaison with school as 
appropriate relating to specific 
health needs of the child. Joint 
working with school as needed.

Attendance at Safeguarding 
meetings, health assessment and 
specific interventions with children 
and young people around public 
health issues. Liaison with school 
as appropriate relating to specific 
health needs of the child. Joint 
working with school as needed.

No universal anaphylaxis presentation, no 
health and wellbeing clinics as access to 
service through Early Help.

There will be no regular 
presence of a single 
professional in school 
overseeing all Public 
Health issues.

Support with low level continence 
issues. 

Tiered continence service Tiered continence service Currently no specialist continence service 
commissioned. School Nurses pick up 
some of this work and manage the CCGs 
continence budget.

CCG may say they will 
not fund service. All 
children using service are 
CWD and the service is 
needed. This may need to 
be included and funded 
by Council if CCG do not 
agree to fund. 

Vaccinations and Immunisations 
(NHSE funded)

Contract relies on School 
Nursing staff to provide 
enough volume of people 
to deliver programme. 
Any changes are risk for 
NHSE as commissioner.

Years 1-6

Mental Health promotion to schools. Emotional wellbeing service for 
school aged children. Family 
therapies, group and individual 
work in school or home. 
Accessed via Early Help route or 
GP referral.

Emotional wellbeing service for 
school aged children. Family 
therapies, group and individual 
work in school or home. Accessed 
via Early Help route or GP 
referral.

New service to bridge current gap between 
universal services and CAMHS. 

Needs to deliver specific 
interventions and have 
clear criteria or there may 
be a risk of service 
becoming a catch all for 
children where 
professionals don’t know 
what to do. 

Health assessment and 
interventions for school aged 
children around public health 
issues. Liaison with school as 
appropriate relating to specific 
health needs of the child. Joint 
working with school as needed.

Attendance at Safeguarding 
meetings, health assessment and 
specific interventions with children 
and young people around public 
health issues.

No universal transition presentation at year 
7, no universal health assessment at year 
7, no universal anaphylaxis presentation, 
no drop in sessions in secondary schools, 
no health and well-being clinics as access 
to service through Early Help.

There will be no regular 
presence of a single 
professional in school 
overseeing all Public 
Health issues.

Support with low level continence 
issues. 

Tiered continence service Tiered continence service Currently no specialist continence service 
commissioned. School Nurses pick up 
some of this work and manage the CCGs 
continence budget.

CCG may say they will 
not fund service. All 
children using service are 
CWD and the service is 
needed. This may need to 
be included and funded 
by Council if CCG do not 
agree to fund.

Vaccinations and Immunisations 
(NHSE funded)

Contract relies on School 
Nursing staff to provide 
enough volume of people 
to deliver programme. 
Any changes are risk for 
NHSE as commissioner.

Year 7-age 
19

Sexual Health Services delivered 
through Lincolnshire Integrated Sexual 
Health Service age 13+ (Public Health 
funded). Children’s Services to fund 
enhancement of provision for school 
aged children. 

School Nurses currently deliver some work 
to schools (chlamydia screening, 
contraception and STI health promotion, 
pregnancy testing, c-card and EHC) but this 
is not consistent across the county. 
Integrate with countywide contract for 

P
age 26



economies of scale and to ensure 
integrated approach to sexual health.

Online advice service linked to online 
counselling service offering out of 
hours, bookable and drop-in 
appointments. Issues addressed 
include sexual health, healthy 
relationships, domestic abuse, 
substance misuse, bullying, puberty 
etc. Service can make direct referrals 
to more specialist services e.g. 
Phoenix smoking cessation, substance 
misuse services, sexual health service, 
emotional wellbeing service and 
CAMHS.

New service.

Mental health promotion to schools. Emotional wellbeing service for 
school aged children. Family 
therapies, group and individual 
work in school or home. 
Accessed via Early Help route or 
GP referral.

Emotional wellbeing service for 
school aged children. Family 
therapies, group and individual 
work in school or home. Accessed 
via Early Help route or GP 
referral.

New service to bridge current gap between 
universal services and CAMHS. 

Needs to deliver specific 
interventions and have 
clear criteria or there may 
be a risk of service 
becoming a catch all for 
children where 
professionals don’t know 
what to do.

Key
Children’s Health Service 0-6
Children’s Health Service 6-19
Externally commissioned service
Emotional Wellbeing Service
Online Counselling Service

P
age 27



Budget implications
Funding for the preferred model is set out below:

 Services 16/17 17/18 18/19
Health Visiting & Antenatal Weight 
Management

£8,300,000 £8,300,000 £0

Family Nurse Partnership £350,000 £0 £0

Pre-
review 
Health

School Nursing £2,629,040 2,629,040 £0
Children's Health Service 0-19 £0 £0 £9,229,040* 
Online Support Services £0 £0 £100,000 
Emotional Wellbeing Service £0 £0 £1,000,000 

Post-
review 
Health

Sexual Health Service £0 £0 £250,000 
Total £11,279,040 £10,929,040 £10,579,040
Savings £0 -£350,000 -£350,000 

In 2017/18, £350,000 of savings from children’s health services will made. A further 
£350,000 of savings will be made in 2018/19 assuming new children’s health 
services are in place by 1st April 2018. 

*A costs analysis has been undertaken on the preferred model for the children’s 
health service 0-19 (25 SEND) and a budget of c£9.2m P/A is deemed sufficient to 
cover all commissioning options. If a partnership or re-procurement is agreed there 
would be enough tolerance in this budget to allow for an organisation to cover 
overheads and allow an appropriate amount of profit/surplus. For the in-house 
option some contingency funding has been added into the budget given some 
unknown costs, some of which are likely to be one off as part of set up, but it is 
anticipated that further savings should be achievable. The Councils intention to co-
locate services regardless of the preferred commissioning option should mean that 
less money needs to be spent of estates than under current contract 
arrangements, although the Council will need to retain some funding towards 
property costs.

Commissioning Options
The options considered for each of the children’s health services were:

a) Do nothing- this means continuing with current contractual arrangements and 
not altering services or funding.

b) Decommissioning- this means not commissioning any services beyond existing 
contracts and that services would effectively cease.

c) Influencing- this means not commissioning any services beyond existing 
contracts but working with other agencies to try secure the continuation of 
services through them acting either as a commissioner/co-commissioner or 
provider/co-provider. 

d) Partnership- this means establishing a partnership agreement for the delivery of 
services such as an agreement made under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006.

e) Insourcing- this means bringing the services within the Council with staff 
potentially being subject to TUPE rights and then being employed and 
managed by the Council.

f) Local Authority Traded Company (LATC) - This means establishing a company 
to deliver these services, which is owned by the Council yet, has an 

Page 28



autonomous structure. This option is only considered for children’s health 
service 0-19 (25 SEND)

g) Re-procurement- by means of an open competitive tender- this means going 
out to the market, by means of a competitive tender process, with the intention 
of continuing to outsource the service to meet the requirements of service 
users.

Children’s Health Service 0-19 (25 SEND)
The children’s health service 0-19 (25 SEND) accounts for the largest and arguably 
most complex of the new services to be commissioned. The commissioning option 
agreed for this service will have ramifications for the commissioning options for the 
online counselling service, sexual health service and emotional wellbeing service. 
Below is a high level options appraisal and further detailed information is also 
contained in this report. In summary the commissioning option recommended to 
Executive is to insource this service to be provided by the Council.

The options to do nothing, decommission and influence services are not legitimate 
options for consideration and so they are not contained in the high level options 
appraisal but explained in more detail in the report.

Page 29



Overview of Options Partnership (current provider) In-sourcing
Local Authority Traded 

Company Re-procurement
Criteria Rating Rating Rating Rating

Short term financial impact to LCC

3: No additional set up costs 2: Some set up costs but within 
allocated budget so no additional 
cost pressure, some potential 
redundancy costs if staff TUPE 
and restructure

2: Council may loan company 
funds for set up

3: No additional set up costs

Medium term financial impact to LCC

4: Limited ability for further 
savings without another review

6: Likelihood of further savings 
being achieved without staffing 
reduction

6: Likelihood of further savings 
being achieved without staffing 
reduction

4: Limited ability for further 
savings without another review

Financial 
Impact

Income generation potential
1: Not part of commissioning plan 1: Not part of commissioning plan 3: Up to 20% from other 

contracts
1: Not part of commissioning plan

Implantation timescales

6: Estimated 1 October 2017 4: Estimated 1 April 2018 2: Estimated 1 April 2018 but 
higher risk of slippage due to 
work required to set up company

4: Estimated 1 April 2018

Clinical governance arrangements
3: In place already 2: Need establishing but allocated 

within budget
2: Need establishing but 
allocated within budget

3: Part of tender requirement

Legal implications

2: Council must delegate 
functions to provider and drafting 
of new Section 75 Agreement

3: Council has legal power to 
deliver services some legal work 
to support TUPE

1: Significant work to support 
establishment of new company

3: None some support on drafting 
of contract

Commissioning costs

3: Writing of new Section 75 
Agreement

2: Management of in-sourcing 
and contract exit

2: Management of in-sourcing 
and contract exit

1: Procurement activity, market 
engagement and new service 
implementation.

CQC registration and inspection requirements

6: In place already 4: Likely to achieve registration 
and requirement to prepare for 
inspection compliance but 
structures in place to manage this

2: Likely to achieve registration 
but without full Council 
infrastructure greater preparation 
needed for inspections

6: Part of tender requirement

IT system implementation

3: In place already 2: Needs to arrange access to 
SystemOne or method to share 
information across systems

2: Needs to arrange access to 
SystemOne or method to share 
information across systems

2: Risk of another provider 
working from different systems 
and needing to identify way to 
share/integrate systems

Premises arrangements

1: Harder to negotiate changes 
as provider has existing premises 
arrangements

3: In place already and work 
underway to look at any further 
premises requirements. Budget 
identified to support this

3: In place already and work 
underway to look at any further 
premises requirements. Budget 
identified to support this

2: Ability to stipulate in 
specification around premises 
requirements but this may make 
limit market interest for any 
provider with existing bases

HR policies and procedures

3: In place already 2: Many Council policies and 
procedures will be suitable for 
use and good enough skill set 
within organisation to develop 
new required one

1: New organisation will need to 
develop all new policies and 
procedures

3: Part of tender requirement

Wider stakeholders/market

1: No testing of market and could 
work against wider Lincolnshire 
Health and Community plans

2: No testing of market but legally 
sound

2: No testing of market but 
legally sound

3: Low risk as testing market

Implementation

Risk of challenge by public
3: Low as no change 2: Medium risk around public 

perception of social care service
2: Medium risk around public 
perception of social care service

3: Low as would be awarded to 
highest bidder and evidenced

Retention of staff

6: Likely as no change 4: Staff nearing or at retirement 
age may leave service and 
chance of staff seeking re-
employment within NHS 
organisation in first 12 months

4: Staff nearing or at retirement 
age may leave service and  
chance of staff seeking re-
employment within NHS 
organisation in first 12 months

4: Some potential for loss of staff 
who do not want to change 
employer in provider was to 
changeWorkforce 

Pension issues for TUPE'd staff
3: No change 2: Look to offer NHS pension 

scheme or obtain GAD
2: Could offer NHS pension 
scheme

2: Part of tender requirement to 
offer NHS pension scheme

P
age 30



LCC ability to manage performance

2: Less ability to enforce around 
poor performance as Section 75 
is more of a negotiated 
agreement and so harsh 
penalties will not be agreed to. 
Message in establishing Section 
75 is that market is limited which 
weakens commissioning power 
base

6: Council will manage 
performance directly

4: Provider will be held to 
account through contract for 
performance

4: Provider will be held to account 
through contract for performance

LCC ability to manage finances

2: Less ability to manage 
finances. Council will require 
financial reporting but will not 
control.

6: Council will manage budgets 
directly

4: Provider will be held to 
account through contract for 
open book accounting and use of 
funds

4: Provider will be held to account 
through contract for open book 
accounting and use of funds

Improved outcomes for service users

4: New structure should help 
improve outcomes but less direct 
access to other professionals to 
deliver joined up working and 
improve outcomes 

6: Council will be responsible for 
outcome delivery directly and has 
good access to a range of 
professionals to work with 
families in a coordinated way to 
improve outcomes

4: New structure should help 
improve outcomes but less direct 
access to other professionals to 
deliver joined up working and 
improve outcomes 

4: New structure should help 
improve outcomes but less direct 
access to other professionals to 
deliver joined up working and 
improve outcomes 

Performance 
and Outcomes

Integration of services

2: Less ability to enforce around 
integration as Section 75 is more 
of a negotiated agreement. 
Message in establishing Section 
75 with current provider  is that 
market is limited which weakens 
commissioning power base to 
enforce joint case allocation 

6: Council has ability to fully 
integrate with processes such as 
Early Help

6: Company has ability to 
integrate with processes such as 
Early Help and Council could 
make other services part of 
traded company.

4: Part of tender requirement to 
integrate services but this may 
result in loss of new market 
entrants who may feel this doesn't 
allow for as much surplus or 
management control of case 
allocation

Score Red= 1, Amber=2, Green= 3, italicised weighted= x2 58 65 54 60

P
age 31



a) Do nothing
An extension to the current Section 75 Agreement would need to be approved. 
This would be on the same terms and conditions and would not realise any savings 
or make service improvements that the review has identified are needed. This is 
not a viable option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options 
analysis has been conducted.

b) Decommission
Some of the services commissioned support the Council in fulfilling statutory 
duties. Decommissioning would be likely to result in the Council facing significant 
legal challenge and would certainly face public challenge if these services were no 
longer available. There are no benefits to children and families of totally de-
commissioning these services and the likely result would mean that our most 
vulnerable families are not identified quickly and supported with problems; further 
increasing pressure on social care and other services. This is not a viable option 
for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options analysis has been 
conducted.

c) Influence
There is no requirement for any organisation, other that the Council, to commission 
or provide these services. The responsibility for commissioning clearly lies with the 
Council. This is not a viable option for consideration and for this reason no further 
detailed options analysis has been conducted.

d) Partnership 
The Council has an option to establish a partnership agreement made under 
Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 as an alternative mechanism 
for securing the provision of the services.  A Section 75 Agreement is not a 
contract for services and therefore not covered by the EU procurement regime. The 
main difference between a contract for services and a Section 75 Agreement is that 
a provider would exercise the Council's function rather than simply delivering a 
service.  This gives a provider a greater degree of flexibility in determining what 
services to deliver within the overall duty to comply with the Council's legal 
obligations.  It also involves, formally at least, less control on the part of the 
Council. This can be addressed however in the governance arrangements for the 
Section 75 which will include appropriate performance management and reporting 
mechanisms.

Certain statutory pre-conditions must be met before a Section 75 Agreement can 
be entered into:
(1) The partnership arrangements must be likely to lead to an improvement in the 
way in which the functions are exercised.
(2) The Partners must have consulted jointly such persons as appear to them to be 
affected by the arrangements.

The Council could seek to establish a Section 75 Agreement with a value up to 
£9.2m P/A with LCHS or another health trust, but in order to do this the Council 
must ensure that there is another NHS provider interested in delivering the service 
in Lincolnshire that can deliver services to the required quality, at the right price.

Page 32



Given the extent of changes proposed testing the market would be more advisable 
over directly entering into a Section 75 Agreement. This would afford the Council 
the opportunity to assure itself that any provider was able to offer a high quality and 
affordable service against a new service specification. 

It is not recommended to enter into a S75 Agreement with an unknown provider as 
this would be high risk given the Council would not have experience of working 
with them, nor have the assurance that services would be of a higher quality as a 
result.

If LCHS do not continue to deliver these services they may consider the delivery of 
other contracts for Children’s Services, Public Health and Adult Care as untenable. 

Benefits:
 Timescales for service implementation would be reduced as a procurement 

exercise would not be required and instead time could be spent negotiating 
changes with the provider.  

 Supports a partnership approach across health and social care. 
 If an agreement was made with the existing provider, there would be less 

disruption to staff working in the service and there would be no requirement to 
transfer data and records to another provider.

 Higher likelihood of staffing retention (especially those nearing retirement).

Dis-benefits:
 The Council’s control in significantly altering services is reduced. It is more 

likely that the Council will enter into drawn out negotiations on changes to 
services and that compromises will have to be reached. This approach does not 
support the level of radical change that the review recommends in order to 
improve services within available resources.

 The wider provider market will not be tested to understand if there are 
potentially better service delivery options available. 

High Level Timeline
2017

Activity Forecast 
start date

Forecast 
end date J F M A M J J A S O

Draft new agreement 01/01/17 31/03/17           
Transition and 
transformation to new 
services

01/04/17 30/09/17           

New agreement commences 01/10/17 01/10/17           

Page 33



e) Insourcing 
The Council could directly insource and deliver the children’s health service 0-19 
(25 SEND) as an integrated service within the existing organisational structure as 
either:
a) A new service within Children's Services, with its own organisational structure, 

line management and supervision arrangements.
b) Integrated into an existing service within Children's Services, extending 

responsibility of current Heads of Service to include line management and 
supervision of new staff.

CQC registration and NHS Provider Licence:
The Council would need to register as an ‘Organisation’ with Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) as a provider of regulated activities, including a thorough 
assessment of requirements and suitability to deliver these services, and would 
need to jointly apply for an NHS Provider Licence. The Council’s ‘registered 
manager’ must qualify as a ‘Fit and Proper Person’ and apply for a CQC 
countersigned DBS certificate. A nominated individual, who is responsible for the 
day-to-day operations of the regulated activities, should also be identified as part of 
the registration. The Council would need to consider undertaking new DBS checks 
for all employees. The estimated time to complete the CQC registration process is 
12-16 weeks.

It should be noted that the service would be subject to CQC inspection. Children’s 
Services is used to being part of a rigorous inspection framework under Ofsted and 
so is arguably in a good position to take on this additional requirement.

Clinical governance:
The Council will need an appropriate level of clinical governance in respect of 
supervision and support for the qualified workforce, CQC requirements and to 
sanction Patient Group Directions (PGDs).  As part of their code of practice, nurses 
must have access to appropriate senior clinicians in respect of safeguarding or 
care delivery concerns.  Clinical governance also provides routes of incidences for 
nurses and is accountable for investigating routine, serious (untoward) incidences 
and never events.  Clinical supervision, mentoring and coaching is also required as 
part of a supportive nursing structure, to deal with capability concerns and 
revalidation.  It would therefore be recommended to employ a senior clinician.

Insurances:
The Council would need to ensure existing insurances were to the sufficient level. 
In addition the Council would need medical malpractice cover. This type of 
insurance is costly and work is being undertaken to obtain quotations.

TUPE:
TUPE would apply to the employees whose main function was the provision of the 
public health services outsourced to the NHS under the Section 75 Agreement with 
the effect of transferring them to the employment of the Council. Transferring NHS 
employees are generally on favourable terms and conditions, which would be 
protected.  They may be able to choose any more beneficial terms and conditions 

Page 34



offered to employees of the Council to create a gold standard set of terms and 
conditions. 
Pension:
The law provides for a pension scheme on transfer which is broadly comparable.  
The Council would seek to offer the NHS pension scheme (as it currently does 
where compulsory transfer applies) as without doubt this will be a more attractive 
prospect for employees and will support staff recruitment and retention. Both York 
and Suffolk County Council have insourced their 0-19 children's health services 
and offer the NHS pension scheme and so there is a clear precedent. If this is not 
possible (given this is not a compulsory transfer) employees will need to transfer 
onto the LGPS and an application to the Government Actuaries Department (GAD) 
for a Certificate of Comparability will be needed.  These involve a great deal of 
work and take between 6-18 months to obtain. 

Re-validation of nursing registration:
Qualified nurses are required to undertake revalidation to retain their right to 
practice.  From April 2016 they are no longer able to sign a self-registration form to 
satisfy revalidation requirements.  The Council will need to support nurses to meet 
their requirements for revalidation to the National Midwifery Council (NMC). 

Information governance:
The Council will be responsible for ensuring the appropriateness, security and 
retention of information collected and stored by the employees delivering these 
services. Cultural differences exist across local government and the NHS, 
particularly regarding consent and the need to record all patient-related information 
to safeguard not only the patient, but the nurse providing treatment or advice.  A 
Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) will need to be undertaken to fully understand 
and document what personal data is being gathered, the data flows and what data 
is being used for, and any legislative requirements of these services.  This will 
allow the Council to apply appropriate governance, in terms of Data Protection 
requirements, information security levels etc.  

IT:
The transferring workforce currently uses the NHS’s SystmOne case management 
system, which is also used by many GPs in Lincolnshire.  The Council will need to 
decide how the transferring services will continue to manage their cases and 
record information.  It is understood that there is a possible means of 
integrating/sharing information across SystemOne and other systems such as 
Mosaic but if this is not possible it will involve:
 Investigating moving the case management of these services to Mosaic, which 

would require transfer of existing data from SystmOne 
 Buying into SystmOne and continue its use, however if any issues occur as a 

result of information not being shared between systems it would be difficult for 
the organisation to justify using both systems, it would also need to meet any 
network security requirements 

 Stipulating dual management of caseload files in both systems, for example 
recording medical information in SystmOne and family information, child 
development updates in Mosaic

Premises

Page 35



The proposed model of delivery recommends greater integration of health services 
with the Council’s Early Help Teams. Co-location is at the heart of this model and is 
recommended even if services are re-procured. Currently health service staffs work 
from four main bases and then deliver clinics in a variety of places including GP, 
health clinics, children’s centres and schools. Work has begun with Children’s 
Services Team Managers to identify existing capacity for co-location. It should be 
noted staff will spend the majority of their time (50%+) out of the office engaging 
with families. Agile working arrangements are being brought in under the current 
provider that mean staff will have better access to their system away from bases 
and therefore desk requirements will be reduced further.

It is likely that current Early Help bases will not provide sufficient capacity across 
the county to co-locate health services staff. Given this is viewed as a priority for 
integrated services then there is a potential that further investment in properties 
may be needed or else on a case by case basis. To this end c£170k P/A has been 
identified in the budget towards premises costs alongside recurrent property costs.

Legal advice has been sought on whether the Council has any contractual 
obligations around NHS property as part of the current S75 Agreement or other 
contracts. There are no current known contractual obligations that need 
consideration and further work is being done with Corporate Property to ensure 
that they too concur with this.

High Level Timeline

Activity Forecast 
start date

Forecast 
end date D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A

Agree service structure 07/11/16 31/12/16                  
Clarify pension scheme arrangements and 
potentially apply for GAD certificate 01/12/16 31/03/18
Meet current provider staff to explain vision 01/12/16 01/02/17
Recruit Chief Nurse/registered manager (for 
CQC) 01/12/16 28/02/17                  
Obtain CQC countersigned DBS check 01/02/17 31/03/17                  
Register with CQC and apply for NHS Provider 
License 01/04/17 31/07/17                  
Establish governance/management 
arrangements 01/01/17 31/03/17                  
Set up insurances 01/01/17 31/01/17                  
Establish HR management processes and 
policies 01/08/17 31/10/17                  
Manage TUPE and associated consultation 
process 01/05/17 31/03/18                  
DBS checks for transferring workforce 01/04/18 30/04/18                  
Arrange contracts for IT supplier/support 01/06/17 31/07/17                  
Establish info governance and IT management 
processes and policies 01/08/17 31/12/17                  
Establish data protection processes and 
policies 01/08/17 31/12/17                  
Implementation of IT software/hardware 
required 01/10/17 31/03/18                  

Make necessary property arrangements 01/10/17 31/03/18                  
New service commences 01/04/18 01/04/18                  

Page 36



Benefits
 More scope to integrate health service delivery with other relevant children's 

services. 
 Indications are that further savings could be made by insourcing services 

compared to other commissioning options, particularly around estate, 
management and overhead costs.

 Clearer understanding about where funding is being used and greater budget 
control as a result.

 The Council would have more control and flexibility regarding delivery and 
performance of the service.

Dis-benefits:
 The Council would be subject to CQC registration and an intensive inspection 

regime.
 Employees who TUPE from the existing provider would do so on favourable 

terms and conditions. 
 Negative media attention caused by the public perception that the service is a 

social care service, which may impact on families' engagement.
 Timescales for implementation may be impacted if the Council needs to obtain 

a GAD certificate for pensions.
 Higher likelihood of existing staff not wanting to transfer to a Local Authority and 

changing jobs or seeking retirement (the Health Visiting workforce is recognised 
as an ageing workforce with many nearing retirement age (55)). Recruiting new 
nursing staff will need greater investment to encourage them to seek 
employment with a non-NHS employer. 

f) Local Authority Traded Company
The Council could establish a company to deliver these services, which is owned 
by the Council but has an autonomous structure. The company would be (limited 
by shares or guarantee) established under regulation 12 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015. Under that regulation, the company must be such that:
 the Council exercises over the company a control which is similar to that which 

it exercises over its own departments;
 more than 80% of the activities of the company must be carried out in 

performance of tasks entrusted to it by the Council; and
 there is no direct private capital participation in the company.

Distinctions from the Council
 Commissioning and delivery must be completely separate.
 The company would be legally exempt from EU procurement regulations, but a 

Council procurement regulations exemption would be required to award 
business directly to the company without a competitive tender.  

 Set up costs for the company could either be loaned by the Council, obtained 
privately or funding sought to support the enterprise. The company would have 
to generate enough surpluses to be able to pay this loan back. 

 The company could only carry out 20% of its activities for anyone other than the 
Council which could limit the scope for surplus generation. 

Page 37



 Governance of the company would need to include as a minimum:
o Managing Director of the new company 
o Council senior officer representation

 The company would require a suitable management structure, providing the 
necessary clinical lines of management and supervision required to deliver 
these health services. 

 The company would also need to make arrangements for provision of support 
services, such as HR/people management, business support, financial services 
and contract and performance management.  

 The new company would be required to comply with the Council’s contractual 
requirements against delivery of these services in the same way as any other 
provider.

 The company would be required to provide membership to the NHS Pension 
Scheme or access to a broadly comparable pension scheme. 

 TUPE would apply to the employees whose main function was the provision of 
the public health services outsourced to the NHS under the Section 75 
Agreement with the effect of transferring them to the employment of the new 
company.  Terms and conditions of those transferring would be protected, and 
they would be able to 'cherry pick' the most beneficial from the existing provider 
or the new company. A memorandum and articles of association would be 
required to establish the new company before work on TUPE could commence.

 The company would need to register with CQC, including a thorough 
assessment of requirements and suitability to deliver these services, and would 
need to jointly apply for an NHS provider licence.

High Level Timeline

 2017 2018Activity Forecast 
start date

Forecast 
end date N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A

Secure set-up funds 07/11/16 31/12/16                   
Establish LCC director 07/11/16 31/12/16                   
Recruit company director/registered 
manager (for CQC) 01/12/16 28/02/17                   
Prepare vision, mission and Statement of 
Purpose for company 01/12/16 31/01/17                   
Complete Articles of Association 01/12/16 31/01/17                   
Register the company 01/12/16 31/01/17                   
Set up company bank account (including 
online) 07/11/16 28/02/17                   
Obtain CQC countersigned DBS check 01/02/17 31/03/17                   
Register with CQC and apply for NHS 
Provider License 01/04/17 31/07/17                   
Establish LCC and company 
governance/management arrangements 01/01/17 31/03/17                   
Produce members agreement 01/01/17 31/03/17                   
Arrange contract for company 
finance/accountancy/payroll delivery 01/01/17 28/02/17                   
Establish financial management 
processes and policies 01/03/17 30/04/17                   
Establish procurement processes 01/01/17 28/02/17                   
Set up company insurances 01/01/17 31/01/17                   
Arrange contract for TUPE delivery for 01/04/17 30/04/17                   

Page 38



set-up
Arrange contract for company HR 
support 01/06/17 31/07/17                   
Establish HR management processes 
and policies 01/08/17 30/09/17                   
Manage TUPE and associated 
consultation process 01/05/17 31/03/18                   
Establish pension scheme arrangements 01/01/18 30/04/18                   
DBS checks for transferring workforce 01/04/18 30/04/18                   
Arrange contracts for IT supplier/support 01/06/17 31/07/17                   
Establish info governance and IT 
management processes and policies 01/08/17 31/12/17                   
Establish data protection processes and 
policies 01/08/17 31/12/17                   
Implementation of IT software/hardware 
required 01/10/17 31/03/18                   

Make necessary property arrangements 01/10/17 31/03/18                   
New service commences 01/04/18 01/04/18                   

Benefits
 Indications are that further savings could be made after set up, than by re-

procuring services. 
 Greater ability for the Council to have oversight of services. 
 More scope to integrate health service delivery with other relevant children's 

services. Potential for other Council services to become part of the company.
 Public perception may be more favourable

Dis-benefits:
 Employees who TUPE from the existing provider would do so on favourable 

terms and conditions. 
 Significant amount of work required in setting up a company and the level of 

benefits is not deemed to outweigh the option to in-source directly into the 
Council.

 The company needs to generate enough surplus to pay back loans and can 
only deliver up to 20% of activities for anyone other than the Council which 
limits the scope for expansion.

g) Re-procurement
Under the Public Contracts Regulation 2015, contracts for health and social care 
services above a threshold of £625,000 have to be advertised on the Official 
Journal of the European Journal. If this commissioning option is agreed, it is 
recommended that a minimum five year contract should be advertised with an 
option to extend the contract by a further two years subject to performance. The 
total value of this contract would then be up to £64m, based on the £9.2m annual 
budget allocated to the preferred model, and a full open competitive tender process 
would be required. 

This market has not previously been tested when commissioned by the NHS and 
therefore it is not possible to evidence historic competition. Given the high value of 
the contract and the complexity of the service, it would be recommended that 
market stimulation is undertaken for three months to determine the extent of real 

Page 39



interest; three months is allowed from point of advertisement to contract award and 
that an absolute minimum of 9 months is allowed for new service implementation. 

It is considered likely that LCHS, the current provider, would bid to deliver services 
going forward. The Council would only be advised to re-procure services if there is 
other realistic market interest so competitive testing of the quality and price of bids 
can be done. If there is not a realistic market, the Council would be advised to 
consider either entering into a Section 75 Agreement with LCHS or deliver services 
themselves. 

Market Information
Lincolnshire’s existing health trust market consists of three providers; LCHS, 
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (LPFT) and United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals Trust (ULHT). The three trusts currently provide distinctly different 
services although there are some interfaces e.g. ULHT deliver Midwifery services 
which have a significant interface with Health Visiting and LPFT deliver Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services which have a significant interface with School 
Nursing. It may therefore be possible that another local trust bids to deliver this 
contract, although historically the trusts tend not to bid on each other’s existing 
contracts. 

Given the high value of any future contract, the service may be of interest to 
providers delivering in neighbouring authorities. At an initial market engagement 
event, attendance was noted from one bordering authority’s health provider. Other 
non-NHS providers would be able to bid on any procurement exercise but would be 
expected to be able to offer a broadly comparable pension scheme or NHS 
pension, employ staff on NHS Terms and Conditions and be registered with the 
Care Quality Commission.

Research with other authorities that have procured their 0-19 health service 
demonstrates that some areas already had multiple providers delivering the 
previous service meaning they had some existing competition locally, cross border 
interest is possible but ultimately numbers bidding on contracts are still reasonably 
low:

 Derbyshire County Council had three providers delivering previous services. 
Eight organisations engaged in an initial market event and there were two 
tender responses. The new provider is an NHS Community Trust. 

 Norfolk County Council entered into competitive dialogue with three 
providers. The new provider is an NHS community trust. 

 Derby City Council had cross border interest to deliver services and 
contracts have been awarded to two NHS community trusts to deliver 
services.  

 North Lincolnshire Council has two separate providers delivering current 
services. Four initial requests for information on the new tender have been 
received and a market engagement event is to be held in September 2016. 

In summary, there is likely to be a limited market from which to re-procure services 
in Lincolnshire. 

Benefits:

Page 40



 Clearer understanding about how funding is being used on the service as a 
result of providers being required to submit a detailed budget breakdown during 
the tender process and also required to provide regular detailed financial 
reporting.

 Higher likelihood of staffing retention (especially those nearing retirement) than 
if the service is in-sourced.

 The successful provider will already be registered with the CQC and be able to 
demonstrate that they have appropriate experience and management 
structures in place to operate health services. New services will be operational 
more quickly than if the in-sourcing commissioning option is approved.

 The Council will procure services based on a new, far more robust service 
specification which will increase its control over the type of services to be 
provided and the interfaces with Children’s Services. 

 The Council is less likely to receive any challenge than either establishing a 
Section 75 Agreement or in-sourcing although both of these options are legally 
allowed and as a result less likely to cause reputational damage.

 The transfer of records and data should be easier if a new health provider was 
awarded the contract as they would already have to be compliant with health 
regulations for data protection. 

Dis-benefits:
 The level of integration with Children's Services that can be achieved is more 

limited.
 The provider market is untested and limited responses may result in the Council 

not being presented with the level of high quality bids that it wants to receive to 
be assured of the services value for money.

 Timescales for operating procurement and implementation mean that services 
will not be running until April 2018.

High Level Timeline:

2017 2018
Activity Forecast start 

date
Forecast end 
date J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A

Market engagement 01/01/17 31/03/17                 
Tender and 
evaluation 01/04/17 16/06/17                 

Contract award and 
stand-still 19/06/17 30/06/17                 

Transition and 
TUPE 01/07/17 31/03/18                 

New contract 
commences 01/04/18 01/04/18                 

Online Counselling Service

a) Do nothing
The Council commissions an online counselling service for young people already 
called KOOTH, with a value of £100k P/A which is currently delivering above its 
originally commissioned volume due to high demand. The funding identified for an 
online counselling service through the review would be used to enhance the 

Page 41



existing service to create a single contract. If the Council does nothing there will be 
no enhancement to the contract which is already under increasing demand and 
there will not be enough support available for young people online to deliver the 
additional elements needed for the new model.  

b) Decommissioning 
This is not an option as this is new funding. The decommissioning of the existing 
online counselling service is not within scope of this review. This is not a legitimate 
option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options analysis has 
been conducted.

c) Influencing
There is no requirement for any other organisation to commission or provide these 
services. There are national organisations that provide free online advice to young 
people but the key to the success of this service will be the connection and referral 
to local services which cannot be provided by general national support. 
Commercial aspects of the service cannot be delivered without funding and it is not 
feasible to think that these services could be delivered through influence alone. 
The Council could seek to influence Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission 
the service but given this covers public health issues which are the Council's 
responsibility and not explicitly physical health issues or diagnosed mental health 
issues, they are unlikely to invest resources in the service. This is not a legitimate 
option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options analysis has 
been conducted.

d) Partnership
The same considerations apply to partnership and for influencing. This is not a 
legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options 
analysis has been conducted.

e) Insourcing
The Council does not currently operate any similar online services and so this 
would be new business which the Council are not best placed to deliver from a 
technology or staffing perspective. The working practices of online counsellors; out 
of hours from home, would mean policies and procedures would need updating 
and investment into secure and suitable working from home arrangements. Staff 
would be employed on Council terms and conditions which would result in less staff 
being able to be employed for the available budget. The level of investment 
required for the Council to provide this service would outweigh the value of the 
funding available £100,000 p/a which does not seem a sensible option when there 
is an established market of providers offering value for money services. This is not 
a legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options 
analysis has been conducted.

f) Local Authority Traded Company
N/A.

g) Procurement
The Council has tested the online counselling service market previously and 
evidence demonstrates there is a competitive market for these services. Children's 

Page 42



Services already has a contract in place for online counselling (separate to the 
requirements of this service) which is performing well. There will be economies of 
scale if this new additional service can be merged with the existing contract and re-
procured as a single agreement from 1st April 2018 onwards. There will also be 
huge benefits to service users who will have a single online counselling service 
covering a broader range of needs instead of two separate services. In the interim 
it is proposed that the existing contract is modified from 1st April 2017.

Although it will be affected through a variation to the existing contract, the awarding 
of the work to the existing contractor amounts to the award of a new contract for 
the purposes of the procurement regime.

The value of the works to be awarded would be £100,000 which is below the 
threshold for a services contract.  It is not therefore covered by the pre-contract 
advertising requirements of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  However, EU 
Treaty principles require a contract to be advertised even if it is below the threshold 
unless in the view of the Council it would not be of interest to a contractor from 
another member state (known as "cross-border interest").

In determining its view as to whether a contract would be of cross-border interest 
the Council must take into account the nature of the services, the industry and 
market and the value and duration of the contract.
Although it is not considered that there is any practical reason why the contract 
would not be of cross-border interest given that the services are online, the 
contract is of limited value and duration and it is considered reasonable to 
conclude that a one year contract worth £100,000 would not be of cross-border 
interest

The Council's Contract Regulations would normally require a contract of the 
proposed value to be subject to competition.  Where a Chief Officer proposes an 
alternative route such as direct award of contract approval must be given by the 
Executive Councillor or the Executive.  For a contract of £100,000 the Executive 
Councillor would normally give approval but approval is sought from the Executive 
in this case as it forms part of the overall commissioning approach which Executive 
is being asked to consider. Recommendation 2(b) therefore seeks approval to the 
variation of the online counselling contract.

Benefits:
 An interim moderation to the existing contract will enable the Council to pilot the 

volume and type of additional support needed through online counselling.
 Evidence from previous procurement suggests there is a strong market for 

services which when procured will result in a good level of competition between 
providers. The quality and value for money of bids should reflect this. 

 Service users will have a single service for online counselling support.

Dis-benefits:
 No dis-benefits have been identified.

Page 43



Sexual Health Service

a) Do nothing
Changes to the children's health service 0-19 (25 SEND) will create a gap in 
provision around sexual health services for young people if this service isn't 
commissioned. Sexual health advice was identified by the public and professionals 
as a key area that school aged children need support with. This decision will 
effectively mean not commissioning this service. This is not a legitimate option for 
consideration and for this reason no further detailed options analysis has been 
conducted.

b) Decommissioning 
This is not an option as there is no current contract in place covering the service 
requirements. This decision will effectively mean not commissioning this service. 
This is not a legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no further 
detailed options analysis has been conducted.

c) Influencing
There is no requirement for any other organisation to commission or provide these 
services. The Council's Public Health directorate have recently re-procured a 
countywide sexual health service, and although there is some provision for young 
people aged 13+, the service will not consider expanding the reach of the service 
without any funding. Commercial aspects of the service cannot be delivered 
without funding and it is not feasible to think that these services could be delivered 
through influence alone. This is not a legitimate option for consideration and for this 
reason no further detailed options analysis has been conducted.

d) Partnership
Children's Services and Public Health could co-commission countywide sexual 
health services that also include those younger than age 13 and focus on 
prevention and healthy relationships. There are significant benefits to having a 
single service- provision would be extremely disjointed if young people aged under 
13 received support from a different service than those over age 13. Legal advice 
is that a modification to the existing contract would be appropriate as it satisfies the 
criteria set out below. Public Contracts Regulations 2015 allow for existing 
contracts to be modified without a new procurement procedure but only if they 
meet the criteria set out in Regulation 72. 

Reg 72 (1) (b) provides that a modification may be made without a new 
procurement:
"for additional works, services  or supplies by the original contractor that have 
become necessary and were not included in the initial procurement, where a 
change of contractor-

(i) cannot be made for economic or technical reasons such as requirements of 
interchangeability or interoperability with existing equipment, services or 
installations procured under the initial procurement; and

(ii) would cause significant inconvenience or substantial duplication of costs for 
the contracting authority,

Page 44



provided that any increase in price does not exceed 50% of the value of the 
original contract;"

In this case the provider of sexual health services to young people below the age 
of 13 would need to operate the same systems and record their data on the same 
record as that operated by the provider of general sexual health services so as to 
allow smooth handovers with robust information governance arrangements.  The 
alternative would cause significant inconvenience and substantial duplication of 
costs in maintaining separate systems and putting in place robust data transfer 
arrangements between systems.  

The Council would be required to publish an OJEU Notice in accordance with 
regulation 51 confirming that such a modification has been made.  

The Council's Contract Regulations would normally require a contract of the 
proposed value (£250,000 per annum for a potential period of 5 years) to be 
subject to competition.  Where a Chief Officer proposes an alternative route such 
as direct award of contract approval must be given by the Executive. 
Recommendation 2(d) therefore seeks approval to the variation of the sexual 
health services contract.
 
Benefits:
 Economies of scale are likely if a single service is provided instead of having 

separate providers with their own management costs, HR functions and other 
overheads therefore the investment into front line delivery would be greater.

 A single service would be commissioned for all children and young people that 
would offer seamless access to support regardless of age.

Dis-benefits:
 Children's Services and Public Health may have different views on the 

performance of their respective services and there would need to be 
mechanisms in place to manage this.

e) Insourcing
There is no legitimate business benefit to the Council providing these services. The 
interface with the countywide sexual health service is paramount to delivery and 
could not be successfully achieved if the Council delivered part of the offer. This is 
not a legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed 
options analysis has been conducted.

f) Local Authority Traded Company
N/A.

g) Procurement
The integration with the already established countywide sexual health service is 
paramount to delivery and could not be successfully achieved if there was a 
different service provider for those aged less than 13. If the Council was in a 
position that it needed to procure services there is evidence from Public Health’s 
procurement of the countywide service that there is a local market of providers that 
may be interested in bidding. Efforts would need to be made to work as closely with 

Page 45



LCHS (the current provider of countywide sexual health service) as possible to 
ensure services integrate where they can and are seamless for service users and 
do not duplicate each other. 

Benefits:
 Clear understanding about how funding is being used on the service as a result 

of providers being required to submit a detailed budget breakdown during the 
tender process and also required to provide regular detailed financial reporting.

 Children's Services would have full oversight of provider performance as the 
single commissioner.

 Local provider market would be tested and reduced risk of challenge.

Dis-benefits:
 Children and young people would not have access to an integrated countywide 

sexual health service offer as they would need to access different services 
depending on their age.

 No economies of scale would be achieved if services were not combined.

Emotional Wellbeing Service

a) Do nothing
The review has highlighted how important families and professionals think 
emotional wellbeing support is to school aged children. There is currently a gap in 
support available locally which will not be addressed if this service isn't 
commissioned. There is no current contract that covers these services and so this 
decision will effectively mean not commissioning this service. This is not a 
legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options 
analysis has been conducted.

b) Decommissioning 
This is not an option as this is a new service and no contract is in place. This 
decision will effectively mean not commissioning this service. This is not a 
legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options 
analysis has been conducted.

c) Influencing
Commercial aspects of the service cannot be delivered without funding and it is not 
feasible to think that these services could be delivered through influence alone. 
The Council could seek to influence Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission 
the service linked to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), 
however, this is unrealistic given the CCG's have recently worked with the Council 
to remodel CAMHS in Lincolnshire and will consider that this covers their 
commissioning duties. It is clear that even with the new model of CAMHS in place, 
there is a gap in provision for children that do not have emerging or diagnosable 
mental health concerns but are still struggling to cope with emotional wellbeing 
problems. Schools are deeply impacted by this gap with many schools directly 
funding counselling support. It is unrealistic that schools will view this solely as their 
responsibility and centrally commission a service. This is not a legitimate option for 
consideration and for this reason no further detailed options analysis has been 
conducted.

Page 46



d) Partnership
There is strong evidence to show that whilst children are dealing with emotional 
wellbeing concerns they are not able to learn and engage in school effectively. 
Schools see children every day and are at the front line in trying to support families, 
particularly where those families do not seem to meet the requirements to access 
existing services. Many schools now directly fund counsellors but this is not 
consistent across the county. Given the impact to schools on the gap in support for 
children and young people's emotional wellbeing concerns, schools may consider 
entering into a commissioning partnership with the council to co-fund a service. 
This would increase the volume of service that could be commissioned and would 
mean that there was a coordinated countywide approach to supporting children 
and young people. Children’s services is working with schools to understand 
specific needs and will look to submit a paper to Schools Forum to seek additional 
funding for this service. This would be a commissioning partnership and would not 
a partnership for service provision.

Benefits:
 Increased funding to invest in the service resulting in an increased volume of 

support available. 
 Consistent countywide approach to supporting children and young people's 

emotional wellbeing, reducing inequity in provision.
 Improved relationship between the Council and schools in managing support to 

young people that do not meet existing criteria for services.

Dis-benefits:
 No dis-benefits have been identified.
  
e) Insourcing
If a partnership commissioning arrangement was to be agreed with schools, their 
views on insourcing would need to be understood. If a decision is taken to insource 
the children’s health service 0-19 (25 SEND) then the Council may be in a strong 
position to also deliver this service. The Council would have two options:
 Increase staffing volume (likely to be in Early Help Teams due to the synergy of 

the role) and invest in training all staff to provide interventions and support 
around emotional wellbeing.

 Establish a new separate service within Children's Services and employ staff 
directly that are qualified to provide intervention and support around emotional 
wellbeing. Retraining and redeployment could also be support to appropriate 
staff that may be displaced from the children’s health service 0-19 (25 SEND).

Benefits:
 Greater control over service expenditure.
 Greater integration with other Children's Services and Early Help processes.
 Increase the skills of the Council's workforce.
 Bridge current gap in services and support schools.

Page 47



Dis-benefits:
 Staff will be employed on Council terms and conditions and are likely to cost 

more to employ than equivalents in other organisations. If it was decided that an 
external organisation was best placed to provide the service at a later point, 
providers are unlikely to be interested given the expensive staffing group they 
could inherit through TUPE and the requirement to offer a broadly comparable 
pension scheme. 

 The Council is not an expert in delivering these services.

f) Local Authority Traded Company
N/A

g) Procurement
This is a new service and so the provider market is largely untested and would 
require some specific engagement to encourage bidders. Given the potential value 
of any contract (c£1m p/a not including any investment that schools may agree), if 
the service was not going to be provided by the Council it would need to go 
through a competitive tender process to comply with both the Council's and UK/EU 
procurement regulations.

Benefits:
 Staffing is expected to be more cost effective.
 The service would be provided by an organisation that can demonstrate they 

are already experienced in delivering services.
 There is a potential to broaden the provider market place in Lincolnshire by 

either attracting new entrants or giving more opportunities to existing providers. 

Dis-benefits:
 Unknown provider market that has not been tested previously.
 Full integration with other Children's Services will be harder to achieve.

Recommended Options

Children's health service 0-19 (25 SEND):
It is recommended that the Council insources this service.

Online Counselling Service:
It is recommended that the Council varies the existing contract until 31st March 
2018 and procures a single service through an open competitive tender to be 
operational from 1st April 2018. 

Sexual Health Service:
It is recommended that Children’s Services and Public Health co-commission this 
service by varying the existing Lincolnshire integrated sexual health service to 
include services for children less than 13 years of age. 

Emotional Wellbeing Service:
It is recommended that the Executive Director for Children's Services in 

Page 48



consultation with the Executive Councillor for Adults, Health and Children’s 
Services and the Director of Children’s Services, be delegated the authority to 
agree the final form of the emotional wellbeing, including whether the service 
should be provided by the Council alongside the new children’s health service 0-
19 (25 SEND) or procured through an open competitive tender process. This will 
require further discussions with schools and the School Forum to identify if there 
is a method for achieving joint commissioning, subject to school funding changes.   
Delegation to include determining the form and content of the service and 
approving the entering into of all necessary legal documentation.

Equality Act 2010

The Council must comply with the public sector equality duty set out in S149 
Equality Act 2010 when coming to a decision on the proposals. In doing so, the 
Executive Councillor as decision-maker must have due regard to the needs to:
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; 
 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it: Equality Act 2010 section 
149(1). The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual 
orientation: section 149(7).

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to:
 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it;

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low. 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities.

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding.

Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others.

A reference to conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act includes a reference 
to:

(a)     A breach of an equality clause or rule

Page 49

https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/runRemoteLink.do?langcountry=GB&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23num%252010_15a_Title%25&risb=21_T11624841281&bct=A&service=citation&A=0.4026760067779367
https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/runRemoteLink.do?langcountry=GB&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23section%25149%25sect%25149%25num%252010_15a%25&risb=21_T11624841281&bct=A&service=citation&A=0.8213227680330027
https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/runRemoteLink.do?langcountry=GB&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23section%25149%25sect%25149%25num%252010_15a%25&risb=21_T11624841281&bct=A&service=citation&A=0.8213227680330027


(b)     A breach of a non-discrimination rule

It is important that the Executive Councillor is aware of the special duties the 
Council owes to persons who have a protected characteristic as the duty cannot be 
delegated and must be discharged by the Executive. The duty applies to all 
decisions taken by public bodies including policy decisions and decisions on 
individual cases and includes this decision. 

To discharge the statutory duty the Executive Councillor must analyse all the 
relevant material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse 
impact is identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact 
as part of the decision making process. 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached at Appendix 
B; this is a live document and continues to be updated. The general public have 
been engaged via a questionnaire to identify if there are any positive or negative 
impacts of changes to services that have not been identified. This assessment 
identifies any specific impacts on those with protected characteristics and the 
mitigating actions that will be taken. Overall it is considered that the potential 
adverse impacts can be mitigated such that having due regard to the equality duty 
the Executive could properly approve the recommendations.

Child Poverty Strategy

The Council is under a duty in the exercise of its functions to have regard to its 
Child Poverty Strategy.  Child poverty is one of the key risk factors that can 
negatively influence a child’s life chances. Children that live in poverty are at 
greater risk of social exclusion which, in turn, can lead to poor outcomes for the 
individual and for society as a whole.

In Lincolnshire we consider that poverty is not only a matter of having limited 
financial resources but that it is also about the ability of families to access the 
means of lifting themselves out of poverty and of having the aspiration to do so. 
The following four key strategic themes form the basis of Lincolnshire’s Child 
Poverty strategy: Economic Poverty, Poverty of Access, Poverty of Aspiration and 
Best Use of Resources.

Consideration has been given to this Strategy. The evidence in Appendix A- 
Section 1 shows that a child's health, development and achievement of their 
potential are critically impacted by the support and help they receive during their 
early years and childhood.  The purpose of children’s health services is to help give 
children the very best start in life thus addressing both poverty of access and 
poverty of aspiration in particular.  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS)

The Council in exercising its functions must have regard to both the JSNA and the 
JHWS. The proposals contribute to the theme: Improve health and social outcomes 

Page 50



for children and reduce inequalities and the outcome: Ensure all children get the 
best possible start in life and achieve their potential.

Crime and Disorder

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area.

The service may from time to time be in contact with families who may be 
experiencing or partaking in crime and disorder and consideration has been given 
in the model to support those most at risk and indirectly prevent crime and 
disorder. 

2. Conclusion

The Council’s Executive is recommended to agree the final service model for 
children’s health services which reflects the findings of the review. 

Approval is also sought that the new:
 Children’s health service 0-19 (25 SEND) is insourced and provided by the 

Council from 1st April 2018. 
 Online counselling service requirements are combined with the existing 

online counselling service contract by way of a variation until 31st March 
2018 in order to pilot the amendments and that a single service is then 
procured through an open competitive tender to be operational from 1st April 
2018. 

 Sexual health service is combined with Public Health’s existing Lincolnshire 
integrated sexual health service contract by way of a variation to include 
services for children less than 13 years of age. 

Executive is requested to delegate the Executive Councillor responsible for 
Children’s Services and the Director of Children’s Services, the authority to agree 
the final form of the emotional wellbeing, including whether the service should be 
provided by the Council alongside the new children’s health service 0-19 (25 
SEND) or procured through an open competitive tender process. This will enable 
the Schools Forum to identify any additional funding to be allocated to the service 
and will offer the Forum the opportunity to provide a view on their commissioning 
preference. Delegation would include determining the form and content of the 
service and approving the entering into of all necessary legal documentation.

The above recommendations and requests are made because they are viewed as 
the best commissioning options for securing high quality children’s health services 
that deliver improved outcomes for children, young people and families in 
Lincolnshire. 

Page 51



3. Legal Comments:

The Council has the power to adopt the recommendations. The matters to be 
taken into consideration are set out and addressed in the Report.

The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive if it is within the budget.

4. Resource Comments:

The main recommendation outlined in the report to provide an insourced 
children's health service 0-19 (25 for SEND) by the Council's Children's Services 
area will ensure the savings targets identified for 2017/18 (£0.350m) and 2018/19 
(£0.350m) will be achieved in full. The recommendations will provide an effective 
joined up offer to the public whilst achieving effective use of resources. 

5. Consultation

a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted?
n/a

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted? 
Yes

c)  Scrutiny Comments
The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee will consider this report at 
its meeting on 21 October 2016. Comments from the Committee will be reported 
to the Executive.

d)  Policy Proofing Actions Required
n/a

6. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report.
Appendix A Current Service Performance, Review Findings and Preferred 

Model for Children’s Health Services
Appendix B Equality Impact Assessments

7. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.

This report was written by Charlotte Gray, who can be contacted on 01522 553783 
or charlotte.gray@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 52



Appendix A: Review Findings and Preferred Model for Children’s Health 
Services

Section 1. Review Findings
Set out below are a variety of findings of the review to date relating to children’s 
health services. 

1a. Statutory Duties
Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, upper-tier local authorities are 
responsible for improving the health of their local population. Local authorities hold 
an array of statutory duties for children, including:
 Establishing arrangements to reduce child poverty.
 Promoting the interests of children in the development of health and wellbeing 

strategies.
 Leading partners and the public to ensure children are safeguarded and their 

welfare promoted.
 Driving the high educational achievement of all children.
 Leading, promoting and creating opportunities for cooperation with partners to 

improve the wellbeing of young people.

Health Visiting
Under the Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local 
Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013, certain services are required to be 
delivered by the Council.  These Regulations have recently been amended to include 
Health Visiting services during the period 1 October 2015 to 31 March 2017.

A universal Health Visitor review must be provided at 5 mandated points (28+weeks 
pregnancy, 1-14 days, 6-8 weeks, 9-15 months and 2-2 ½ years). A review must be 
carried out by a Health Visitor or suitably qualified health professional e.g. nursery 
nurse or family nurse. The Secretary of State must review this by 31 March 2017 and 
there is a possibility that this will not be a statutory requirement after this time.

National Child Measurement Programme
A healthcare professional must oversee the programme of annual height and weight 
measurement of children in Reception and Year 6 in the locality. Data must be 
returned to the Health and Social Care Information Centre. This is currently delivered 
by the School Nursing Service.

The preferred service model for children’s health services continues to uphold the 
delivery of the Council’s statutory duties.
 
1b. Needs Summary
An analysis of data and trends was undertaken in April 2015. This data was used to 
help inform service model options. Below are some key highlights (data source 
references are available on request):

Page 53



Profile of Children and Young People in Lincolnshire
 22% of Lincolnshire's population (157,862/731,516) are estimated to be aged 

between 0 and 19 and this is projected to increase by 7.09% by 2025 with 
biggest increases of around 10% in Boston and North Kesteven. The 5-11 age 
group is projected to increase the most (13.6% increase by 2025). 

 Approximately 11.71% of people in Lincolnshire (84,863/724,453) live within the 
20% most deprived areas nationally.  This is significantly lower than both the 
England (20.44%) and East Midlands (16.98%) averages. Lincoln and East 
Lindsey districts have the highest percentage of people living in the 20% most 
deprived areas nationally. There are 29 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in 
Lincolnshire that are in the top 10% most deprived nationally. 

 Across Lincolnshire 16.53% of children aged under 16 are living in low income 
households. This is lower than the national average for England (19.2%). Lincoln 
City district has the highest district percentage of children living in low income 
families with 23.50% aged under 16s. Ingoldmells ward in East Lindsey has the 
highest ward percentage of under 16s living in low income families with 49.6%. 
There are a further 12 wards with greater than 30% of all children living in low 
income families.

 Overall in Lincolnshire 3.2% of households have one or more dependent children 
whilst there are no adults in employment living in the household. This is better 
than the 4.2% average for England. 

 Overall in Lincolnshire 4.2% of households have one or more dependent children 
where at least one adult living in the household has a long-term health problem or 
disability. This is better than the 4.6% average for England. 

 At the time of the last national census, there were 32,804 lone parent families in 
Lincolnshire. 

 Across Lincolnshire in 2015, there were 8% of pupils with English as a second 
language. Boston was the district with the highest number of pupils with English 
as a second language with 27%. Central ward in Boston has the highest number 
of pupils with English as a second language with 65%. 

 In 2015 11% of school pupils in Lincolnshire were Black Minority Ethnic (BME).  
The district with the highest number in Lincolnshire is Boston with 27%. Whilst 
Central ward in Boston, with 61%, and several other wards in Boston had high 
percentages of BME pupils, Abbey ward in Lincoln had the highest actual number 
of BME pupils in one ward with 530.

 Overall, there are 3% of pupils in Lincolnshire with a Special Educational Needs 
(SEN) Statement.

 As at 31st May 2015, Fenside ward in Boston had the greatest number of 
Children in Protection. East Lindsey district had the highest number of children in 
need as well as open Team Around the Child assessments. 

Children’s Public Health Data
 The overall breastfeeding initiation rate for Lincolnshire in 2013/14 was 75.24%.  

This was better than both the England (73.93%) and East Midlands (71.91%) 
averages.  At a district level the highest breastfeeding initiation rates were in 
Boston (84.50%) and South Holland (78.42%) whilst the lowest were Lincoln 
(67.02%) and West Lindsey (69.72%).

Page 54



 Across Lincolnshire in 2014/15, approximately 38% of infants were continuing to 
be breastfed (totally or partially) at 6-8 weeks.  This is lower than the average for 
East Midlands, which was 44.4% and Lincolnshire is the lowest in the region.

 Across Lincolnshire in 2013/14, 14.88% of women were smoking at time of 
delivery; this is worse than the England average (11.99%) but better than the 
East Midlands average (15.09%).  The highest rates of smoking at time of 
delivery were in Boston and East Lindsey (both 21.90%).

 The prevalence of pregnant women booking in at Lincoln County Hospital 
classed as obese with a BMI >30kg/m2 is 18.4% and at Boston Pilgrim Hospital 
is 23.8%. 

 Overall in 2013/14, 9.7% of children in Lincolnshire were measured as being 
obese at the end of reception year. This was highest in South Holland (13.3%). 
18.56% of Year 6 children in Lincolnshire were measured as being obese.  This 
was highest in Boston (27.07%). This was worse than the East Midlands region 
average (18.09%) but better than the overall average for England (19.09%).  In 
2014/15, 5% of reception age children in Lincolnshire schools were measured as 
being very overweight, with a further 9% of children measured as being 
overweight. 12% of year 6 children in Lincolnshire schools were measured as 
being very overweight, with a further 14% of children measured as being 
overweight. Of the schools measured in 2014/15 in Lincolnshire, 39 schools had 
over 30% or more pupils who were overweight or very overweight.

 Across Lincolnshire in 2013, the rate of under 18 conceptions per 1,000 females 
aged 15-17 was 27.01.  This was higher than the average rates for both England 
(24.35) and the East Midlands region (24.58).  The highest rate was in Lincoln, 
with 36.56. 

 Overall between 2011 and 2013, the infant mortality rate per 1,000 live births in 
Lincolnshire was 4.30.  This was slightly higher than both the East Midlands 
region average (4.20) and England average (3.98).  The infant mortality rate was 
highest in West Lindsey (5.61). 

 Across Lincolnshire, the average rate per 100,000 young people under 18 for 
alcohol-specific hospital stays was 40.74.  This was higher than both the England 
(40.05) and East Midlands (33.79) averages.  At a district level, the highest rates 
in the county were East Lindsey (54.04) and South Holland (52.92).

Summary:
 Lincolnshire’s 0-19 population is increasing and this must be considered in the 

capacity available to deliver services.
 Generally fewer children in Lincolnshire live in deprived areas, low income 

families or where there is no employed adult in the home, compared to the 
national average, but there are pockets of significant deprivation in the county 
where more targeted support may be needed.

 In some parts of the county there are high numbers of children where English is 
their second language and supporting these children and their families to 
access services will need specific consideration.

 Breastfeeding initiation in Lincolnshire is generally good but the number of 
women sustaining breastfeeding beyond 6-8 weeks is poor which indicates that 
they need more support.

 The number of women smoking at time of delivery in Lincolnshire is high and 
given the significant health implications of this, more needs to be done to 

Page 55



address this. 
 Worrying numbers of pregnant women in Lincolnshire are obese and 

anecdotally this is known to be increasing in volume and severity. There are 
significant risk factors for the mother and baby. Preventative work is needed 
and targeted work needs to take place to support mothers to manage their 
weight during pregnancy and raise their children to live a healthy lifestyle. 

 The number of children presenting as overweight or obese is worse than the 
national average and there are some areas where this is significantly worse. A 
preventative approach to tackling this issue is needed.

 Teenage pregnancy rates are higher in Lincolnshire compared to national and 
regional averages, given the known vulnerabilities of this group indications are 
more prevention and parenting support may be needed.

 Rates of young people needing to be hospitalised for alcohol specific reasons is 
higher in Lincolnshire compared to national and regional averages which 
indicates more prevention support may be needed.

1c. Engagement Results
Between October and December 2015, public and professionals were engaged to 
understand their views of the services being reviewed. In total, more than 1,200 
responses were received to questionnaires. Engagement events were also run with 
current providers, the wider provider market, Children’s Services Team Managers, 
Children’s Services locality staff, schools and pupils. Shadowing of services was also 
undertaken.

Children’s Health Aged 0-5
 The stage parents/carers and professionals think the most support is needed:

During the early years of childhood (0-5) parents/carers and professionals felt 
families needed the most support during pregnancy up to 1 year (87%), of which 
63% was only up until 8 weeks.

 The five most important areas of service for parents/carers and professionals are:

Page 56



0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Preparing to become 
a parent

Finding out about 
other available 

services

Support with 
thoughts feelings and 
emotions after baby 

is born

Advice for minor 
health concerns

Help with 
feeding/breastfeeding

Having baby's weight 
checked

Visit just after baby is 
born

Professionals
Parents/carers

 Slightly more parents/carers and professionals who responded said it is more 
important to see the same Health Visitor (55%) rather than see a different Health 
Visitor and wait less (45%).

 When asked what could further improve the Health Visiting service the most 
common responses from parents/carers were making it easier to contact /access 
Health Visitors, drop-in clinics and more contact in the first year.

 Over 60% of respondents would prefer to have their visit just after baby is born in 
the home, but for all other checks there was a greater willingness for these to be 
in other venues, such as children's centres, GP surgeries, community venues and 
schools/nurseries.

 61% would prefer for Health Visitor reviews to be undertaken on weekdays 
between 9am to 5pm, with 33% preferring extended weekday availability.

Children’s Health Age 5-19 (25 SEND)
 Parent/carer and professional respondents combined said that the children need 

the most health related advice and support at age 13-16 in Years 9-11 (32%) and 
age 4-6 in Reception and Year 1 (23%).

 Parents/carers responded that children were very or fairly likely to talk to them 
about a health problem or concern (96%) or another family member (78%) or 
friend (77%), before talking to a professional such as a GP (75%), Teacher (56%) 
or School Nurse (50%).

 The five most important health related services and support for school age 
children:

0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Health assessment in reception year
Supporting vulnerable or at risk children

Eyesight and hearing checks
Promoting healthy weight/physical activity

Anti-bullying support and advice
Sexual health and contraception advice

Emotional wellbeing support

Professionals top 5
Parent/carers top 5

 When asked what could further improve the School Nursing service the most 
common responses from parents/carers were to have more School Nurses, for 

Page 57



School Nurses to be in school more and have a greater presence in schools, for 
parents and children to be aware of what a School Nurse actually does, to have a 
drop-in service and to be more accessible.

 Besides school (19%), the biggest response for where School Nursing services 
should be offered is GP surgeries and local health centres (13%) through 
individual appointments (12%) and drop-in sessions (12%).

 A third of responses from parents/carers indicated that they think children would 
prefer to receive School Nursing services during the school day, with almost a 
third showing that after school (before 6pm) would also be an option.

 More respondents said it is most important for individuals to be able to see a 
School Nurse confidentially to discuss health problems or concerns (69%) rather 
than receiving general information as a group (31%).

Summary:
 Families need the most support with and for their children in early childhood 

during pregnancy and through the first year. The five most important areas of 
Health Visiting that people identified also fell into this timeframe. Parents value 
drop-in clinics and easy access to a Health Visiting service.

 School aged children need the most health related advice and support at age 
13-16 and age 4-6. Some of the most important areas families want support with 
are during these ages e.g. health assessment in Reception, eyesight and 
hearing checks at school entry, sexual health and contraception advice. 
Emotional wellbeing and anti-bullying support and promoting healthy weight and 
physical exercise cut across the whole age range. Having greater access to 
support is a common theme. Families would prefer children to access support 
during the school day or after school and think it is most important children see 
someone confidentially to discuss individual issues rather than rather than 
receiving general information as a group.

1d. Evidence

Focus on the first 1001 Critical Days
Local engagement feedback from parents/carers and professionals cites very early 
childhood (0-1) as the key time when families want and need the most support. 
Evidence is also clear that good parenting during the first 1001 days of a child’s life 
can have a significant positive impact on later life chances. As such, in designing 
service models this has been a key focus. 

Evidence summary:
 From birth to age 18 months, connections in the brain are created at a rate of one 

million per second. The earliest experiences shape a baby’s brain development, 
and have a lifelong impact on that baby’s mental and emotional health. Ensuring 
that the brain achieves its optimum development and nurturing during this peak 
period of growth is vitally important, and enables babies to achieve the best start 
in life.

 A foetus or baby exposed to toxic stress can have their responses to stress 
(cortisol) distorted in later life. This early stress can come from the mother 
suffering from symptoms of depression or anxiety, having a bad relationship with 
her partner, or an external trauma such as bereavement.

Page 58



 International studies show that when a baby’s development falls behind the norm 
during the first year of life, it is then much more likely to fall even further behind in 
subsequent years, than to catch up with those who have had a better start.

 Attachment is the bond between a baby and its caregiver/s. There is longstanding 
evidence that a baby’s social and emotional development is strongly affected by 
the quality of their attachment.

 Babies are disproportionately vulnerable to abuse and neglect. In England they 
are seven times more likely to be killed than older children. Around 26% of babies 
(198,000) in the UK are estimated to be living within complex family situations, of 
heightened risk where there are problems such as substance misuse, mental 
illness or domestic violence. 36% of serious case reviews involve a baby under 
one.

 At least one loving, sensitive and responsive relationship with an adult caregiver 
teaches the baby to believe that the world is a good place and reduces the risk of 
them facing disruptive issues in later life.

 Every child deserves an equal opportunity to lead a healthy and fulfilling life, and 
with the right kind of early intervention, there is every opportunity for secure 
parent infant attachments to be developed.

Antenatal Education
Antenatal Education was a recurrent theme in all focus groups run with professionals 
who strongly felt a universal offer is needed in Lincolnshire that is delivered in an 
integrated way with midwifery, health visiting and early years services to aid the 
prevention of poor parenting practice, increase general understanding about the 
importance of attachment and play at to identify early where people may be likely to 
struggle and need extra support. There is some solid evidence of the positive impact 
of antenatal education in helping to manage and reduce maternal anxiety and 
depression during pregnancy and early childhood, leading to improved coping, 
greater partner support and a better birth experience. 

Evidence summary: 
 Improved maternal mental health (National Childbirth Trust, 2010)
 Increased mental preparation for childbirth among pregnant women (Koehn, 

2008)
 Decreased use of epidural anaesthesia during childbirth (Ferguson, Davis & 

Brown, 2013)
 An increased likelihood of arriving at the hospital in active labour (Ferguson, 

Davis and Brown, 2013)
 Increased breastfeeding initiation and continuation (Schrader-McMillan, Barlow & 

Redshaw, 2009)
 Greater satisfaction with the couple and parent-infant relationships after birth 

(National Childbirth Trust, 2010)
 (The University of Warwick (Schrader McMillan et al. 2009):

o Antenatal education has a role to play in improving knowledge of and 
preparation for parenthood. 

o Participation in antenatal preparation courses is associated with higher 
satisfaction with the birth experience. 

o Antenatal preparation courses can lead mothers and fathers to adopt a 
range of healthy behaviours that affect pregnancy, birth and early 

Page 59



parenthood (as well as their own health), such as eating more healthily, 
cutting down or stopping smoking and taking more exercise. 

o Group-based programmes have high levels of consumer satisfaction, 
partly because they offer parents the opportunity to develop supportive 
social networks with their peers. 

Implications for the new children’s health service:
 Families and professionals have told us how important they feel it is to provide 

good universal support and enhanced targeted support during very early 
childhood because of the positive impact it can have on the rest of a child’s and 
families lives. Evidence backs this up. 

1e. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Questionnaire Feedback
In June and July 2016, public and professionals were asked what they think any 
impacts might be of planned changes to services, particularly for people with 
protected characteristics. A summary of feedback is below:
 165 responses were received to the EIA questionnaire for parents and 

professionals:
o Between 61.8% and 80.6% of respondents to each question felt that 

changes would not impact them or their family.
o The main responses for what protected characteristics the changes would 

impact were age, disability and pregnancy/maternity.
o For early years and health visiting service changes, around three quarters 

of those who felt they would be impacted thought the changes were mainly 
positive;

 Key themes for why people felt these changes were mainly positive 
were consistent and joined-up services, more activities/use of 
children's centres, easier access to services and more support.

o For school nursing service changes, around half to three quarters of those 
who felt they would be impacted thought the changes were mainly 
negative;

 Key themes for why people felt these changes were mainly 
negative were lack of specialist support from a school nurse for 
school-aged children, risk to delivery of Healthy Child Programme 
5-19, no face-to-face support/drop-ins, impact on GPs/schools to 
pick up more support and problems not being identified.

o For emotional wellbeing service changes, almost 60% of those who felt 
they would be impacted thought the changes were mainly positive, with 
20% thinking they were mainly negative and 20% didn't know;

 Key themes for why people felt these changes were mainly positive 
were meeting the gap between school nurse/GP support and 
CAMHS and having more mental health support, however there 
were concerns over internet access to online support and not losing 
face-to-face support where needed.

 93 responses were received to the EIA questionnaire for children and young 
people; however a number of comments indicate responses were also received 
from parents and professionals:

o Between 73.1% and 83.9% of respondents to each question felt that 
changes would not affect them.

Page 60



o The main responses for what protected characteristic the changes would 
affect were age.

o For school nursing service changes, around two thirds to three quarters of 
those who felt they would be affected thought the changes were mainly 
bad;

 Key themes for why people felt these changes were mainly bad 
were having had positive experiences with school nurses, wanting 
face-to-face support and confidentiality.

o For emotional wellbeing service changes, 52% of those who felt they 
would be affected thought the changes were mainly good, with 32% 
thinking they were mainly bad and 16% didn't know;

 Key themes for why people felt these changes were mainly good 
were having a specialist service, and being able to talk to 
professionals about their problems.

Implications for the new children’s health service:
 Feedback from the EIA questionnaire has been used to update the draft ‘Early 

Years and 0-6 Health Services’ and ‘Emotional Wellbeing and 6-19 Health 
Services’ EIA documents which are attached at Appendix B. Within these EIA’s 
details of mitigating actions are set out. There is nothing raised that would 
suggest the planned changes to services are fundamentally flawed and required 
further significant change. There are some impacts identified that will be 
considered further as part of service specification development.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 1

Equality Impact Analysis to enable informed decisions

The purpose of this document is to:-
I. help decision makers fulfil their duties under the Equality Act 2010 and 

II. for you to evidence  the positive and adverse impacts of the proposed change on people with protected characteristics and ways to 
mitigate or eliminate any adverse impacts.

Using this form
This form must be updated and reviewed as your evidence on a proposal for a project/service change/policy/commissioning of a service or 
decommissioning of a service evolves taking into account any consultation feedback, significant changes to the proposals and data to support 
impacts of proposed changes. The key findings of the most up to date version of the Equality Impact Analysis must be explained in the report 
to the decision maker and the Equality Impact Analysis must be attached to the decision making report.

**Please make sure you read the information below so that you understand what is required under the Equality Act 2010**

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 applies to both our workforce and our customers. Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers are under a personal 
duty, to have due (that is proportionate) regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics. 

Protected characteristics
The protected characteristics under the Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation.

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
Section 149 requires a public authority to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is prohibited by/or under the Act
 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected characteristics and persons who do not share those 

characteristics                                          
 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

P
age 63



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 2

The purpose of Section 149 is to get decision makers to consider the impact their decisions may or will have on those with protected 
characteristics and by evidencing the impacts on people with protected characteristics decision makers should be able to demonstrate 'due 
regard'.

Decision makers duty under the Act
Having had careful regard to the Equality Impact Analysis, and also the consultation responses, decision makers are under a personal duty to 
have due regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics (see above) and to:-    

(i) consider and analyse how the decision is likely to affect those with protected characteristics, in practical terms,
(ii) remove any unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other prohibited conduct,
(iii) consider whether practical steps should be taken to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences that the decision is likely to  have, for 

persons with protected characteristics and, indeed, to consider whether the decision should not be taken at all, in the interests of 
persons with protected characteristics,

(iv)  consider whether steps should be taken to advance equality, foster good relations and generally promote the interests of persons with 
protected characteristics, either by varying the recommended decision or by taking some other decision.

Conducting an Impact Analysis

The Equality Impact Analysis is a process to identify the impact or likely impact a project, proposed service change, commissioning, 
decommissioning or policy will have on people with protected characteristics listed above. It should be considered at  the beginning of the 
decision making process.
 
The Lead Officer responsibility 
This is the person writing the report for the decision maker. It is the responsibility of the Lead Officer to make sure that the Equality Impact 
Analysis is robust and proportionate to the decision being taken.

Summary of findings
You must provide a clear and concise summary of the key findings of this Equality Impact Analysis in the decision making report and attach this 
Equality Impact Analysis to the report.  

P
age 64



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 3

Impact – definition

An impact is an intentional or unintentional lasting consequence or significant change to people's lives brought about by an action or series of 
actions.

How much detail to include? 
The Equality Impact Analysis should be proportionate to the impact of proposed change. In deciding this asking simple questions “Who might 
be affected by this decision?” "Which protected characteristics might be affected?" and “How might they be affected?”  will help you consider 
the extent to which you already have evidence, information and data, and where there are gaps that you will need to explore. Ensure the 
source and date of any existing data is referenced.
You must consider both obvious and any less obvious impacts. Engaging with people with the protected characteristics will help you to identify 
less obvious impacts as these groups share their perspectives with you.

A given proposal may have a positive impact on one or more protected characteristics and have an adverse impact on others. You must 
capture these differences in this form to help decision makers to arrive at a view as to where the balance of advantage or disadvantage lies. If 
an adverse impact is unavoidable then it must be clearly justified and recorded as such, with an explanation as to why no steps can be taken to 
avoid the impact. Consequences must be included.

Proposals for more than one option If more than one option is being proposed you must ensure that the Equality Impact Analysis covers all 
options. Depending on the circumstances, it may be more appropriate to complete an Equality Impact Analysis for each option.

The information you provide in this form must be sufficient to allow the decision maker to fulfil their role as above. You must include 
the latest version of the Equality Impact Analysis with the report to the decision maker. Please be aware that the information in this 

form must be able to stand up to legal challenge.

P
age 65



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 4

Title of the policy / project / service 
being considered 

Early Years and Children’s Health 
Services – Early Years and 0-6 Health 
Services

Person / people completing analysis v2.0 Kevin Johnson

Service Area Children’s Services Strategic 
Commissioning Team

Lead Officer Charlotte Gray

Who is the decision maker? Executive How was the Equality Impact Analysis 
undertaken?

v2.0 Internal review team workshop 
exercise and engagement feedback from 
public and professionals

Date of meeting when decision will 
be made

01/11/2016 Version control v2.0

Is this proposed change to an 
existing policy/service/project or is 
it new?

Existing policy/service/project LCC directly delivered, commissioned, 
re-commissioned or de-
commissioned?

Re-commissioned

Describe the proposed change We are reviewing the early childhood and children's health services offered to all children, young people and their families. This 
includes Health Visiting, Antenatal Weight Management, School Nursing and services linked to Children’s Centres.  We must 
review what is provided to families in Lincolnshire to ensure good quality, effective and efficient support.

The range and nature of changes to children's centre services are not considered significant but include:
 More availability of antenatal services for families
 Health Visiting will lead on encouraging participation and engagement in children's centres and registration of families to 

children's centres, particularly for vulnerable families
 Continue sessions for children up to age 5 but have more sessions focused on children up to age 3
 Continued skills development support and access to existing adult learning courses
 Continued access to crèche services for families that need this support to undertake skills development.

The key changes for health services (Health Visiting and Antenatal Weight Management) from antenatal period up to the end of 
reception age are:

 Health Visiting will cover children up to the end of Reception year at school instead of age 5 when they previously 

Background Information

P
age 66



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 5

transferred to the School Nursing Service
 Named Health Visitor (HV) for all families up to 6-8 weeks and longer if the child or family need additional support
 More intensive antenatal and postnatal involvement from Health Visitors for families that need extra support
 Introduction of antenatal education classes for all families
 Health Visitors delivering more mental health support
 Additional group sessions provided by the Health Visiting service around key child development milestones
 Subject to changes to legal requirements, an integrated 2-2½ year review; led by a Health Visitor if not in a childcare 

setting, otherwise only if the setting has a health concern
 Improved peer support programme
 No health needs assessment for all children at school entry in Reception and no hearing screening in Reception Year for 

all children
 Height and weight measurement (NCMP) will be led by a Health Visitor and delivered by a skill-mix public health nurse team.

For the avoidance of doubt the following checks that all families currently receive will still be delivered by the Health Visiting Service; 
antenatal 28+ weeks, 10-14 days, 6-8 weeks and 8-12 months.

P
age 67



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 6

Evidencing the impacts
In this section you will explain the difference that proposed changes are likely to make on people with protected characteristics.
To help you do this  first consider the impacts the proposed changes may have on people without protected characteristics before then 
considering the impacts the proposed changes may have on people with protected characteristics.

You must evidence here who will benefit and how they will benefit. If there are no benefits that you can identify please state 'No 
perceived benefit' under the relevant protected characteristic. You can add sub categories under the protected characteristics to make 
clear the impacts. For example under Age you may have considered the impact on 0-5 year olds or people aged 65 and over, under 
Race you may have considered Eastern European migrants, under Sex you may have considered specific impacts on men.

Data to support impacts of proposed changes 
When considering the equality impact of a decision it is important to know who the people are that will be affected by any change.

Population data and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
The Lincolnshire Research Observatory (LRO) holds a range of population data by the protected characteristics. This can help put a 
decision into context. Visit the LRO website and its population theme page by following this link: http://www.research-lincs.org.uk  If you 
cannot find what you are looking for, or need more information, please contact the LRO team. You will also find information about the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on the LRO website.

Workforce profiles
You can obtain information by many of the protected characteristics for the Council's workforce and comparisons with the labour market 
on the Council's website.  As of 1st April 2015, managers can obtain workforce profile data by the protected characteristics for their 
specific areas using Agresso.

P
age 68

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/community-and-living/equality-and-diversity/a-strategic-approach-equality-and-diversity/valuing-our-workforce/community-and-workforce-statistics/52342.article


Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 7

Age Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to:

 Extend the services offered, both earlier in the antenatal period and later until the end of Reception year.
o Evidence from our engagement, supported by national evidence, suggests that during pregnancy is one of 

the times support is most important for families. People also felt that the transition to Reception year at 
school is one of the most important times for children's health support. Increasing Health Visiting Service 
support to the end of Reception year will mean that families have greater consistency during this 
transition period, particularly vulnerable families that may have had a named Health Visitor since before 
birth. The service will work with schools to help them support families that may need extra support during 
the transition to school.

o The impact of this is that Health Visitors will have more early involvement with parents before a baby is 
born allowing them to better identify and support families that need additional support.  They will also 
continue to support children if they need additional support during their first Reception year at school.

 Increase the focus on sessions in children's centres for babies and toddlers up to age 3, whilst continuing to offer 
activities for children up to age 5.

o Evidence suggests that early years are key for child development and responses from public and 
professionals to the engagement questionnaires showed that people felt they and their children needed 
most support in very early childhood.  

o The potential impact of this is for all families with children under 3 as it would offer more support with 
early bonding and activities focused on the needs of toddlers.

 Offer specific age-related support based on key child development milestones; at 3-4 months and 18 months.
o Evidence from health professionals suggests that these are key times when it is important to provide 

information and education around key child development topics, such as delayed weaning, oral health 
promotion, sleeping routines and home safety.

o The impact of this is that more age-specific groups will be available for all parents to attend, so that they 
receive key messages at appropriate and relevant times in their child's development. Families that may 
need extra support can be identified and offered help and guidance.

These changes are all identified as having potential positive impacts for children aged 0-6 and their families.

Positive impacts
The proposed change may have the following positive impacts on persons with protected characteristics – If no positive impact, please state 'no 
positive impact'.

P
age 69



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 8

Disability The model developed as part of the review proposes to:
 Provide a named Health Visitor for all families up to 6-8 weeks or longer if additional support is needed
 Offer more intensive antenatal and postnatal involvement from Health Visitors if families need extra support
 Deliver more mental health support through Health Visitors

The potential impact of this is that any emotional issues within families, particularly families where children may have 
special educational needs or disabilities, could potentially be identified and supported sooner. This could positively impact 
families with additional needs as health visitors will already have background knowledge of the family and the child. 

Gender reassignment No potential positive impacts currently identified.

Marriage and civil partnership No potential positive impacts currently identified.

Pregnancy and maternity Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to:

 Offer more intensive antenatal involvement from Health Visitors for families that need extra support and where 
there may be safeguarding concerns.

 Introduce universal antenatal education classes, delivered from children's centres and/or outreach venues.
 Deliver greater integration between midwifery, health visiting and early childhood services.
 Provide better mental health identification and intervention around postnatal depression.
 Provide more antenatal and early childhood activities from 35 weeks pregnancy and in early childhood.   

Evidence from the engagement questionnaires, supported by national evidence, suggests that during pregnancy and in the 
first year of life is a very important for support. 
The impact of these proposals is that Health Visitors, working more closely with Midwives and Early Years workers, will 
have more early involvement with parents before a baby is born, will be able to raise any concerns earlier and can provide 
direct support for parents. Evidence shows earlier, successful intervention has a positive impact of outcomes for children 
and throughout their lives.  Health visitors provide expert advice, support and interventions to all families with children in 
the first years of life (National health visiting service specification 2014/15 NHS England 2014). They are uniquely placed to 
identify the needs of individual children, parents and families (including safeguarding needs) and refer or direct them to 
existing local services, thereby promoting early intervention. They can also have a role in community asset mapping, 
identifying whether a particular community has any specific needs. By offering support through working in partnership 
with other professionals, for example staff working in children's centres, they can help communities to help themselves.
These changes are all identified as having potential positive impacts for parents and families during pregnancy and 
maternity. 

P
age 70



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 9

Race No potential positive impacts currently identified.

Religion or belief No potential positive impacts currently identified.

Sex No potential positive impacts currently identified.

Sexual orientation No potential positive impacts currently identified.

If you have identified positive impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics in the Equality Act 
2010 you can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision.

 A single 0-19 health service, which is much more integrated with early childhood services, will make it easier for children, young people and their families to 
access these services.

 Providing more intensive antenatal and postnatal involvement from Health Visitors and targeted early years sessions to families is identified as having potential 
positive impacts for vulnerable children, young people and families who need the most support.

 Making services available from children's centres and outreach community venues around the county is identified as having potential positive impacts for 
children, young people and their families who might struggle to access services due to rural isolation.

 Offering health clinics/drop-ins and a telephone advice service as part of Health Visiting is identified as having potential positive impacts for children and families 
who might struggle due to rural isolation.

 A joined-up service would mean greater communication and a higher quality service for children, offering more consistency and only having to tell a story once.
 A named health visitor would offer more consistency and continuity of care, which would make families feel more supported and help build better relationship, 

trust and knowledge of the family and their needs.
 A free, universal antenatal educations offer will benefit parents on lower incomes who could not afford paid antenatal courses. 
 More antenatal support will benefit all parents, particularly first-time-mums, with more advice on what to do when baby is born, increasing their confidence.

P
age 71



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 10

 More mental health support through Health Visitors would potentially have a positive impact on all families, with more indicators of emotional and mental health 
issues being picked up and more holistic support available for the whole family.

 Providing services in more community benues could make sessions more accessible to families, particularly more vulnerable families and those living in more 
rural areas, meaning better engagement with these services and less anxiety from having to travel as far to attend activities.

 Group health advice sessions would help to increase parents' confidence and support, particularly young and first time parents.
 Group health advice sessions could increase the opportunities for mutual and peer support from other parents, particularly at key times.
 Drop-in health clinics, telephone advice and bookable appointments with Health Visitors could have a potential positive impact as it could help to identify issues 

earlier and help reduce anxiety.
 More peer support could have a potential positive impact on all families by providing reassurance and advice from experienced peer supporters, to improve 

parents' confidence and support their mental health.
 More peer support could impact all mothers by giving them more support if they want to breastfeed.
 Extending Health Visiting support until the end of reception year would positively impact all families and children by offering more continuity of help and advice, 

easing the process of adapting to the formal education system. 

P
age 72



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 11

Age Potential perceived adverse impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to:

 No longer carry out a health needs assessment in Reception Year.  
o Evidence from the engagement questionnaire suggests that people feel the transition to Reception and 

first year at primary school is one of the most important times for children's health support.
o Continued Health Visiting support until end of Reception Year will mitigate no longer carrying out a 

universal health needs assessment.  Any health needs should already be known and the Health Visitor can 
work with the school during the first year to make sure any additional needs are catered for, or 
assessments can be carried out as required if there are any concerns. For example, the Health Visitor can 
advise and encourage parents and children to attend a vision screening for amblyopia at age 4-5.

 No universal hearing screening in Reception Year. 
o Evidence from the engagement questionnaire suggests that people feel the transition to Reception and 

first year at primary school is one of the most important times for children's health support.  Responses to 
the engagement questionnaire from professionals did not identify eyesight and hearing checks as an 
important part of the service.

o All children are offered screening shortly after birth for hearing problems, Public Health England report 
take up of 98.9% nationally. The result is a reduction in referrals to audiology departments as children get 
older because problems are being identified very early. All children now starting school should have had 
access to this screening and so instead of a carrying out universal hearing screenings, if a child is thought 
to have a hearing problem they can be referred directly by their GP for a screening or their school can 
work with the Health Visiting Service who will support a referral to audiology services. 

These changes are all identified as potentially having perceived negative impacts for children aged 3-5 and their families .

Negative impacts of the proposed change and practical steps to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences on people with 
protected characteristics are detailed below. If you have not identified any mitigating action to reduce an adverse impact please 
state 'No mitigating action identified'.

Adverse/negative impacts 
You must evidence how people with protected characteristics will be adversely impacted and any proposed mitigation to reduce or eliminate 
adverse impacts. An adverse impact causes disadvantage or exclusion. If such an impact is identified please state how, as far as possible, it is 
justified; eliminated; minimised or counter balanced by other measures. 
If there are no adverse impacts that you can identify please state 'No perceived adverse impact' under the relevant protected characteristic.

P
age 73



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 12

The model developed as part of the review proposes to offer a single 0-19 health service.  This is because we can deliver 
more consistency of care by having a joined up service.  This also supports the national evidence that joined up 0-19 health 
services give people the best start in life and beyond.  There is a perceived potential negative impact that not having 
separate services could mean losing focused support on specific age groups. The mitigation for this is that, as part of the 
specification for new services, there will be a clear evidence-based ‘pathway’ of services and support available for children 
at key ages and stages from 0-19.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to offer additional group sessions provided by the Health Visiting 
service around key child development milestones.  There is a perceived potential negative impact that these services could 
be geared more for younger mothers and impact the amount of support older mothers can access.  This is not the case, as 
these sessions will focus on key development ages and stages of the child and be used to identify all children and families 
who may be in need of additional support.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to continue sessions for children up to age 5 but have more sessions 
focused on children up to age 3.  There is potentially a perceived negative impact on children aged over 3, particularly if 
there are additional needs such as special educational needs and disabilities or speech and language support.  The 
mitigation for this is that sessions will continue to be available for children aged up to 5 to attend, in addition more 
focused support will be available for children with additional needs.  There is also a perceived potential negative impact on 
stay at home parents of children aged 3-5 as activities will be focused on the needs of children aged up to 3.  Again, this is 
not the case since activities will continue to be available for children aged up to 5 to attend, in addition there will be 
greater flexibility around the county to offer additional sessions in children’s centres based on local needs.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to extend Health Visiting to cover children up to the end of Reception 
year at school instead of age 5.  There is potentially a perceived negative impact on families and children in reception year 
as health visitors are primarily trained to support children up to pre-school (0-5). This will not be the case, the needs of 
this age group will still be met through the health visiting workforce, in addition Health Visiting will be part of a 0-19 
service with expertise in all supporting children and young people of all ages.

Disability The model developed as part of the review proposes to offer a single 0-19 health service.  There is a perceived potential 
negative impact that a 'one-size-fits-all' service could have a detrimental effect on the health care of children with special 
educational needs or disabilities.  The mitigation for this is that a 0-19 service will offer much greater continuity of care, 
particularly for those with additional needs, and will include expertise in supporting children and young people of all age 
groups. 

Gender reassignment No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

P
age 74



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 13

Marriage and civil partnership No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Pregnancy and maternity No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Race No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Religion or belief The model developed as part of the review proposes to introduce antenatal education classes for all families.  Universal 
antenatal education could impact on groups with specific religious beliefs, dependant on what messages are being given. 
The mitigation for this is that universal antenatal education sessions will be developed using evidence-based health 
information. Messages delivered through the sessions will be considered as to whether they may impact specific 
religions/beliefs and delivered accordingly.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to offer more sessions in community venues.  There is a perceived 
potential negative impact that use of faith buildings, such as church halls, could prevent some families attending these 
activities.  The mitigation for this is that attendance and take-up of sessions will be closely monitored, and any issues with 
venues will be addressed on a local basis to ensure all families have equal access to activities.

Sex No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Sexual orientation No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

If you have identified negative impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 you 
can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision.

P
age 75



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 14

 By the nature of a review, there may be a perception from service users that services will be cut as a result, this may be of more concern to more vulnerable 
service users who rely on these services for support.  Mitigation for this is that the key messages for the review need to be reinforced as part of the information 
given to the public; that the aims of the review are to improve and redesign services to meet the needs of customers.

 There is a perceived potential negative impact that a single 0-19 health service could result in overstretched and patchy support with a lack of professionals.  The 
mitigation for this is that the 0-19 service will offer clear evidence-based ‘pathways’ of support for children and young people of all ages, delivered by suitably 
trained professionals to meet the needs of families in Lincolnshire.

 There is a perceived potential negative impact that, if the level and quality of support provided by a named health visitor is poor, this could affect families who 
would not see any other health visitors. The mitigation for this is that it would be possible for parents to provide such feedback about their experience of the 
service, and any changes to delivery would be accommodated wherever possible.

 There is a potential impact that, although these are universal services, they will generally only be attended by targeted families if run from children's centres.  
Attendance at sessions will be closely monitored, and where suitable sessions will be made available in community venues as well as children’s centres, based on 
local need.  Children’s centres are, and will continue to be, for all families in Lincolnshire.

 There is a perceived potential negative impact that facilities in community venues might not be as good as those in children's centres, which could impact the 
professionalism, privacy and safety of these activities.  The mitigation for this is that appropriate risk assessments will be carried out before running sessions in a 
community venue and actions taken to ensure they are safe and provide the same quality as that expected of sessions run in children’s centres.

 There is a perceived potential negative impact that group health advice sessions could discourage families, particularly those who may be in most need of these 
services, from attending as they may be anxious about attending and asking questions in a group setting.  The mitigation for this is that families will be able to 
access Health Visitors on a one-to-one basis in a number of ways to ask any specific questions they may have. Group sessions also provide social opportunities for 
families to create their own peer support networks.

 There is a potential perceived negative impact that peer support could weaken the support families receive from health professionals.  However peer supporters 
will themselves be trained and supported by health professionals to ensure consistent and reliable support is provided.  Families will also still be able to access 
Health Visitors if they have concerns.

 There is a potential negative impact that drop-in health clinics would not be beneficial to families due to waiting times and by ‘disempowering’ parents, creating 
dependency and potentially anxious parents unable to make informed judgements.  However, feedback from parents clearly showed a demand for drop-in health 
support.  This will be carefully managed to ensure that it is fit-for-purpose and used where genuine support is required. 

 There is a potential negative impact of an integrated 2-2½ year review; led by a Health Visitor if not in a childcare setting, otherwise only if the setting has a 
health concern.  There are two very distinct aspects to this review, health and education. Health look at this as an assessment and are then best placed to refer to 
specialist services if needed to support the child. If the nursery setting the child is attending completes this review then the health visitor may last see the child at 
8 months of age and this is a huge gap where unmet health needs could manifest. Not all health needs present at an early onset so it is vital a thorough health 
needs assessment is completed by a qualified practitioner at this vulnerable age. Also some families might not inform the education setting of health needs or 
share advice offered by the health visitor and vice versa as they see these as different services. In response to this, Lincolnshire County Council recognises the 
important of this check in identifying health needs.  We will consider this feedback in designing how the 2-2½ year integrated review should work and to ensure a 
robust process is in place for identifying health needs.

P
age 76



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 15

Objective(s) of the EIA consultation/engagement activity

 To identify and understand the impacts, both positive and negative, that planned changes to these services would have on people based on the protected 
characteristics

 To identify and understand any impacts, both positive and negative, that planned changes to these services would have on other groups
 To determine the risk regarding any disadvantage to groups of people, particularly based on the protected characteristics, and look at how this could be reduced 

or avoided
 To engage with professionals and the public, who use these services, if they think they will be impacted, either positively or negatively, by the planned changes
 To make sure that we have considered the impacts the planned changes could have on groups based on the protected characteristics and, where this would 

result in a disadvantage to a particular group, that we have identified ways to avoid or reduce this impact to an acceptable level.

Stakeholders

Stake holders are people or groups who may be directly affected (primary stakeholders) and indirectly affected (secondary stakeholders)

You must evidence here who you involved in gathering your evidence about benefits, adverse impacts and practical steps to mitigate or avoid 
any adverse consequences. You must be confident that any engagement was meaningful. The Community engagement team can help you to 
do this and you can contact them at consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk

State clearly what (if any) consultation or engagement activity took place by stating who you involved when compiling this EIA under the 
protected characteristics. Include organisations you invited and organisations who attended, the date(s) they were involved and method of 
involvement i.e. Equality Impact Analysis workshop/email/telephone conversation/meeting/consultation. State clearly the objectives of the EIA 
consultation and findings from the EIA consultation under each of the protected characteristics. If you have not covered any of the protected 
characteristics please state the reasons why they were not consulted/engaged. 

P
age 77

mailto:consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 16

Age The initial EIA was conducted with a small cohort of review team members, using professional expertise, knowledge of the 
services under review and information from background research, evidence and engagement with public and professionals; 
Charlotte Gray - LCC Children's Services Commissioning Team Manager, Kevin Johnson - LCC Children's Services Senior 
Commissioning Officer, Simon Murphy - LCC Children's Services Commissioning Officer, Marie Jarret - Public Health 
Programme Manager (Children's Health).  The EIA was then updated with impacts identified through online engagement 
questionnaires, which were available to be completed by all children and young people, public and professionals.

Disability See above

Gender reassignment See above.

Marriage and civil partnership See above.

Pregnancy and maternity See above

Race See above.

Who was involved in the EIA consultation/engagement activity? Detail any findings identified by the protected characteristic

P
age 78



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 17

Religion or belief See above.

Sex See above.

Sexual orientation See above.

Are you confident that everyone who 
should have been involved in producing 
this version of the Equality Impact 
Analysis has been involved in a 
meaningful way?
The purpose is to make sure you have got 
the perspective of all the protected 
characteristics.

Yes

Once the changes have been 
implemented how will you undertake 
evaluation of the benefits and how 
effective the actions to reduce adverse 
impacts have been?

A post-project review will be conducted to identify any benefits already achieved.  In addition children's centres are 
monitored monthly against performance indicators relating to take up of services by a wide range of groups, including 
outcomes for targeted/vulnerable families.  New services will be subject to contract management against performance. This 
will involve tracking indicators designed to monitor the effectiveness of these services at meeting people’s needs, including 
feedback and views of service users.

P
age 79



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 18

Are you handling personal data? No

If yes, please give details.

Action Lead officer TimescaleActions required
Include any actions identified in this 
analysis for on-going monitoring of 
impacts.

Signed off by Date 17/08/2016

Further Details

P
age 80



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 1

Equality Impact Analysis to enable informed decisions

The purpose of this document is to:-
I. help decision makers fulfil their duties under the Equality Act 2010 and 

II. for you to evidence  the positive and adverse impacts of the proposed change on people with protected characteristics and ways to 
mitigate or eliminate any adverse impacts.

Using this form
This form must be updated and reviewed as your evidence on a proposal for a project/service change/policy/commissioning of a service or 
decommissioning of a service evolves taking into account any consultation feedback, significant changes to the proposals and data to support 
impacts of proposed changes. The key findings of the most up to date version of the Equality Impact Analysis must be explained in the report 
to the decision maker and the Equality Impact Analysis must be attached to the decision making report.

**Please make sure you read the information below so that you understand what is required under the Equality Act 2010**

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 applies to both our workforce and our customers. Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers are under a personal 
duty, to have due (that is proportionate) regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics. 

Protected characteristics
The protected characteristics under the Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation.

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
Section 149 requires a public authority to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is prohibited by/or under the Act
 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected characteristics and persons who do not share those 

characteristics                                          
 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

P
age 81



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 2

The purpose of Section 149 is to get decision makers to consider the impact their decisions may or will have on those with protected 
characteristics and by evidencing the impacts on people with protected characteristics decision makers should be able to demonstrate 'due 
regard'.

Decision makers duty under the Act
Having had careful regard to the Equality Impact Analysis, and also the consultation responses, decision makers are under a personal duty to 
have due regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics (see above) and to:-    

(i) consider and analyse how the decision is likely to affect those with protected characteristics, in practical terms,
(ii) remove any unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other prohibited conduct,
(iii) consider whether practical steps should be taken to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences that the decision is likely to  have, for 

persons with protected characteristics and, indeed, to consider whether the decision should not be taken at all, in the interests of 
persons with protected characteristics,

(iv)  consider whether steps should be taken to advance equality, foster good relations and generally promote the interests of persons with 
protected characteristics, either by varying the recommended decision or by taking some other decision.

Conducting an Impact Analysis

The Equality Impact Analysis is a process to identify the impact or likely impact a project, proposed service change, commissioning, 
decommissioning or policy will have on people with protected characteristics listed above. It should be considered at  the beginning of the 
decision making process.
 
The Lead Officer responsibility 
This is the person writing the report for the decision maker. It is the responsibility of the Lead Officer to make sure that the Equality Impact 
Analysis is robust and proportionate to the decision being taken.

Summary of findings
You must provide a clear and concise summary of the key findings of this Equality Impact Analysis in the decision making report and attach this 
Equality Impact Analysis to the report.  

P
age 82



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 3

Impact – definition

An impact is an intentional or unintentional lasting consequence or significant change to people's lives brought about by an action or series of 
actions.

How much detail to include? 
The Equality Impact Analysis should be proportionate to the impact of proposed change. In deciding this asking simple questions “Who might 
be affected by this decision?” "Which protected characteristics might be affected?" and “How might they be affected?”  will help you consider 
the extent to which you already have evidence, information and data, and where there are gaps that you will need to explore. Ensure the 
source and date of any existing data is referenced.
You must consider both obvious and any less obvious impacts. Engaging with people with the protected characteristics will help you to identify 
less obvious impacts as these groups share their perspectives with you.

A given proposal may have a positive impact on one or more protected characteristics and have an adverse impact on others. You must 
capture these differences in this form to help decision makers to arrive at a view as to where the balance of advantage or disadvantage lies. If 
an adverse impact is unavoidable then it must be clearly justified and recorded as such, with an explanation as to why no steps can be taken to 
avoid the impact. Consequences must be included.

Proposals for more than one option If more than one option is being proposed you must ensure that the Equality Impact Analysis covers all 
options. Depending on the circumstances, it may be more appropriate to complete an Equality Impact Analysis for each option.

The information you provide in this form must be sufficient to allow the decision maker to fulfil their role as above. You must include 
the latest version of the Equality Impact Analysis with the report to the decision maker. Please be aware that the information in this 

form must be able to stand up to legal challenge.

P
age 83



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 4

Title of the policy / project / service 
being considered 

Early Years and Children’s Health 
Services – Emotional Wellbeing and 6-19 
Health Services

Person / people completing analysis v2.0 Kevin Johnson

Service Area Children’s Services Strategic 
Commissioning Team

Lead Officer Charlotte Gray

Who is the decision maker? Executive How was the Equality Impact Analysis 
undertaken?

v2.0  Internal review team workshop 
exercise and engagement feedback from 
public and professionals

Date of meeting when decision will 
be made

01/11/2016 Version control v2.0

Is this proposed change to an 
existing policy/service/project or is 
it new?

Existing policy/service/project LCC directly delivered, commissioned, 
re-commissioned or de-
commissioned?

Re-commissioned

Describe the proposed change We are reviewing the early childhood and children's health services offered to all children, young people and their families. This 
includes Health Visiting, Antenatal Weight Management, School Nursing and services linked to Children’s Centres.  We must 
review what is provided to families in Lincolnshire to ensure good quality, effective and efficient support. This Equality Impact 
Assessment focuses on services for school-aged children and young people (up to 25 for those with Special Educational Needs or 
Disabilities)

The key changes for school-aged children and young people (up to 25 for those with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities) are:
 Instead of a separate Health Visiting and School Nursing service these services will be combined into a single health 

service for young people from 0-19 (up to 25 for those with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities) although staff will 
work with specific age groups based on their training 

 Staff that currently work with children aged 0-5 in the Health Visiting service will also cover children up to the end of 
Reception year instead of transferring them to the School Nursing Service

 No hearing screening in Reception Year for all children
 No anaphylaxis presentation for all schools
 No drop in sessions in schools 

Background Information

P
age 84



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 5

 No presentation to all school pupils in Year 7
 Health needs assessment will not be for all school children in Reception and Year 7 but will be done as needed where 

there is a possible health issue that may need extra support
 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to children, young people and families that need extra support but 

may not meet the criteria to access other specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
 An enhanced countywide sexual health and relationship service will be available for young people

P
age 85



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 6

Evidencing the impacts
In this section you will explain the difference that proposed changes are likely to make on people with protected characteristics.
To help you do this  first consider the impacts the proposed changes may have on people without protected characteristics before then 
considering the impacts the proposed changes may have on people with protected characteristics.

You must evidence here who will benefit and how they will benefit. If there are no benefits that you can identify please state 'No 
perceived benefit' under the relevant protected characteristic. You can add sub categories under the protected characteristics to make 
clear the impacts. For example under Age you may have considered the impact on 0-5 year olds or people aged 65 and over, under 
Race you may have considered Eastern European migrants, under Sex you may have considered specific impacts on men.

Data to support impacts of proposed changes 
When considering the equality impact of a decision it is important to know who the people are that will be affected by any change.

Population data and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
The Lincolnshire Research Observatory (LRO) holds a range of population data by the protected characteristics. This can help put a 
decision into context. Visit the LRO website and its population theme page by following this link: http://www.research-lincs.org.uk  If you 
cannot find what you are looking for, or need more information, please contact the LRO team. You will also find information about the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on the LRO website.

Workforce profiles
You can obtain information by many of the protected characteristics for the Council's workforce and comparisons with the labour market 
on the Council's website.  As of 1st April 2015, managers can obtain workforce profile data by the protected characteristics for their 
specific areas using Agresso.

P
age 86

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/community-and-living/equality-and-diversity/a-strategic-approach-equality-and-diversity/valuing-our-workforce/community-and-workforce-statistics/52342.article


Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 7

Age Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 Staff that currently work with children aged 0-5 in the Health Visiting service will also cover children up to the end 
of Reception year instead of transferring them to the School Nursing Service

o Evidence from our engagement suggests people felt that the transition to Reception year at school is one 
of the most important times for children's health support. Increasing Health Visiting support to the end of 
Reception year will mean that families have greater consistency during this transition period, particularly 
vulnerable families that may have had a named Health Visitor since before birth. The service will work 
with schools to help them support families that may need extra support during the transition to school.

 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
o Evidence from the engagement survey suggests that both parents and professionals feel that emotional 

and mental health support is one of the most important areas for children and young people but also that 
there are currently some gaps in services.

o The online approach to providing advice and support has already proven successful with Lincolnshire 
young people. The aim is to increase the offer to young people and broaden the types of concerns they 
can receive support with.

These changes are identified as having potential positive impacts for children and young people, particularly those in 
Reception year and those aged 11-19, and their families.

Disability Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to children, young people and families that need extra support 

but may not meet the criteria to access specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
o Evidence from the engagement survey suggests that both parents and professionals feel that emotional 

and mental health support is one of the most important areas for children and young people but also that 
there are currently some gaps in services.

o The online approach to providing advice and support has already proven successful with Lincolnshire 
young people. The aim is to increase the offer to young people and broaden the types of concerns they 
can receive support with.

These changes are identified as having potential positive impacts for children and young people, who may have a 
disability, to access advice and support. 

Positive impacts
The proposed change may have the following positive impacts on persons with protected characteristics – If no positive impact, please state 'no 
positive impact'.

P
age 87



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 8

Having a single 0-19 health service (up to 25 for those with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities), a named Health 
Visitor up until 6-8 weeks or longer for those with additional needs, and extending Health Visiting until the end of 
Reception year  could all have a positive impact on providing greater continuity of care, particularly for children and young 
people with a special educational need or disability.

Gender reassignment Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to children, young people and families that need extra support 

but may not meet the criteria to access other specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services

o Evidence from the engagement survey suggests that both parents and professionals feel that emotional 
and mental health support is one of the most important areas for children and young people but also that 
there are currently some gaps in services.

o The online approach to providing advice and support has already proven successful with Lincolnshire 
young people. The aim is to increase the offer to young people and broaden the types of concerns they 
can receive support with.

This change is identified as having potential positive impacts for children and young people, who may be curious about 
gender reassignment, to access confidential advice and support. 

Marriage and civil partnership No potential positive impacts currently identified.

Pregnancy and maternity No potential positive impacts currently identified.

Race Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to children, young people and families that need extra support 

but may not meet the criteria to access other specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services

o Evidence from the engagement survey suggests that both parents and professionals feel that emotional 
and mental health support is one of the most important areas for children and young people but also that 
there are currently some gaps in services.

o The online approach to providing advice and support has already proven successful with Lincolnshire 

P
age 88



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 9

young people. The aim is to increase the offer to young people and broaden the types of concerns they 
can receive support with.

This change is identified as having potential positive impacts for children and young people, who may be curious about or 
affected by racial issues, to access confidential advice and support.

Religion or belief Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to children, young people and families that need extra support 

but may not meet the criteria to access other specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services

o Evidence from the engagement survey suggests that both parents and professionals feel that emotional 
and mental health support is one of the most important areas for children and young people but also that 
there are currently some gaps in services.

o The online approach to providing advice and support has already proven successful with Lincolnshire 
young people. The aim is to increase the offer to young people and broaden the types of concerns they 
can receive support with.

This change is identified as having potential positive impacts for children and young people, who may be curious about or 
affected by religious or belief issues, to access confidential advice and support.

Sex Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to children, young people and families that need extra support 

but may not meet the criteria to access other specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services

o Evidence from the engagement survey suggests that both parents and professionals feel that emotional 
and mental health support is one of the most important areas for children and young people but also that 
there are currently some gaps in services.

o The online approach to providing advice and support has already proven successful with Lincolnshire 
young people. The aim is to increase the offer to young people and broaden the types of concerns they 
can receive support with.

This change is identified as having potential positive impacts for children and young people, who may be curious about or 
affected by sexual discrimination, to access confidential advice and support

Sexual orientation Potential positive impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 An enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age
 A new emotional wellbeing service will be available to children, young people and families that need extra support 

P
age 89



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 10

but may not meet the criteria to access other specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services

o Evidence from the engagement survey suggests that both parents and professionals feel that emotional 
and mental health support is one of the most important areas for children and young people but also that 
there are currently some gaps in services.

o The online approach to providing advice and support has already proven successful with Lincolnshire 
young people. The aim is to increase the offer to young people and broaden the types of concerns they 
can receive support with.

This change is identified as having potential positive impacts for children and young people, who may be curious about 
sexual orientation, to access confidential advice and support.

If you have identified positive impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics in the Equality Act 
2010 you can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision.

 There is potentially a positive impact for all children and young people that access to more specialist support will be better than the more general health advice 
and support currently provided.

 There is potentially a positive impact that more emotional wellbeing advice and support for children and their families will support them better with issues such 
as bullying and anxiety.

 There is potentially a positive impact for children and young people who most need help and support but wouldn’t necessarily ask for it via an assessment 
questionnaire.

 There is potentially a positive impact for all school aged children to have equal opportunities for access to sexual health services across the county.
 A new mental health service promoting good mental health in schools and offering individual support where needed could have a positive impact on young 

people and their families who need good, evidenced support, such as face-to-face group meetings, which raise awareness of self-esteem and positive mental 
health.  It could also have a positive impact for all young people and their families by improving access to specialist support beyond what school nurses can offer.

 Making more health information available online would have a positive impact by making it easier to find information and access support.
 Offering anaphylaxis training to schools only as and when needed could have a positive impact by ensuring it is timely, for example when new children start or 

with changes in staffing.

P
age 90



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 11

Age Potential perceived adverse impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes that:

 Staff currently working with children aged 0-5 in the Health Visiting service will also cover children up to the end of 
Reception year instead of transferring them to the School Nursing Service. Health needs assessment will not be 
carried out for all school children in Reception and Year 7 but will be done as needed where there is a possible 
health issue that may need extra support.

o Evidence from the engagement questionnaire suggests that people feel the transition to Reception and 
first year at primary school is one of the most important times for children's health support. Anecdotally 
although health needs assessments are currently available for completion for all children and young 
people in Reception and Year 7 return rates have not been significantly high. The impact of this change is 
that instead of a one-off health needs assessment undertaken by a new service (previously School 
Nursing), children at Reception age will have been continually supported from birth to the end of 
Reception year and have their needs assessed throughout, particularly if there are any specific concerns. 
Most families take their children to their GP if there are any physical health concerns and GPs will still be 
able to refer to School Nursing if they feel a health needs assessment is needed.  Similarly Teachers, other 
professionals, parents/carers and young people can request/complete a health needs assessment at any 
time if they have any concerns and not just at either Reception or Year 7.

o Continued Health Visiting support until end of Reception Year will mitigate no longer carrying out a 
universal health needs assessment.  Any health needs should already be known and the Health Visitor can 
work with the school during the first year to make sure any additional needs are catered for, or 
assessments can be carried out as required if there are any concerns.  Health Visitors can continue to 
advise and encourage parents and children to attend a vision screening for amblyopia at age 4-5.

Negative impacts of the proposed change and practical steps to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences on people with 
protected characteristics are detailed below. If you have not identified any mitigating action to reduce an adverse impact please 
state 'No mitigating action identified'.

Adverse/negative impacts 
You must evidence how people with protected characteristics will be adversely impacted and any proposed mitigation to reduce or eliminate 
adverse impacts. An adverse impact causes disadvantage or exclusion. If such an impact is identified please state how, as far as possible, it is 
justified; eliminated; minimised or counter balanced by other measures. 
If there are no adverse impacts that you can identify please state 'No perceived adverse impact' under the relevant protected characteristic.

P
age 91



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 12

 No longer continue the hearing screening carried out by School Nurses in Reception year. 
o Evidence from the engagement questionnaire suggests that people feel the transition to Reception and 

first year at primary school is one of the most important times for children's health support.  Responses to 
the engagement questionnaire from professionals did not identify hearing checks as an important part of 
the service.

o All children currently entering Reception year should have had access to new-born hearing screening 
which is very successful at identifying very early if a child may have any hearing concerns. Likewise other 
checks carried out by Health Visiting earlier in childhood can help identify if a child may have hearing 
concerns. The impact of this is if a child arrives in Reception and it is felt that they may have an 
undiagnosed hearing concern then it will be recommended that they access their GP who can then 
arrange a referral for specialist screening as appropriate.

 No anaphylaxis presentation for all schools
o The impact of this could be that schools are not trained every year to manage anaphylaxis.
o To mitigate this, anaphylaxis training will still be available on a case by case basis. If a school identifies that 

they need to have training they will be able to request this directly. 
 No longer continue the presentation carried out by School Nurses in Year 7 (ages 11-12). 

o The impact of this could be that young people might not know what health services are available to them 
and how to them.  

o To mitigate this any services that are commissioned for school aged children will be required to promote 
and advertise in schools and to school aged children the services that are available. There will also need to 
be a clear route for schools staff to refer children and young people to the nurses working in the single 0-
19 health service and other health services as appropriate, or take concerns through the Early Help 
assessment route.

 No longer continue drop-in clinics in secondary schools carried out by School Nurses.  An enhanced online advice 
and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age

o The impact of this is that children might not know how to access health services and might not be able to 
access online services. 

o Drop in sessions are not currently regularly delivered in all schools and often if children and young people 
need advice and support they have to wait until the next available drop in session in their school.

o To mitigate this, an enhanced online advice and counselling service will be available for secondary school 
age children for extended hours including evenings and weekends where they can access direct support 
immediately or book appointments at a time to suit them. If face to face services are needed a referral can 
be supported. For primary school aged children there will   need to be a clear route for schools staff to 
refer children and young people to the nurses working in the single 0-19 health service and other health 
services as appropriate, or take concerns through the Early Help assessment route. Any services that are 
commissioned for school aged children will be required to promote and advertise in schools and to school 
aged children the services that are available. 

P
age 92



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 13

 No longer have School Nurses delivering sexual health services in schools.  An enhanced countywide sexual health 
and relationship service will be available for young people

o Lincolnshire County Council already has a wider contract for sexual health services, which offers sexual 
health support and advice to young people from age 13 onwards.

o The impact is that routes for children to access this support may change.
o To mitigate this we will work with Public Health to extend the wider Sexual Health contract for all school-

aged children and young people, as part of this there will need to be clear communications and 
advertisement to young people for how to access these services.  

These changes are all identified as potentially having perceived negative impacts for school-aged children and young 
people and their families.

Disability Potential perceived adverse impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to:

 No longer continue drop-in clinics in secondary schools carried out by School Nurses.  An enhanced online advice 
and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age

o There is potentially a negative impact on children with additional needs, who might not be able to access 
online services.  Particularly autistic children as they don't often say things are bad until crisis and might 
not be able to access online services or the information available online. 

o Drop in sessions are not currently regularly delivered in all schools and often if children and young people 
need advice and support they have to wait until the next available drop in session in their school.

o To mitigate this, if face to face services are needed a referral can be supported. For primary school aged 
children there will   need to be a clear route for schools staff to refer children and young people to the 
nurses working in the single 0-19 health service, or take concerns through the Early Help assessment 
route. 

Gender reassignment No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Marriage and civil partnership No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Pregnancy and maternity No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

P
age 93



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 14

Race No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Religion or belief No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

Sex Potential perceived adverse impacts identified.
The model developed as part of the review proposes to:

 No longer continue drop-in clinics in secondary schools carried out by School Nurses.  An enhanced online advice 
and counselling service will be available for children from secondary school age

o There is potentially a negative impact that boys in particular may be more reluctant to seek help without 
having access to drop-in sessions.

o Drop in sessions are not currently regularly delivered in all schools and often if children and young people 
need advice and support they have to wait until the next available drop in session in their school.

o To mitigate this, online advice and confidential counselling support will be available.  Any services that are 
commissioned for school aged children will be required to promote and advertise in schools and to all 
school aged children the services that are available.

Sexual orientation No potential perceived adverse impacts currently identified.

If you have identified negative impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 you 
can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision.

P
age 94



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 15

 There is potentially a negative impact on children and young people in rural areas, who may find it difficult to access confidential face-to-face services outside the 
school setting without the school nurse drop-in sessions.  Mitigation for this is that enhanced online advice and counselling will be available, along with bookable 
sessions where required for health or emotional wellbeing support.

 There is potentially a negative impact on all children and young people that without general information sessions they will not know who and what services are 
available.  To mitigate this any services that are commissioned for school aged children will be required to promote and advertise in schools and to all school 
aged children the services that are available.

 There is potentially a negative impact on all children and young people due to the reduction of school nursing support. School nurses support health and 
wellbeing, ranging from safeguarding children to offering support around issues that other services do not cover.  School nurses are also trained to a high level of 
child protection; they identify and deal with these sorts of issues, even if a child sees them about something unrelated. The mitigation for this is that a clear 
evidence-based ‘pathway’ for all children and families from 0-19 will be available. This single 0-19 health service will include staff with specialist expertise 
covering all age groups.  Other specialist services will also be available to support children, such as a new emotional wellbeing service and sexual health services.

 There is potentially a negative impact of issues not being identified without universal screening.  Parents may not know they have to ask and it could make them 
feel a nuisance if they do. Delays in diagnosis for some children could impact on their education in the early years, particularly if issues develop after starting 
school. Mitigation for this is that any professionals who have health concerns about a child, such as a teacher, could request a health assessment for the 
individual from the 0-19 health service.

 There is potentially a negative impact for children aged 6-19 if they have developed hearing issues – such as glue ear or resulting from ear infections – and these 
are not identified by parents.  This could impact on their learning and achievement in school.  The mitigation for this is that schools can raise any concerns related 
to hearing or other health issues and arrange assessment based on individual need from the single 0-19 health service.

 There is potentially a negative impact for more vulnerable children whose parents might not take them to the GP. Mitigation for this is that any health concerns 
could be raised to the 0-19 health service by schools or other professionals who may have contact with children.

 There is potentially a negative impact if GPs are unable to undertake hearing assessments, or parents cannot get an appointment.  If they cannot refer to a school 
nurse they may be unwilling to refer to audiology.  Mitigation for this is that parents or professionals would be able to request a hearing assessment from the 0-
19 service if they have concerns about a child’s hearing.

 There is potentially a negative impact for children and young people who may be more familiar and comfortable with a school nurse, that they may not access a 
more specialist service where they would not have had any chance to build a relationship and trust with them.  Unfortunately this level of support is not offered 
consistently around the county, however all services will be provided by trained professionals with expertise in supporting children and young people.

 There is potentially a negative impact on children who would benefit more from face-to-face support. There is a potential to hide and mask feelings behind a 
computer, which could make any safeguarding issues more difficult to assess online.  The mitigation for this is that, where children or professionals would prefer 
face-to-face support, this will be available on request.  In addition, there is a clear evidence base that children like this medium to access support and online 
counsellors are specially trained to be able to understand, support and encourage young people to fully disclose any emotional problems online.

 Stopping drop-in clinics in school could reduce availability, confidentiality and face-to-face support.  However, there is a clear evidence base that children like 
accessing support online and bookable appointments will be available where young people would prefer this type of support. 

 There is a perceived potential negative impact that these changes would mean a loss of highly trained professionals and reliance on already stretched mental 
health services.  The mitigation for this is that a new emotional wellbeing service would meet a gap in what is available for young people who do not meet 
thresholds for other services, such as CAMHS.

 There is a perceived potential negative impact that more reliance on online services could affect children who do not have access to the internet at home.  The 
mitigation for this is that bookable appointments will be available for health or emotional wellbeing support where needed.

P
age 95



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 16

P
age 96



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 17

Objective(s) of the EIA consultation/engagement activity

 To identify and understand the impacts, both positive and negative, that planned changes to these services would have on people based on the protected 
characteristics

 To identify and understand any impacts, both positive and negative, that planned changes to these services would have on other groups
 To determine the risk regarding any disadvantage to groups of people, particularly based on the protected characteristics, and look at how this could be reduced 

or avoided
 To engage with professionals and the public, who use these services, if they think they will be impacted, either positively or negatively, by the planned changes
 To make sure that we have considered the impacts the planned changes could have on groups based on the protected characteristics and, where this would 

result in a disadvantage to a particular group, that we have identified ways to avoid or reduce this impact to an acceptable level.

Stakeholders

Stake holders are people or groups who may be directly affected (primary stakeholders) and indirectly affected (secondary stakeholders)

You must evidence here who you involved in gathering your evidence about benefits, adverse impacts and practical steps to mitigate or avoid 
any adverse consequences. You must be confident that any engagement was meaningful. The Community engagement team can help you to 
do this and you can contact them at consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk

State clearly what (if any) consultation or engagement activity took place by stating who you involved when compiling this EIA under the 
protected characteristics. Include organisations you invited and organisations who attended, the date(s) they were involved and method of 
involvement i.e. Equality Impact Analysis workshop/email/telephone conversation/meeting/consultation. State clearly the objectives of the EIA 
consultation and findings from the EIA consultation under each of the protected characteristics. If you have not covered any of the protected 
characteristics please state the reasons why they were not consulted/engaged. 

P
age 97

mailto:consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 18

Age The initial EIA was conducted with a small cohort of review team members, using professional expertise, knowledge of the 
services under review and information from background research, evidence and engagement with public and professionals; 
Charlotte Gray - LCC Children's Services Commissioning Team Manager, Kevin Johnson - LCC Children's Services Senior 
Commissioning Officer, Simon Murphy - LCC Children's Services Commissioning Officer, Joanne Fox - LCC Children's Services 
Commissioning Officer, Marie Jarret - Public Health Programme Manager (Children's Health).  The EIA was then updated with 
impacts identified through online engagement questionnaires, which were available to be completed by all children and 
young people, public and professionals.

Disability See above

Gender reassignment See above

Marriage and civil partnership See above

Pregnancy and maternity See above

Race See above

Who was involved in the EIA consultation/engagement activity? Detail any findings identified by the protected characteristic

P
age 98



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 19

Religion or belief See above

Sex See above

Sexual orientation See above

Are you confident that everyone who 
should have been involved in producing 
this version of the Equality Impact 
Analysis has been involved in a 
meaningful way?
The purpose is to make sure you have got 
the perspective of all the protected 
characteristics.

Yes

Once the changes have been 
implemented how will you undertake 
evaluation of the benefits and how 
effective the actions to reduce adverse 
impacts have been?

A post-project review will be conducted to identify any benefits already achieved.  New services will be subject to contract 
management against performance. This will involve tracking indicators designed to monitor the effectiveness of these 
services at meeting people’s needs, including feedback and views of service users.

P
age 99



Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12 20

Are you handling personal data? No

If yes, please give details.

Action Lead officer TimescaleActions required
Include any actions identified in this 
analysis for on-going monitoring of 
impacts.

Signed off by Date 17/08/2016

Further Details

P
age 100



 

  
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 21 October 2016 

Subject: 
Schools that work for everyone – Government 
consultation 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report is a summary of the key proposals in the consultation document 
'Schools that work for everyone' (Published by the Department for Education 
(DfE) 12 September 2016) and includes a proposed response to the consultation 
for the Committee to consider and comment upon. The consultation closes on the 
12 December 2016. 
 

 

Actions Required: 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to receive this 
report and consider and comment on the proposed response to the consultation 
document. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
1.25 million children in England attend schools that are not yet good. At the same 
time demographic pressures are increasing; primary pupil numbers grew by 11% 
between 2010 and 2016 and are projected to increase by a further 4% (that is 
174,000 more pupils) between 2016 and 2020. Secondary pupil numbers are 
projected to increase by 10% (that is 284,000 more pupils) between 2016 and 
2020. 
 
In order to address these issues the government has produced a consultation 
which proposes a threefold approach:-  

1) Increasing the number of good schools places available to all families 
2) Giving schools with a strong track record the “right incentives” to expand 

their offer to more pupils. 
3) Delivering a “diverse school system”. 

 
The consultation identifies four institutions for which creating new school places or 
improving existing schools is either not incentivised or is actively prohibited by 
current regulations. Those institutions are: independent schools; universities; 
selective schools; and faith schools. The document goes on to propose a series of 
reforms to encourage these institutions to help improve the quality of school places 

Page 101

Agenda Item 5



 

in the mainstream state sector. Underpinning the proposed reforms is the intention 
of making the benefits these institutions enjoy conditional upon them doing more to 
drive up the quality of schools locally or increasing the number of good school 
places in the system.  It is proposed that this could be achieved by partnering with 
existing schools or setting up new state schools.  
 
The benefits enjoyed by these four institutions are described as follows:  

 Independent schools have the benefits conferred by charitable status,  

 Universities are able to charge higher tuition fees (above £6,000 p.a. if 
they agree Access Arrangement with the Director of Fair Access) on 
condition they widen access to lower income students,  

 Selective schools have the benefit of being able to select a proportion or 
all of their intakes on the basis of academic ability, 

 Faith schools have the benefit of being able to prioritise the admission of 
children from their faith when they are over-subscribed. Voluntary-aided 
faith schools benefit from being able to select up to 100% of pupils on 
the basis of faith.  

 
It is also worth noting that the green paper re-affirms the government’s ambition 
that all schools ultimately benefit from the autonomy and freedom to innovate and 
to meet the needs of their community that academy status brings.  

 
Families who are just about managing  
 
The reforms proposed in the document are aimed at children from low income 
families (eligibility for free school meals - FSMs) and children from "families who 
are just about managing” (falling just above the eligibility threshold for FSMs). The 
document claims that children from these "families who are just about managing" 
are not necessarily well-served by the education system. 
 
A child is eligible for Free School Meals (FSMs) if their family is in receipt of 
income-related benefits and income is not above £16,190 per annum. In January 
2016, 14.3% of pupils were eligible for FSMs.  Schools receive Pupil Premium for 
these pupils and any pupil eligible for FSMs in the last six years. 
 
This consultation states that the government wants to develop a way to identify 
"families who are just about managing” and measure their attainment and progress 
in the school system.  

 
Independent schools  
 
There are currently 2,300 independent schools in England, educating 425,000 
pupils aged 5-15 outside the state system. Approximately half these schools are 
registered with the Charity Commission as charities and must therefore 
demonstrate that they meet the ‘public benefit’ rules which state; 
 
Those with the “capacity and capability” should either  

 Sponsor academies or set up new free schools in the state sector 
(capital and revenue costs would be met by the government).  There is 

Page 102



 

a clear expectation that these schools would be judged good or 
outstanding within a certain number of years.  Or,  

 Offer a certain proportion of places as fully funded bursaries. (The 
number of places funded in this way would have to be considerably 
higher than that offered currently). 

 
The proposed sanction is that the government will consider a change to the Charity 
Commission’s guidance to independent schools on how to meet the public benefit 
test, stripping those not meeting expectations of the status. 
 
It is noted that smaller independent schools which may not have the capacity or 
capability to meet the expectations will be expected to play a role in improving 
schools in the state sector by doing one or more of the following; 

 Provide direct school-to-school support with state schools (possibly by joining 
Teaching School Alliances),  

 Support teaching in “minority” subjects (e.g. further maths, coding, some 
languages and classics),  

 Senior leaders become Directors of Multi Academy Trusts (MATs),  

 Provide access to their facilities (e.g. labs, drama, sports),  

 Provide sixth form scholarships to a proportion of pupils in Year 11 at local 
schools.  

 
Universities 
 
Universities wishing to charge the higher rate fees will be expected to do one of the 
following two things; 

 Establish a new school in the state system (capital and revenue costs met by 
government). Or,  

 Sponsor an academy.  
 

In both cases, the school would be expected to be good or outstanding within a 
certain number of years. 

 
The proposed sanction if they do not either of the above, is that the Director of Fair 
Access could refuse to renew an Access Agreement, meaning that the university 
could not charge tuition fees at the higher level (above £6,000). Legislation in a 
future Parliamentary session may be brought to require sponsorship of a school. 
 
The government intends to implement this reform immediately by setting out new 
guidance to the Director for Fair Access in early 2017 in time for inclusion in the 
Director for Fair Access’s own guidance to universities for access agreements that 
come into force for 2018/19.  

 
Selective schools  
 
There are 163 grammar schools in England educating around 166,000 secondary 
pupils. Ten LAs have wholly selective education systems and a further 26 LAs 
have one or more grammar schools in their area.  The 1998 School Standards and 
Frameworks Act prohibits the establishment of new selective schools and prevents 
existing non-selective schools from becoming selective. Existing grammar schools 

Page 103



 

can expand in annexes or satellite sites providing that the offer to pupils on the 
separate sites is fully integrated with the teaching and learning in the rest of the 
school. 
 
The consultation briefly acknowledges that there is some evidence that children 
who attend non-selective schools in selective areas may not fare as well 
academically – both compared to local selective schools and comprehensives in 
non-selective areas. Some studies go further and suggest that the poorer 
educational consequences might be equivalent to one GCSE grade point. The 
consultation also acknowledges the very small proportion of children eligible for 
FSMs attending selective schools (2.5% compared to 13.2% for all state funded 
schools).  
 
The proposed reforms will allow:  

 The expansion of existing selective schools  

 Establishment of new selective schools 

 Permitting non-selective schools to become selective  
 
The conditions on new or expanding selective schools may vary but will be drawn 
from the following menu of options:  

 Take a proportion of pupils from lower income households  

 Establish a new non-selective secondary schools (capital and revenue costs 
paid by government)  

 Establish a primary feeder in an area with high density of lower income 
households (capital and revenue costs paid by government)  

 Partner with existing non-selective schools within a MAT or sponsor an 
under-performing, non-selective academy  

 Ensure there are opportunities to join the selective school at different ages 
e.g. 14 and 16 not just age 11  

 
It is proposed that all of the above would be monitored through the work of 
Regional School Commissioners (RSCs) and the Education Funding Agency (EFA) 
and existing data collections.  
 
The proposed sanctions that the government will consider entail:  

 Removing access to any additional funding streams (for new pupils or 
programmes)  

 Remove the right to select by academic ability (temporarily or permanently)  

 Restrict access to future growth (by barring expansion)  
 

Proposers of new selective schools would be expected to work with the relevant 
local authorities, RSC or central government as appropriate in considering where 
best to locate a new selective school. The location of new selective schools would 
be in areas where there is local demand and a need for additional good schools 
places.   
 
Existing selective schools must do more to support children in non-selective 
schools by doing the following:  

Page 104



 

 Encourage MATs to select within their trust. (This is already permissible 
because pupils are identified as ‘most able’ after they have been 
admitted through a non-selective admissions process.) This may be 
done by establishing a single centre in which to educate their ‘most able’ 
pupils  

 Require existing selective schools to engage in outreach activity (including 
financial support for transport and uniforms for lower income households in 
order to ‘remove the barriers’ to them to considering a selective education 
for their child)  

 Fair admissions and access – ensuring the pupils admitted are 
representative of their local communities. Legislation would require selective 
schools to prioritise the admission of, or set aside a number of specific 
places for, pupils of lower household income in their oversubscription 
criteria. The School Admissions Code of December 2014 already makes this 
a possibility for all schools but the pace at which selective schools are 
ensuring fair access needs to be increased.  

 
Faith schools  
 
There are 7,000 faith schools (67% Church of England; 29% Catholic). The “vast 
majority” of which are high-performing although there is no analysis of why.  The 
consultation questions the effectiveness of capping faith admissions which was 
introduced in order to support inclusivity and tolerance. (A faith-based 
oversubscription criterion can only be applied to first 50% of places.) 
 
The proposed reforms see the cap replaced with a series of strengthened 
safeguards to promote inclusivity, thereby allowing up to 100% faith-based 
admissions. These safeguards would be written into funding agreements, and 
inspected by Ofsted. 
 
The paper states that new faith Free Schools could be opened if; 

 There is proof that parents of other faiths would be happy to send their 
children there (demonstrated via local consultation and signatures)  

 They establish twinning arrangements with other schools not of their faith  

 They consider setting up mixed-faith MATs, including becoming a sponsor 
for under-performing non-faith schools  

 They consider placing an independent member/director who is of a different 
faith (or no faith) on the governing body of new faith Free Schools.  

 
The proposed sanction if these conditions were not met would mean that the 
school would lose the right to admit on the basis of faith and become a non-faith 
school.  
 
2. Conclusion 

 
'Schools that work for everyone' proposes a number of changes to the education 
system. The premise of this proposal is to increase and spread best practice, 
develop greater places and capacity within the system for anticipated need in the 
future, and ensure disadvantaged pupils are treated with greater equity in the 
secondary education system.   

Page 105



 

 
Although, specific impact analysis is difficult to predict, the proposals merit careful 
consideration within the educational agenda of Lincolnshire and the impact this 
may have on communities. Appendix A is a draft response to the consultation to be 
discussed and amended as appropriate. 
 
3. Consultation 

The DfE consultation period ends on the 12 December 2016 and the specific 
departmental contact details are held within this document. 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

n/a 

 
4. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A School That Work For Everyone: Proposed Consultation 
Response 
 

 
 
5. Background Papers 
 
The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 
were relied upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Document 
title 

Where the document can be viewed 

Schools 
that work 
for 
everyone 

https://consult.education.gov.uk/school-frameworks/schools-that-work-
for-
everyone/supporting_documents/SCHOOLS%20THAT%20WORK%20
FOR%20EVERYONE%20%20FINAL.pdf 
 

 
 
This report was written by Martin Smith, who can be contacted on 01522 552253 or 
martin.smith@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106

https://consult.education.gov.uk/school-frameworks/schools-that-work-for-everyone/supporting_documents/SCHOOLS%20THAT%20WORK%20FOR%20EVERYONE%20%20FINAL.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/school-frameworks/schools-that-work-for-everyone/supporting_documents/SCHOOLS%20THAT%20WORK%20FOR%20EVERYONE%20%20FINAL.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/school-frameworks/schools-that-work-for-everyone/supporting_documents/SCHOOLS%20THAT%20WORK%20FOR%20EVERYONE%20%20FINAL.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/school-frameworks/schools-that-work-for-everyone/supporting_documents/SCHOOLS%20THAT%20WORK%20FOR%20EVERYONE%20%20FINAL.pdf
mailto:martin.smith@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

School that work for everyone – consultation response.

5 How can we better understand the impact of policy on a wider cohort of 
pupils whose life chances are profoundly affected by school but who may not 
qualify or apply for free school meals?

Many schools in areas of higher deprivation do also have a significant number of 
families who are just about managing.  Those children are often those who struggle 
to afford to pay additional learning experiences and participate in broader social 
activities within their communities. Understanding the interconnection of a range of 
policies on these particular families is essential. 

The pupil premium gap is a helpful measure to understand the impact of policy on 
those living in economic disadvantage, but this is only one vulnerable group. To 
better understand impact on policy on those who may not qualify for free school 
meals the government should also measure the educational progress on the 
following cohorts: 

 Pupils with special educational needs and or a disability 
 Children who are considered and assessed by the Local Authority to be 

children in need 
 Young people who  are not accessing 25 hours education 

We are sure that there are additional vulnerable families where additional measures, 
targeting educational progress measures could be helpful to understand the impact 
on policy.

6 How can we identify them?

The Government currently uses the Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 
(IDACI) which is a supplementary index of the English Indices of Deprivation 2015. It 
is a measure of the proportion of children (aged 0 to 15) living in income deprived 
families.

Income deprived families are defined as families that receive: 

 Income Support; or
 income-based Jobseekers Allowance; or
 income-based Employment and Support Allowance; or
 Pension Credit (Guarantee); or
 Working Tax Credit or Child Tax Credit with an equivalised income (excluding 

housing benefit) below 60 per cent of the national median before housing 
costs

It is recommended that this score is used to identify families who are just about 
managing. 

Page 107



7 What contribution could the biggest and most successful independent 
schools make to the state school system?

Independent schools can support the state system in a number of ways, if the school 
has the skills and capacity and willingness to do so. They should highlight and 
promote the ways in which they already contribute to the sector.  They should work 
in partnership with local schools and participate in local networks of support.  They 
should deliver extra curriculum activities including master classes to their wider 
communities and ensure that their facilities are able to be accessed by the wider 
community. 

We would like to see independent schools to consider their arrangements for 
admissions and publicise any scholarships they have available to local schools and 
families so that they can consider this as an option and offer sponsorship to 
vulnerable pupils including looked after children. We believe that independent 
schools should offer sponsorships so that cohorts within the school have greater 
diversity and in turn offer further social mobility. They should also offer specialist 
teachers in subject shortage areas to provide high quality teaching and/or training to 
mainstream schools.  

8 Are there other ways in which independent schools can support more good 
school places and help children of all backgrounds to succeed?

Yes - all schools have a unique contribution to make towards sector led 
improvement. As above, independent schools can provide additionality to their 
community and to other schools. The independent sector could support more good 
places and help children of all backgrounds to succeed if they have the skills, 
capacity and the right ethos to do this. This is highly individual and subject to 
individual leadership and governance arrangements at school level. 

There is nothing to suggest that the sector does not have this level of skill, capability 
or capacity but the consultation does not say how the government intends to assess 
this. This must be clear and must be robust. Allowing independent schools to set up 
new schools or to grow to meet demand of new school places without a robust 
assessment of capability may lead to fewer pupils having a good education. 

9 Are these the right expectations to apply to all independent schools to 
ensure they do more to improve state education locally?

No - the skills required in the diverse state schools are much broader than those in 
independent schools. Reassurances would need to be gained to ensure that 
independent schools have the knowledge, capacity and ability to deal with greater 
needs within the larger system of early help for vulnerable pupils. 

There would also need to be an assessment of appropriateness, to ensure the 
partnership between independent and others schools is the correct one, enabling all 
learners to thrive. 

Page 108



Consideration should also be given to what the focus of the relationship is. We are 
not confident that all Independent Schools have the knowledge and expertise to 
provide leadership and management across a national curriculum that they do not 
necessarily follow themselves.  Certainly, the Independent Schools Conference in 
early October 2016 has heard a variety of concerns come from the Independent 
sector itself which would provide an early indicator of their position and ability to offer 
the proposal currently.  

The mechanism for identifying and matching schools needs to be a sophisticated 
one that works clearly for outcomes for learners. We are already seeing the impact 
when this match is not correct in Multi Academy Trusts.

10 What threshold should we apply to capture those independent schools that 
have the capacity to sponsor or set up a new school or offer funded places 
and to exempt those that do not?

This needs very careful consideration and we would have welcomed some proposals 
on which to comment. Good teaching is not enough to support vulnerable pupils to 
thrive: they need wider support and the school is the first point of support for many 
families. 

There needs to be a clear identification of strengths and capacity across the range of 
leadership and management.  Such schools should have a proven track record with 
disadvantaged youngsters and working in partnership with families; they should be 
able to demonstrate effective practices and a proven track record of achieving 
excellent outcomes for learners across all Key Stages.  

Independent schools should be required to meet similar expectations as those 
placed on Multi Academy Trusts and Teaching Schools – they should undergo an 
external assessment to judge their capability and capacity.  We would want to see a 
willingness to work with other schools and a motivation to influence the system. 
Ofsted could have a role in incentivising this.

11 Is setting benchmarks the right way to implement these requirements?

Yes - If benchmarking did not occur, mismatch relationships would be created that 
could cause drift and delay for school improvement and in turn outcomes for 
learners, which in time may well result in wasted resources and repeated change of 
structures for no positive purpose.

12 Should we consider legislation to allow the Charity Commission to revise 
its guidance, and to remove the benefits associated with charitable status from 
those independent schools which do not comply?

No - it is essential to recognise that independent schools must be rigorously 
assessed and be in a position to positively contribute to the education system in a 
broader sense.  

If it is demanded that independent schools support others when they do not have the 
skills and expertise, it will do little to improve the system. We believe that an 

Page 109



incentivised approach would be more motivational, engaging and be instantly based 
on wanting to have an impact, rather than doing it under threat of viability with the 
removal its charitable status benefits.

13 Are any other changes necessary to secure the Government’s objectives?

The policy needs to be much more explicit about how it will impact on outcomes for 
pupils with SEND.  Many disadvantaged learners are assessed as having SEND and 
they are a vulnerable cohort in their own right.  Good schools that work for everyone 
must have significant reference to this group.  In terms of social mobility, these 
learners also have the right to this access and need a clearly defined pathway for 
achieving it.

Participation and connection of Independent Schools with teaching schools should 
be promoted.  The offer that Independent Schools have to their communities should 
be promoted and highlighted so that there is transparency and ease of access for all.
In addition, the consultation fails to address the needs of pupils who are excluded 
from mainstream school – As this number is increasing and social mobility is 
seriously affected without access to mainstream schooling, the needs of these 
children should feature in any policy paper regarding social mobility. 

14 How can the academic expertise of universities be brought to bear on our 
schools system, to improve school-level attainment and in doing so widen 
access?

Universities have a large number of academic resources and research that could be 
highly valuable to schools across the country. Working together with Teaching 
Schools would be beneficial in broadening the range on offer to schools across the 
sector.  This could be around a number of areas including:

 subject knowledge development 
 teacher development programmes e.g. Masters
 flexible teaching qualifications and training in specialist shortage areas such 

as coding, science, etc.
 offering tutoring or masterclasses for schools to commission for groups, 

individuals
 teacher recruitment 
 access programmes for those who are vulnerable 
 access to free university education for looked after children through 

sponsorship arrangements  

15 Are there other ways in which universities could be asked to contribute to 
raising school-level attainment?

Yes - universities as part of their widening access funding, should be required to 
publish a local offer of programmes accessible to the mainstream. This should be 
publicised within regions to ensure schools can make use of it as an additional level 
of support to disadvantaged families and families who are just about managing.  
Central to this is the potential for universities to offer aspiration days that stimulate, 
intrigue and engage learners in a variety of subject areas. This would stimulate 

Page 110



pupils to aim high and be clear on how they can achieve their ambitions. For 
example, an engineering day including design and manufacturing would provide 
learners with the insight required to make life long decisions about who they want be 
and how they can achieve it.  

It would be beneficial for universities to work in partnership with secondary schools 
and colleges to break down the barriers preventing disadvantaged pupils and those 
from 'families who are just about managing' from attending university.  

16 Is the DfA guidance the most effective way of delivering these new 
requirements?

No – this will make universities enter into arrangements based on necessity rather 
than ability and motivation to impact on school outcomes. The risk here is that 
schools will be supported or run by universities, without the university necessarily 
being the most skilled, the most appropriate or most able to have the greatest impact 
of learners.  If the arrangement fails, further resource and structural change will have 
to happen, disrupting education further.  In September, the Vice Chancellor of Oxford 
University publically rejected the idea of running schools due to lack of experience.  
This picture is likely to be replicated in other Russell Group universities and we may 
see smaller HE institutions stepping into this space – the University of Chester’s 
Multi Academy Trust has been operating for several years and it is currently barred 
from taking over new schools due to concerns about performance.

17 What is the best way to ensure that all universities sponsor schools as a 
condition of higher fees?

Where this is assessed as appropriate, we think the best way to achieve this is to 
work with the sector to ensure that they have capacity and competency in the areas 
that they are being asked to develop and support within the sponsoring arrangement.  
For example, an art and design predominantly focussed university, may not be well 
positioned to run a school requiring better attainment across attainment 8 subjects.

18 Should we encourage universities to take specific factors into account 
when deciding how and where to support school attainment?

Yes, where universities are identified as having the capacity and the capability, 
support should be targeted to the schools with the greatest number of disadvantaged 
children and young people.

19 How should we best support existing grammars to expand?

Lincolnshire is a partial selective authority so any proposals to expand existing 
grammar schools must be based on a careful needs assessment which balances the 
needs of parents, the needs of demographics/ sufficiency of places and which does 
not lead to other schools becoming unviable or unsustainable.

Selective schools do have significantly better educational outcomes for learners, but 
they also have a significantly smaller proportion of FSM/ SEND/ LAC children within 
them.  

Page 111



Nationally, most selective schools have below 3% FSM (disadvantaged pupils) 
whereas non-selective schools have approximately 18% FSM (disadvantaged 
pupils).  Whilst this data is very similar in Lincolnshire, we would recommend caution 
around its accuracy as we know a number of families do not take up the FSM for 
their young people.  Therefore, the admission arrangements for any future selective 
schools need to ensure that the proportion of groups is more representative and 
equitable to the communities they serve and that the curriculum diet offered enables 
those pupils to thrive.

Whilst the DfE's 'Adhoc Data Release of Parental Requests for School Places' in 
October 2016 does demonstrate that there is a demand for grammar school places, 
it does not account for the fact that in Lincolnshire alone, 40% of those who made a 
first choice preference for a selective school place did not pass the entry 
examination. Therefore, the true need of places will be dependent on the entry 
mechanism to enter selective schools.   

We do believe that the 11plus system and mechanism needs to be revised.  
However, whatever system replaces it must be prevented from disadvantaging 
families who cannot afford tutoring to pass the exam.

20 What can we do to support the creation of either wholly or partially new 
selective schools?

Lincolnshire offers a partial selective system and we would welcome the opportunity 
to talk to the DfE about how we can make the educational system work more 
effectively so all pupils' access good schools and achieve their aspirations.  

We would also very much welcome a discussion on how we should move towards 
locality based results model, the need for proportionate assessment of schools to 
reflect the contribution they are making to the education system and an inspection 
system which reflects the complexities of the wider system within which schools are 
operating 

21 How can we support existing non-selective schools to become selective?

As Lincolnshire offers a partial selective system, we are not in a position to answer 
this question 
 
22 Are these the right conditions to ensure that selective schools improve the 
quality of non-selective places?

As Lincolnshire offers a partial selective system, we are not in a position to answer 
this question. 

23 Are there other conditions that we should consider as requirements for new 
or expanding selective schools, and existing non-selective schools becoming 
selective?

As Lincolnshire offers a partial selective system, we are not in a position to answer 
this question. 

Page 112



24 What is the right proportion of children from lower income households for 
new selective schools to admit?

This question fails to recognise that we must provide choice for parents and children 
should be supported to access the right school for them, which offers the curriculum 
and the facilities which will enable them to achieve their aspirations. 

25 Are these sanctions the right ones to apply to schools that fail to meet the 
requirements?

We believe that a system should be encouraging and motivational and not sanction 
based.  Schools and Trust should be incentivised to contribute fully to sector led 
school improvement.

26 If not, what other sanctions might be effective in ensuring selective schools 
contribute to the number of good non-selective places locally?

We believe that a system should be encouraging and motivational and not sanction 
based.  Schools and Trust should be incentivised to contribute fully to sector led 
school improvement.

27 How can we best ensure that new and expanding selective schools and 
existing non-selective schools becoming selective are located in the areas that 
need good school places the most?

The DFE should work with local authorities to ensure that local intelligence is sought 
and community needs are clearly identified to support communities.

28 How can we best ensure that the benefits of existing selective schools are 
brought to bear on local non-selective schools?

Lincolnshire has a record of selective schools and non-selective schools working 
together through a range of collaborative working arrangements. Enabling expertise, 
staff, initiatives and opportunities to be shared, via commissioned arrangement 
where necessary, has had many benefits in Lincolnshire's children and young people 
and the wider education sector. 

It is important that we recognise the ability of the non-selective schools to benefit the 
selective ones and we are disappointed that the consultation fails to recognise this.

29 Are there other things we should ask of existing selective schools to ensure 
they support non-selective education in their areas?

Yes - Lincolnshire has a record of existing selective schools supporting non-selective 
schools and vice versa; schools offer reciprocal training on curriculum matters such 
as assessment and tracking. Where there is excellent practice, schools work 
collaboratively to enhance the wider locality based provision and choice for families.  
They offer enrichment and extension, providing community learning improvement in 
a co-ordinated way.

Page 113



We would welcome the opportunity to talk to the DfE about how a locality based 
results model would ensure this best practice became the norm, allowing all children 
and young people to thrive.

30 Should the conditions we intend to apply to new or expanding selective 
schools also apply to existing selective schools?

We would want to understand the conditions before responding to this question 

31 Are these the right alternative requirements to replace the 50% rule?

We would want to understand the conditions before responding to this question 

32 How else might we ensure that faith schools espouse and deliver a diverse, 
multi-faith offer to parents within a faith school environment?

We should consider diversity not just on faith, but ethnicity and level of deprivation to 
ensure school populations are representative of a community. Ofsted must continue 
to hold schools to account on social mobility commitments.

33 Are there other ways in which we can effectively monitor faith schools for 
integration and hold them to account for performance?

Yes - family satisfaction and feedback are key to help us to understand if their 
preference for a faith school has delivered what was expected; many parents choose 
faith schools as a defining element of lifestyle which adds diversity to the education 
system in itself. 

Faith schools are inclusive of their community and we would want inclusion to be 
monitored as evidence of their performance. 

There is a need to continue to challenge illegal schools including those that are faith 
based and to ensure the guidance enables the DfE and Ofsted to act promptly to 
safeguard children.

34 Are there other sanctions we could apply to faith schools that do not meet 
this requirement?

We do not believe that the application of these sanctions provide motivation for 
schools to adapt. Many parents, communities and families enjoy the ethos and way 
in which a faith school operates and approaches education of today.  Some parents 
consider this keenly when selecting a school, so taking its unique character away 
may only result in parents and children being unhappy. Therefore, alternative 
sanctions would need to be considered so that supporting the sector is incentivised 
and faith schools are motivated to engage even more broadly than they already do.  
Ofsted has a key role to play in incentivising schools through the accountability 
framework.

Page 114



      
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 21 October 2016 

Subject: Corporate Parenting Panel Update  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

The work of the Corporate Parenting Panel remains critical in promoting life 
chances and opportunities for vulnerable children, looked after children and 
care leavers. Members act as champions on behalf of these groups of children 
and young people. The Panel meets on a quarterly basis and includes 
representatives from looked after children and foster carers. 
 
Through the presentation of reports, performance information, and Visiting 
Members responsibilities, the Panel scrutinise that the arrangements for the 
safety and welfare of looked after children and care leavers are in accordance 
with what every good parent would want for their own child. 
 
It is agreed that the minutes of the Corporate Parenting Panel be presented to 
the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee, and attached are the draft 
minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2016. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the work 
of the Corporate Parenting Panel and to consider the matters raised and 
addressed. 

 

 
1. Background
 
The Panel meets quarterly and is continually evolving and is very proactive in 
seeking information to inform Members about the quality of services provided by 
the Local Authority and partner agencies, as is evidenced in the recording of the 
minutes. 
 
2. Conclusion
 
The ongoing scrutiny process looking at how well we meet our respective 
responsibilities and the different aspects of a child and young person's needs is 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



pivotal to the work of the Corporate Parenting Panel. The attached minutes provide 
an account of the work undertaken since the previous Panel held on 9 June 2016. 
 
3. Consultation 

 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

n/a 
 

 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Corporate Parenting Panel Meeting Minutes 08/09/2016 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Tara Jones, Service Manager Regulated Services, who 
can be contacted on 01522 552686 or tara.jones@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 116



1

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
8 SEPTEMBER 2016

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR  D BRAILSFORD (CHAIRMAN)

Lincolnshire County Council: Councillors J D Hough (Vice-Chairman), 
P J O'Connor, L Wootten and Mrs H N J Powell

Added Members: Jean Burbidge (Lincolnshire Community Health Services) and 
Ann Wright (Foster Carer)

Officers in attendance:-

Kieran Barnes (Head of Virtual School, Looked After Children), Annie Fletcher 
(Children's Services Manager, Barnardos), John Harris (Service Manager Regulated 
North and Fostering), John Herbert (Youth Development Hub Manager), Tracy 
Johnson (Senior Scrutiny Officer), Tara Jones (Service Manager Regulated South 
and Adoption), Kerry Mitchell, Janice Spencer (Assistant Director Safeguarding) and 
Rachel Wilson (Democratic Services Officer)

15    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A G Hagues and R A H 
McAuley. 

Apologies for absence were also received from Polly Coombes (Foster Carer), and 
Mary-Beth Pepperdine (Children in Care Council).

The Chief Executive reported that, under Local Government (Committee and Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990, Councillor Mrs H N J Powell had been appointed to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel to replace Councillor R A H McAuley for this meeting only.

16    DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting.

17    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 JUNE 2016

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2016 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record.

Page 117



2
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
8 SEPTEMBER 2016

18    BARNARDO'S LEAVING CARE SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16

Consideration was given to the Barnardo's Leaving Care Service Annual Report 
2015/16.  The Panel was guided through the report, with particular focus on the 
following sections:

 The profile of young people accessing Lincolnshire Leaving Care Service at 31 
March 2016

 Education, Employment and Training
 The Care Leaver Apprenticeship Scheme (CLAS) Co-ordinator
 Accommodation 
 Health 
 Community Nurse for Care Leavers
 Participation 
 Future planning

Members of the Panel were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the 
officers present in relation to the information contained within the report and some of 
the points raised during discussion of the annual report included the following:

 Clarification was sought regarding the 6 young people who were categorised 
as 'do not want to work'.  The Panel was advised that this would refer to those 
who lived with a partner who worked or who claimed benefit on their behalf.  It 
was noted that there were very few young people who were not doing 
anything.

 In terms of the Care Leavers Apprenticeship Scheme it was felt that 12 
placements was a number that could be supported, and compared well to 
previous years.  It was noted that these were bespoke apprenticeships and the 
majority of young people stayed on at the end of the placement.

 It was reported that there were 37 young people in Staying Put arrangements.  
LCC had been part of the original pilot for this scheme which started 5 years 
ago.  The authority had received £200,000 to launch the scheme.  It was noted 
that it was a joint decision between the young person and the foster carer.  

 Work was ongoing to determine how to give the same opportunities to those in 
residential care as those in foster care, in relation to accommodation.

 There were 54 referrals for supported lodgings in 2015, of these 35 were 
matched.  It was noted that an issue was that there was not enough 
accommodation in the right areas.  it was queried what happened to those that 
were not matched, and the Panel was advised that there were a number of 
reasons, such as the young person may have decided it wasn’t the right option 
for them, some may have gone back home or some would have gone to The 
Gateway.

 It was confirmed that staff did work to find jobs or develop the skills of those 
young people who were so severely affected they were unable to seek work.  
It was noted that some care leavers supported other care leavers, and there 
were also other activities such as drama available.  At this time there was not 
a craft stream.

 It was requested whether further information could be provided about the 24 
care leavers who were not able to seek work.  

Page 118



3
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

8 SEPTEMBER 2016

 It was queried whether there were any lessons which could be learned from 
the Community Nurse for Care Leavers, and it was commented that it had 
highlighted the need to gather health information as children go through care.  
It was noted that this post was recognised in the CQC inspection but the post 
was no longer in the same form due to budget pressures.

 It was reported that Barnardo's would be reviewing its health audit to 
determine where the gaps were.

 It was queried how young people in custody were supported with their 
education and training, and the Panel was advised that they would always be 
encouraged to engage with any education or training available.  When in 
custody, the care leavers would receive support and be visited every few 
weeks.

 Members raised concerns about the practice in some prisons of withdrawing 
people from education as punishment for bad behaviour.  It was emphasised 
to members that this only applied to over 18's, and it was not the case in all 
prisons.  It was suggested whether members and officers should be 
challenging this as it was felt that access to education was essential, 
particularly for those young people who had ended up in prison. 

 It was noted that LCC was currently looking at prison provision in Lincolnshire 
and it was suggested whether Barnardo's would like to feed into this work.

 Feedback from those young people engaged with the CAMHS service had 
been positive.  However, an initial issue was that some of the young people in 
Peterborough were not recognised as being part of the service, but this issue 
had now been resolved.

 It was commented that some excellent work had been done, and there were 
high aspirations.  It was also noted that the level of support given to care 
leavers was exceptional, and the Panel was advised that these levels of 
support were not mirrored in other local authorities.  Officers wished to 
acknowledge the work done by Barnardo's.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

19    VISITING MEMBERS QUARTERLY REPORT

The Panel received the log of quarterly visits to Children's Homes for April 2016 – 
March 2017.

Some of the points raised during discussion of this report included the following:
 It was noted that the report for Northolme had been received, but the 

responses had yet to be compiled.
 Good feedback had been received from visiting members.
 The staff and young people appreciated the visits.
 In relation to Strut House, there was a need to have a discussion in relation to 

whether Cllr M Jones continued as the visiting member due to his other 
commitments as the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire.  The 
Chairman advised that he would discuss this with Cllr Jones.

Page 119



4
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
8 SEPTEMBER 2016

 It was noted that Strut House now had a new Ofsted inspector, and an 
inspection was expected soon.

RESOLVED

That the Visiting Members log of quarterly visits be noted.

20    PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 1 EXCEPTIONS REPORT

The Corporate Parenting Panel received the exceptions report for key performance 
indicators (KPI's) relevant to the work of the Panel.  It was reported that there were 
five KPI's which were underreporting, however, it was noted that Stability of 
Placements was not one of them.  The Panel was advised the targets were 
aspirational and were set very high.

The following was noted in relation to each of the indicators:

Fostering/adoption of LAC aged 10 to <16 years old
 This was going in the right direction.
 The data did not include those children that were back at home.
 Officers were confident that children were in the right place at the right time.
 The number of children being placed out of county had increased.
 There were 35 young people in out of county residential placements.  There 

had been an increase in young people with sexual offences which mean they 
could not be fostered in a normal family environment.

 There was a focus on early intervention and prevention work.

Participation of LAC in reviews
 The reported figure is a 'glitch' due to wrong information being communicated 

to the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO).  The issue had now been 
addressed.

Percentage of Looked After Children with an up to date health check
 There were three 'refusers' in this cohort.
 The Panel was advised that there was no real difference between boys and 

girls.
 If 95% could be achieved then the figures would be within tolerance.

Percentage of Looked After Children with up to date routine immunisations:
 Officers were confident that 95% would be achieved by the end of the year.

Percentage of Looked After Children with an up to date dental check
 There was disappointment with this performance, as it was lower than the 

previous year.  
 Data cleansing was taking place which should improve the figures
 It was also reported that there was some confusion with babies and social 

workers not recording the date of the check.  However, there was confidence 
that this performance would improve.

Page 120



5
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

8 SEPTEMBER 2016

RESOLVED

That the performance information presented be noted.

21    V4C THE LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN COUNCIL QUARTERLY MINUTES

The Corporate Parenting Panel received the minutes of the V4C South meeting and 
V4C Executive.  Some of the main points highlighted during the meetings were 
reported to the Panel and included the following:

 It was suggested that the V4C change to having quadrant groups which would 
meet every couple of months.

 The V4C Executive group would meet on the same day as 'Big Conversation' 
events.

 The projects which came forward from these meetings would go forward to the 
quadrant groups to work on and would become more responsive.

 The first meetings of the new quadrant groups would be held in the new year.  
They were hoping to work closely with social workers and senior practitioners.

 A lot of work had been done by the V4C Executive group over the summer 
months.

 The V4C activities would continue as they were increasing in popularity.
 The groups seemed to be working very well but there was a desire to increase 

the numbers taking part.
 There was an intention to change the way the FAB awards worked, and it was 

proposed to change the date to July 2017.  This was to enable more 
physical/outdoor activities to be included as they were enjoyed by the young 
people.  It had been arranged with the Showground to have use of the ring to 
enable an increased amount of outdoor activity to take place.

 Officers wanted the young people to be more involved in the running of the 
event and professional training in events management was being offered, 
which would be accredited.  So far there had been a limited response, and 
Members of the Panel were asked to highlight this opportunity to any Looked 
After Children they worked with.

 It was noted that within the minutes of one of the meetings was a suggestion 
for a trip to Alton Towers, which had not been able to take place due to cost 
issues, and it was suggested that the young people make contact with sites 
such as Alton Towers themselves to discuss concessions, as they may get a 
different response to that given to an officer of a local authority.

 The new work plan for the Participation Team was circulated.
 The next meetings of the V4C Executive were 20 September and 18 October 

2016, and the next Big Conversation was 24 October 2016.
 It was noted that the young people did appreciate that interest was being 

taken by councillors, and were planning to provide a list of topics that the 
young people would like to discuss throughout the year.

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the V4C meetings be noted.

Page 121



6
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
8 SEPTEMBER 2016

22    ADOPTION SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT AND STATEMENT OF 
PURPOSE

The Corporate Parenting Panel received the Adoption Service Annual Report and 
Statement of Purpose.  It was noted that approval was required for the Adoption 
Service Annual report and Statement of Purpose from the Executive Councillor 
responsible for Children's Services, to authorise publication on the Lincolnshire 
County Council website.

Members of the Panel were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the 
officers present in relation to the information contained within the report, and some of 
the points raised during discussion included the following:

 In relation to the Statement of Purpose, it was noted that the main changes 
were around staffing, and the document itself did not really change much from 
year to year.

 The national decline in the number of decisions for adoption made by courts 
and councils was highlighted.

 There would be more consideration of kinship carers following changes to the 
Special Guardianship regulations.  A test around meeting a child's lifetime 
needs came into force in July 2016.  

 There was confidence that relationships with the new judges were being 
developed.

 There was now a surplus of adopters for babies, and so the focus now was on 
older children and sibling groups.

 Lincolnshire adoption services continued to be high performing, and the 
excellent performance had been acknowledged by the Secretary of State.

 There had been a drop in adoption orders from the previous year, but an 
increase in the number of special guardianship orders.

RESOLVED

That the Corporate Parenting Panel recommends the approval of the Adoption 
Service Annual Report and Statement of Purpose.

23    FOSTERING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT AND STATEMENT OF 
PURPOSE

The Corporate Parenting Panel received the Fostering Service Annual Report and 
Statement of Purpose.  It was noted that approval was required for the Fostering 
Service Annual Report and Statement of Purpose from the Executive Councillor 
responsible for Children's Services.

Members of the Panel were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the 
officers present in relation to the information contained within the report, and some of 
the points raised during discussion included the following:

 The number of foster carers was dropping, however, Lincolnshire remained 
competitive and had a dedicated recruitment team.  

Page 122



7
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

8 SEPTEMBER 2016

 It was felt that there had not been the government focus on fostering in recent 
years, but this could change in the future.

 The involvement of foster carers in preparation courses had been vital.
 It was suggested that there was a need for support for new foster carers from 

other foster carers to compare experiences.  It was also suggested that 
training for birth children would be helpful.

 Members were advised that there were social events throughout the year, with 
2 summer BBQ's and 2 Christmas parties.

 It was commented that this was a very impressive report.
 Recruitment would continue and it was hoped to enhance the offer to foster 

carers.
 An initial session on education with the virtual school was available to help 

improve educational achievement.
 There was a change in the narrative to a supportive education and a learning 

placement.
 There were a large number of courses available to foster carers, but it was a 

time commitment.  It was noted that there was a good programme of e-
learning available.  It was suggested whether anything in relation to the virtual 
school could be included in the e-learning programme.

RESOLVED

That the Corporate Parenting Panel recommends the approval of the 
Fostering Service Annual Report and Statement of Purpose.

24    QUARTER 1 FOSTERING REPORT 2016/17

The Corporate Parenting Panel received the Quarter 1 Fostering Report for 2016/17.  
Comments made during discussion of this report included the following:

 Links with Lincoln City Football Club had been made to offer foster carers a 
50% reduction in prices of tickets and free entry for accompanying looked after 
children.  A successful beauty package day had also been held, with plans to 
arrange a second one.

 There was concern about those foster carers that gave up as they had not 
received support at the right time.

 It was queried whether there was 'hotline' number that new foster carers could 
call if they needed to talk to someone, and members were advised that there 
was an emergency social worker available at all times.

 It was commented that there was an issue in relation to what information was 
available to the person that a foster carer was speaking to, as a foster carer 
would assume that the other person had all the relevant information available 
to them, but this was not always the case and time would have to be spent 
explaining the situation.  It was hoped that this issue would be resolved 
following the implementation of the Mosaic case management system.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

Page 123



8
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
8 SEPTEMBER 2016

25    VIRTUAL SCHOOL UPDATE

The Corporate Parenting Panel received an update on the work of the Virtual School, 
and the following was noted:

 A number of events had taken place between June and August – Red Stem 
Day at RAF Scampton; Lincoln University two day Children in Care (CiC) 
Event; National Citizenship Event.

 29 year 11 CiC participated in the National Citizenship award over summer, 
which involved team building outdoor adventure activities; a residential part to 
allow young people to gain skills in a particular area of interest such as 
art/design/business etc.; a non-residential part which provided a chance for 
young people to come with ideas for a project which was then presented to a 
panel.  There was very positive feedback from young people and foster carers.

 98% compliance with EPEP both statutory and non-statutory over the summer 
term.

 There had been major changes to assessment in years 2 and 6 in a move 
away from teacher assessment to formal exams/tests.  There were also major 
changes at GCSE level whereby old measures of 5 A-C including English and 
Maths would no longer be used.  2015 - 2016 would be a transition year at 
GCSE.

 From September 2016, assessment would be based on 'attainment 8' and 
'Progress 8' at GCSE with the old A* - G measure replaced by numbers on a 
scale of 1 – 8 and progress rather than attainment measured at GSCE on a 
scale based upon expected progress from KS2.  Subjects such as English and 
maths would have a double weighting.  The Virtual School would continue to 
focus on progress in English and maths at GCSE.

 In terms of student progress at EYFS, current data (which was unvalidated at 
the time of the meeting) showed a good level of development for 2016 of 42%, 
an increase from 32% in 2016 and 18% in 2014.  The gap for LAC nationally 
had closed compared with 2015 data.

 Student progress at key stage 1 (again data was unvalidated at this time) 
showed Year 1 Phonics at 63%, which again had increased from the previous 
two years.  Lincolnshire was 10% above nationally based on 2015 data.

 Year two assessments had changed and were no longer teacher assessed.  
Outcomes were broadly in line with predictions in writing at 48% (40% 
prediction), maths 44% (prediction 48%) and reading, writing and maths 36% 
(prediction 36%).  There was no data on progress currently available and no 
comparisons either.

 Officers were currently awaiting progress measures from the KS2 cohort from 
the DfE.  It was expected that this data would be available at the end of 
September 2016.

 In relation to KS4, 51 students were entered for examinations.  Of these 9 
(18%) were predicted by schools to achieve A – C grades in English and 
maths.  The actual percentage was 14% which was broadly in line with the 
prediction.  Progress in English was in line with predictions at 35%, and 
increase from 20% in 2015.  Progress in maths was also in line with 
predictions and with 2015.  This data would bring Lincolnshire back in line with 
the national average.

Page 124



9
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

8 SEPTEMBER 2016

 76% of students (31) at KS4 were identified as having a learning need with 
57% of that number having an Education Health Care Plan (EHCP).  Of those 
with an EHCP, 11 were not entered for GCSE as a consequence of the 
severity of their learning difficulties.  9 of the 11 made expected progress 
through teacher assessments.

 The combined progress measure was 51% for English and 52% for Maths.

Concerns were raised by members regarding what expected progress was and how 
schools collect this information for looked after children.  Members were advised that 
a higher proportion of LAC were now making expected progress.

It was queried where the funding for the event at Scampton came from, and 
members were advised that this was a free event hosted by RAF Scampton.  It was 
also noted that the University event was free to attend as well.

RESOLVED

That the update be noted.

26    CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17

Consideration was given to the Work Programme, and the Panel was reminded that 
the next meeting would be taking place on 15 December 2016.  The Senior Scrutiny 
Officer would circulate the dates for the forthcoming V4C meetings and Big 
Conversation in October.

RESOLVED

That the work programme, as presented, be agreed.

27    PROPOSED FUTURE MEETING DATES FOR THE CORPORATE 
PARENTING PANEL FOR 2017

RESOLVED

The Corporate Parenting Panel agreed the following dates for meetings in 2017:

 Thursday, 16 March 2017 at 10.00am
 Thursday, 15 June 2017 at 10.00am
 Thursday, 21 September 2017 at 10.00am
 Thursday, 7 December 2017 at 10.00am

The meeting closed at 12.45 pm

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



       
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 21 October 2016 

Subject: Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy  – Six Monthly Update 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report updates the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on the 
progress of the Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy, including plans for the 
Lincolnshire Teaching and Learning Centre (LTLC) and the mobilisation of the 
Behaviour Outreach Support Service. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to consider the 
content of the report and to provide feedback and challenge as required. 

 

 
1. Background
 
The Department for Education's (DfE) most recent statistical release confirms that 
the number and rate of permanent exclusions in England is rising. 
 

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 7



The percentage figures correspond to an average of 31 permanent exclusions per 
day in 2014-15, across all settings, compared to an average of 26 per day in 
2013-14. The longer term trend has been downward since 2006-7 so this 
represents a significant reversal. 
 
During 2014-15, a period which pre-dates the introduction of the Inclusive 
Lincolnshire Strategy, Lincolnshire maintained its position amongst the top rank of 
highest excluding Local Authorities.  
 

 
 
 
The Strategy was introduced to schools in January 2016 to address this situation. 
At its heart is the Lincolnshire Ladder of Behavioural Intervention which enables 
schools to access pre-exclusion placements for pupils within the LTLC when they 
can demonstrate that they have followed the Ladder – that is, when they have 
provided school-based support through a solution-focused Pastoral Support Plan 
(PSP) and engaged specialist help for pupils from the Behaviour Outreach Support 
Service (BOSS).  
 
Two key steps within the Ladder – BOSS support and pre-exclusion placement – 
have only been available since September 2016. However, schools have been 
using the LA’s model PSP since January, guided by Pupil Reintegration Team 
(PRT) caseworkers whose roles were redefined to focus on the preventing 

Page 128



exclusion agenda. To date, the PRT has actively supported the planning of 224 
PSPs for pupils at risk of exclusion with the vast majority of these successful. 
 

This element of the strategy – which involves teaching social and emotional skills 
through intervention rather than sanctioning children for lacking them - has had an 
immediate impact on rates of exclusion. The 'progress update' below illustrates that 
rates of permanent exclusion are falling in Lincolnshire, bucking the national trend. 
 
Other measures to be introduced during 2016-17 include: 
  

 governor exclusions training, updated to reflect Inclusive Lincolnshire 

 support for parents wishing to challenge decision and training on Inclusive 
Lincolnshire for Independent Review Panel 

 the termly publication via school ecourier of school-level exclusion data 

 a managed move protocol, organised around locality Fair Access clusters 

 an LSCB model drugs and banned items policy 

 a 23 school restorative pilot, commissioned by BOSS 

 further training for solutions-focused coaches, to strengthen PSP support 

 online support for solution-focused coaches and face-to-face follow up 

 the publication of an Inclusion Toolkit, to further strengthen evidence-based 
PSPs 

 BOSS support for transition of pupils in and out of LTLC 

 school visit post-exclusion to undertake risk assessment and challenge 

 school alert process for unsound exclusions 

 sharing of best practice via case-study area of Inclusive Lincolnshire 
microsite 

 
Progress Update 
 

 

Permanent exclusions from primary schools reached an unprecedented high at the 
beginning of 2015-16 but fell dramatically thereafter with a Term 5 spike 

Page 129



interrupting the descent. Whilst this makes it more difficult to conclude that the 
trend is irresistibly downward, it is worth noting that there has been just one 
permanent exclusion from the primary sector this term, compared to 16 at this point 
last year. 

 

 

 

Permanent exclusions from the secondary sector were lower during 2015-16 than 
in previous years, 36% down on 2014-15. As with the primary phase, the new 
academic year has begun with rates lower than in previous years with 10 
permanent exclusions since the start of term. 
 
The data is clearly encouraging. However, given that the LA's goal is to achieve 
zero exclusion as we ask schools to work within the inclusive infrastructure now 
available to them, all permanent exclusions are open to challenge. Those that we 
have seen relate to incidents which Headteachers have deemed so extreme as to 
warrant an immediate exclusion. It is hoped that a successful restorative pilot (see 
'BOSS Service' below) will begin to change the culture and give Headteachers the 
confidence to allow pupils to learn from any dangerous or anti-social behaviour and 
to make amends. The notion of a 'suspended permanent exclusion' has also been 
introduced by the PRT to give Headteachers confidence to allow pupils a second 
chance. 

The BOSS Service 

The BOSS is provided by Family Action and the service commenced at the 
beginning of September to work directly with teachers, pupils and where 
appropriate families.  The BOSS service operates in a fully integrated way within 

Page 130



the Ladder and also alongside the LTLC to support the effective transition of pupils 
in and out of the centres. 

Staff within the BOSS service have been recruited from a broad range of 
professional backgrounds to ensure a mix of skills within the teams in each of the 
quadrants across the county. In addition, during their initial induction period, they 
received intensive training to support the Inclusive Lincolnshire vision of strengths-
based, solution focused and restorative support for children and young people at 
risk. 

In addition to the main BOSS service, Family Action has contracted Restorative 
Solutions CIC to deliver a restorative practice (RP) pilot across 23 identified 
schools to determine whether the use of RP reduces exclusion. 'Restorative 
champions' within each of the identified schools are attending a full three day 
training programme during September and October after which it is intended that 
the schools, supported by Restorative Solutions CIC, will implement a whole 
school approach to the use of restorative approaches. This will be evaluated at the 
end of the year with a view to roll out across the county. 

The Lincolnshire Teaching and Learning Centre 

The LTLC is currently a five site pupil referral setting across Lincolnshire. The sites 
are placed in Mablethorpe, West Ashby, Lincoln, Boston and Grantham. The age 
range for the setting is Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) to 16. In September 
2016, the setting took in house key Stage (KS) 4 students who had previously 
been on a programme of study in alternative provision. The pupil admission 
number is 250 with currently 110 students in KS4.  

The Leadership structure for the setting, up until April 2017, comprises Executive 
Principal, Gill Kelly and her team made up of an Associate Principal, two Vice 
Principals, an Executive SENCO and a Business Manager. Each centre is led by a 
Head of Centre and there is at least one Lead Practitioner in each centre whose 
role is to develop teaching and learning within their centre as well as leading 
subjects across the whole setting. From April 2017 the Associate Principal, Vicky 
Hall, will take up the substantive post of Executive Principal. The setting went in to 
Special Measures in February 2015 and is still working hard to come out of this 
category. 

In each centre a ‘care team’ made up of two specialist TAs supports those children 
who have been withdrawn from class or need time out during a crisis. The team 
works with a child during the recovery phase (post-incident) to enable a period of 
reflection before reintegration back into class. In addition, a pastoral team of TAs 
conduct home visits and attend social care and TAC meetings. They encourage 
good family relationships and work with the child to hear their voice. They also 
conduct admissions meetings. 

Since April 2016 a strong relationship with LCC’s pupil reintegration team has been 
formed with the objective of screening referrals for pre-exclusion placements within 
the LTLC and reintegrating pupils back into the mainstream when they are 'school 
ready'. The goal is to ensure all children receive the support they need to access a 
curriculum and experience success in their learning. 

Page 131



LTLC follows a primary curriculum up to KS3, with cornerstones topic based 
projects being the foundation for KS1 and KS2 with KS3 following a topic based 
curriculum designed by centre staff. The autumn term’s curriculum is centred 
around Japan. KS4 students follow Btec and GCSE courses which are mapped to 
their ability. 

With regard to the pre-exclusion offer that Inclusive Lincolnshire encourages 
schools to embrace, the first and to date only panel meeting screened four referrals 
– three from primary and one secondary. Two of these were successful with pre-
exclusion intervention underway for those young people. It is encouraging to note 
that unsuccessful schools did not respond by permanently excluding the pupils 
referred. They were offered consultancy SENCO support from LTLC and further 
BOSS support and they continue to support the pupils within their mainstream 
settings. 

2. Conclusion
  
Zero exclusion remains the aspiration and all of those involved in Inclusive 
Lincolnshire will focus relentlessly on achieving that goal over a two year period. It 
must be understood, however, that the vision represents a real challenge to some 
deep seated beliefs and behaviours and that the policy context is not conducive. 
We have seen this reflected in the national exclusions data. 
 
It is also important to note that in other LAs where zero exclusion has been 
achieved, it has been through fair access protocols (FAP) and fines for permanent 
exclusion, rather than through the promotion of genuinely inclusive practice. We 
are trying to achieve our goal a different way in Lincolnshire, the right way – but 
this takes longer than a quick mechanistic fix. Solution-focused support for young 
people at risk, helping them to harness their strengths and to be future-focused, 
and a restorative approach when they make mistakes - these are central to our 
vision, but they depend on awareness-raising, CPD and ultimately culture-change.  
We do have evidence that the direction of travel is positive for Lincolnshire's most 
vulnerable and troubled children, but there remains a way to go. 
 
3. Consultation 
 

 

 
 

 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

n/a 
 

 

4. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Mary Meredith, who can be contacted on 01522 554549 
or mary.meredith@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
 

 

 

Page 132



   
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 21 October 2016 

Subject: 
Sector Led School Improvement Model - Update 
Report 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  
 
This report enables the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider an update relating to the Sector-Led approach to School Improvement. 
 
 

Actions Required:  
 
The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to 
 

1. Consider and comment on the update regarding the Sector-Led school 
improvement model. 

2. Receive further six monthly updates on its further implementation and 
development. 

 
1. Background 
 
The role of the Local Authority in school improvement has changed greatly over 
recent times with the introduction of academies, multi-academy trusts and teaching 
schools.  The increased expectations from Ofsted and the new role of the Regional 
Schools Commissioner have all contributed to a changing educational landscape. 
There is no longer a straight-forward two way relationship between the local 
authority and its schools; instead we are working in an environment of multiple 
relationships and a fragmented system. For the last 14 years Lincolnshire has 
commissioned CfBT to deliver its statutory duties and provide a traded offer of 
school improvement to its schools. However, Lincolnshire has always recognised 
the need to work in partnership with its schools to meet the needs of its children 
and over the last two years has been working with its schools towards a transition 
between the end of the CfBT contract and the development of an autonomous 
sector-led system. 

 
In Lincolnshire, the Local Authority is now one of a range of partners who together 
are supporting school improvement moving forward. These partners include our 
teaching schools, the Lincolnshire Learning Partnership, the diocese and academy 
chains. This approach is echoed in the White Paper with its clear indication that 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



schools and groups of schools will have increased autonomy and responsibility for 
their own outcomes through working in a sector-led system. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From its initial task and design stage the "Lincolnshire Learning Partnership" or 
"LLP" has grown over the last two years to a partnership of over 340 schools. 
These 340 schools have made a commitment to developing a sector-led approach 
to school improvement and school to school support. All schools are engaged in 
Peer Review and work together in clusters to improve outcomes for children. This 
includes schools from all phases; primary, secondary and specials as well as 
academies, multi-academy trusts, free schools and church schools.  
 
The Lincolnshire Learning Partnership is led by a group of elected headteachers 
who work with the Local Authority to set the strategic direction for Lincolnshire. 
These headteachers represent a broad range of school types and structures. The 
LLP is excited to be currently working with the Education Endowment Foundation 
(EEF) to bring the latest educational research into Lincolnshire. Currently, the vast 
majority of our schools are involved in a research project aimed at making the very 
best of our teaching assistant (TA) workforce to further enhance their impact on 
teaching and learning. At this point nearly 300 schools are signed up to the 
"Mobilise" TA project and 400 school leaders have been trained in the materials. 
This is the start of making evidence-based research a key component of our school 
improvement in the future. 
 
Our teaching schools are growing in their influence and we are delighted that we 
have been able to work with them to develop a cohesive interface for our schools. 
Rather than being in competition, a number of the Teaching Schools have 
committed to a joined up approach and have united under the "Lincolnshire 
Teaching Schools Together" (LTT) banner. The Local Authority has provided 
funding for a website where schools can find out what "LTT" has to offer and has 
also commissioned LTT to provide our statutory Moderation & Monitoring 
responsibilities, to develop and lead a Leadership programme for prospective 
Headteachers and to support us in Risk Assessing academies. The LLP have 
utilised the reach and capacity of LTT to deliver the Education Endowment 
Foundation teaching assistant project. 
 
In Lincolnshire currently 90% of our schools are rated "Good or Outstanding" by 
Ofsted and it is the focus of all those working in the sector to continue to increase 

Sector-Led 

School Improvement 

Page 134



this figure so that every child has access to a "good local school". Ofsted are 
beginning to recognise and comment on the effective working of clusters, school to 
school challenge and engagement in joint professional development. The 
introduction of Peer Review and school to school support has been one of our key 
strategies in improving school outcomes. When Peer Review was first introduced 
into Lincolnshire Schools through the formation of the "LLP" the Local Authority 
took the decision to invest in training for all Headteachers of its 362 schools. This 
training was provided free of charge to all schools and academies. This investment 
was vital in ensuring that headteachers felt confident in providing reviews for each 
other that were suitably robust and that the subsequent improvement workshops 
supported schools in moving forward and developing key priorities for the future. 
The reviews have also acted as a catalyst for the sharing of good practice and 
further joint working between schools.  Key outcomes of these reviews are shared 
with the Lincolnshire Learning Partnership Board enabling them to strategically 
consider forthcoming issues and trends for the county and respond accordingly by 
commissioning projects and appropriate research. 
 
The local authority has been creative and proactive in its response when schools 
have found themselves in difficulty. We have worked with schools to find local 
solutions by brokering support from other local schools, by liaising with the 
Regional Schools Commissioner to seek local sponsors when they are required 
and by utilising our teaching schools to provide National Leaders of Education or 
National Leaders of Governance to drive up performance. This work is led by our 
Locality Leads who are a small team of Educational Advisers who monitor the 
performance of schools, signpost schools to relevant support and work alongside 
our most vulnerable schools. The Sector-Led approach is building capacity within 
the county and ensuring the expertise stays within our school system hence our 
continual focus on finding local solutions. We have a growing number of small local 
Multi Agency Trusts (MATS) as well as a large number of Executive headships 
which all add to the pool of system leaders working in Lincolnshire. Lincolnshire 
leaders are getting increasing recognition for the way in which they collaborate and 
we were delighted that the "LLP" was recently referenced in a school's Ofsted 
inspection as a positive collaborative arrangement.  
 
The Education team at the Local Authority not only undertakes statutory duties but 
has a focus on ensuring that the culture of sharing and reciprocity is at the forefront 
of the way our schools do business. To this end we continue to provide fully funded 
headteachers briefings three times per year and an equivalent meeting for 
Governors. The LA and the LLP also run an annual conference for Headteachers. 
The LA Education team operates as the glue within our new system responding to 
the needs of the sector, brokering relationships and working as a strategic partner 
to the LLP and our teaching schools. 

 
 
2. Conclusion
 

Sector-Led school improvement is becoming increasingly embedded and accepted 
as common practice by school leaders. However, it is important to recognise that it 
is still in its infancy and will require continued promotion and support for it to grow 
and develop. The Lincolnshire Learning Partnership is building a long term 

Page 135



strategic plan with this aim and to identify how it best supports schools in tackling 
key trends following the analysis of pupil outcomes.  
 
Key areas moving forward to further develop the Sector-led approach are: 

 Peer Review training for new school leaders. 

 Governor Peer Review Training to ensure Governors are able to share best 
practice. 

 County Wide Success Workshops to celebrate school innovation and 
achievements. 

 Cluster Training to ensure schools get the most from working together. 

 Implementation of further EEF research around effective Literacy & 
Numeracy intervention. 

 Development of a LLP website for sharing best practice & School to School 
Support. 

 Improving protocols for working with Teaching Schools. 
 
The LA role will continue to focus on championing effective collaborations, 
monitoring and intervening where necessary in the most vulnerable schools and 
developing cohesion amongst the different elements of the sector-led model. 
 
3. Consultation 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

n/a 
 

 

4. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Gavin Booth Children's Service Manager- Education 
Strategy, who can be contacted on 01522 552262 or 
gavin.booth@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 

 

 

Page 136

mailto:gavin.booth@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 21 October 2016 

Subject: Open Select List for Children’s Services Placements 

 

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider a report on the Open Select List for Children’s Services Placements 
which is due to be considered by the Executive Councillor responsible for 
Children's Services on 31 October 2016. The views of the Scrutiny Committee 
will be reported to the Executive Councillor as part of her consideration of this 
item. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendation(s) to the Executive Councillor responsible 
for Children's Services as set out in the report.   

 
(2) To agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive 

Councillor responsible for Children's Services in relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background
 
The Executive Councillor responsible for Children's Services is due to consider a 
report on the Open Select List for Children’s Services Placements. The full report 
to the Executive Councillor is attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendation(s) in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive Councillor. The 
Committee’s views will be reported to the Executive Councillor.   
 
 
 
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



3. Consultation 
 

 
 

 
 

a) Policy Proofing Actions Required  
 

Not applicable 
 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report. 

Appendix 1 Report to the Executive Councillor responsible for Children's 
Services on Open Select List for Children’s Services Placements 

 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Amy Allcock, Senior Commissioning Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 552687 or amy.allcock@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
  
 

Page 138

mailto:amy.allcock@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Report Reference:  
Executive/Executive Councillor

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services

Report to: Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell, Executive Councillor 
responsible for Children's Services

Date: 31 October 2016
Subject: Open Select List for Children’s Services Placements
Decision Reference: I011946
Key decision? Yes

Summary: 
This report seeks to make recommendations regarding Lincolnshire County 
Council's (LCC) commissioning approach for placing children and young people 
(C&YP) in:
 Independent Residential Care; 
 Independent Foster Care; 
 Independent Non-Maintained Schools (INMS) – including the commissioning 

of additional therapeutic services; 
 Intense Needs Supported Accommodation; and 
 Supported Accommodation for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 

(UASC).

There are currently seven 'strands', involving nearly 800 individual placements, 
covered by the placement function in the Children's Strategic Commissioning 
Team. This involves sourcing suitable placements for Looked After Children 
(LAC), children with Special Educational Needs and/or a Disability (SEND), UASC 
and C&YP aged 16-17 years and Care Leavers at risk of homelessness in the 
following: 
 Independent Non-Maintained Schools (INMS) – 97 LAC and/or children with 

SEND are currently in a placement. In 2015/16 the cost of such placements 
was c. £8.49m per annum.

 Independent Residential Care – 22 LAC are currently in a placement. In 
2015/16 the cost of such placements was c. £3.74m per annum.

 Independent Foster Care – 30 LAC, including UASC, are currently in a 
placement. In 2015/16 the cost of such placements was c. £1.2m per annum. 

 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) Supported Accommodation 
services - 17 UASC are currently in a placement. In 2015/16 the cost of such 
placements was c. £0.6m per annum.

 Intense Needs Supported Accommodation services – 20 LAC, young people 
and/or care leavers at risk of homelessness are currently in a placement. In 
2015/16 the cost of such placements was c. £1.33m per annum.

 Youth Housing services – 92 LAC, young people and/or care leavers are 

Page 139



currently in a placement. The cost of the commissioned service is £0.87m per 
annum.

 Post-16 SEND placements in Further Education Colleges – nearly 500 young 
people currently attending a Further Education College placement. The cost of 
such placements is c. £2.40m per annum.

For two of those strands there are already commissioning arrangements in place: 
 Youth Housing - there is a contract in place for all Youth Housing 

placements that went through a competitive procurement exercise in 
2014/15 and runs until June 2018 with the option of a further two years (1 + 
1).

 Post-16 SEND placements - the decision is made by the Young Person 
about which setting they want to attend and LCC facilitate the top-up 
payments directly with the school or college in line with the SEND funding 
panel's decision. 

For the other five strands, placements are spot purchased, after a competitive 
process, from providers who can meet the needs of the child and offer value for 
money. 

The Executive Councillor is now asked to approve the commissioning route for 
placement activity in those five strands, namely to go out to procurement to 
develop an Open Select List for each of the strands to ensure that the Council: - 

 undertakes its placement activity on a sound contractual footing, 
demonstrating fairness, openness and transparency; 

 provides a consistent, aligned approach across the different strands of 
placement activity; 

 delivers value for money through enhanced competition; and 
 promotes the development of the market-place in Lincolnshire to help 

deliver sufficient and sustainable provision in the county. 

Recommendation(s):

That the Executive Councillor responsible for Children’s Services

1. Approves the commissioning approach of undertaking a procurement 
exercise to secure the above five strands of Children’s Services 
Placements.

2. Delegates to the Executive Director for Children's Services, in consultation 
with the Executive Councillor responsible for Children’s Services, authority 
to establish an open select list and approve the final form of contract to be 
utilised upon the award of a contract under the open select list.  

Alternatives Considered:
1. Do Nothing
2. Decommissioning 
3. Influencing 

Page 140



4. Partnership
5. Insourcing
6. Procurement

Reasons for Recommendation:

 To provide the opportunity to enhance the service specification; improving 
the level of provision and outcomes achieved for Lincolnshire children and 
young people (C&YP).

 To provide a consistency of approach and alignment of the placement 
functions within Children's Services.

 To encourage the development of the market-place for this provision within 
Lincolnshire and promote a greater choice of provision.

 To ensure there is sufficient and sustainable provision when making urgent 
and planned for placements which meet the individual needs of 
Lincolnshire C&YP.

 To enhance competition and deliver value for money.
 To ensure services are commissioned in line with the Public Contract 

Regulations 2015.
 To place the Council on a firm contractual footing and promote LCC's 

standard terms and conditions.

1. Background

In January 2016, Children's Services Departmental Management Team (DMT) 
considered a report regarding the advantages and disadvantages of joining the 
East Midlands Regional Children’s Framework for Independent Residential and 
Foster Care.  The decision was made not to sign up to the Framework for placing 
in residential and independent foster care but to adapt Lincolnshire’s current 
methodology in alignment with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.
 
This decision allows LCC to create a tailored methodology for Lincolnshire, which 
provides the opportunity to align this work to other types of placement undertaken 
within the Children's Strategic Commissioning Team, as well as ensuring providers 
sign up to LCC's standard terms and conditions.  The proposed new methodology 
will ensure the Council is on a firm contractual footing and services are 
commissioned in line with the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

Current Methodology
There are currently seven 'strands', involving nearly 800 individual placements 
covered by the placement function in the Children's Strategic Commissioning 
Team: 

 Independent Non-Maintained Schools (INMS) including the commissioning 
of additional therapeutic services

 Residential Care 
 Independent Foster Care 
 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) 
 Intense Needs Supported Accommodation 
 Youth Housing 

Page 141



 Post-16 SEND placements 

For two of those strands there are already commissioning arrangements in place:
 Post-16 placements - the decision is made by the Young Person about 

which setting they want to attend and LCC facilitate the top-up payments 
directly with the school or college in line with the SEND funding panel's 
decision 

 Youth Housing - there is a contract in place for all Youth Housing 
placements that went through a competitive procurement exercise in 
2014/15 and runs until June 2018 with the option of a further two years (1 + 
1).

For each of the other five strands, quotes are sought from providers by sending 
information detailing the individual child's needs and type of provision required and 
then requesting a quotation for the placement. Keyworkers from the relevant 
service area will then make the decision based on the responses received from 
those selected providers regarding which option best meets the needs of the child 
and the commissioning function seeks to ensure value for money.  The Children's 
Strategic Commissioning Team then complete the necessary paperwork to put the 
agreement in place with all the relevant contract assurance documentation and 
contract manage the placement.

Where an emergency placement is required for any of these strands, providers that 
are used on a regular basis are often contacted directly by phone and the child 
may be placed where there are vacancies that meet that child's needs, without 
further quotes being sought. This is specifically the case with UASC where 
placements routinely need to be made within hours of an age assessment being 
undertaken and LCC has dedicated contracts with two providers who can meet the 
needs of UASC.

Placement Activity and Expenditure for the remaining five strands

Since the 'Core Offer' in 2010, the Children's Strategic Commissioning Team has 
continued to support the overall functioning of children's LAC  and SEND services 
through the absorption of a number of placement related functions, aligned with 
supporting service areas to manage increasing numbers of children and young 
people requiring a specialist placement function.

INMS:
Figure 1 below shows the increase in the number of placements to INMS in 
delivering support to colleagues in the SEND (and LAC) team(s):

Page 142



There are currently a total of 97 placements across 35 different providers at 45 
different sites. The total expenditure on such placements in 2015/16 was c. 
£8.49m. 

Residential Care, Independent Foster Care and UASC:

Figure 2 below shows the growth in the numbers of independent sector LAC 
placements in both Residential and Foster Care, including the numbers of 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) who were under 16yrs at the 
time of placement, since 2011. There are currently 52 LAC, including UASC, 
placed within Independent sector Residential Care homes (22 children) and 
Independent Foster Care Agency provision (30 children). 

Figure 3 shows the growth in placement requests for UASC in supported 
accommodation placements since 2010/11. There are currently 17 UASC in out-of-

Page 143



county supported accommodation placements who were aged 16-17yrs at the time 
of placement.

The total expenditure on independent sector Residential care placements in 
2015/16 was c. £3.74m. The total expenditure on independent sector Foster care 
agency placements in 2015/16 was c. £0.77m (excluding UASC – which is funded 
via central government grant and cost c. £0.48m in 2015/16). The total expenditure 
on UASC Supported Accommodation placements – again funded directly via 
central government grant – in 2015/16 was c. £0.6m.

Intense Needs Supported Accommodation:
Up until recently, Children's Commissioning were primarily involved in placement 
requests regarding intense supported accommodation for Young People aged 16-
17 and Care Leavers. Figure 4 shows the growth in numbers between 2010/11 and 
2016/17.

Page 144



There are currently 20 Young People in such provision across five different 
providers.  The total expenditure on Intense Needs Supported Accommodation 
placements in 2015/16 was c. £1.33m. 

The total expenditure for all five strands in 2015/16 was c. £14.93m.

Alternatives considered:

Options

1. Do Nothing - this means continuing with current contractual arrangements 
and not altering the methodology.

2. Decommissioning - this means not commissioning any services beyond 
existing contracts and that such services would effectively cease.

3. Influencing - this means not commissioning any services beyond existing 
contracts but working with other agencies to try secure the continuation of 
services through them acting either as a commissioner/co-commissioner or 
provider/co-provider

4. Partnership - this means establishing a partnership agreement for the 
delivery of services.

5. Insourcing - this means bringing the services within the Council with staff, 
potentially being subject to TUPE rights, then being employed and managed 
by the Council

6. Procurement - going out to the market, by means of a competitive tender 
process, with the intention of continuing to outsource the service to meet the 
requirements of service users. 

Option 1 – Do Nothing

This would mean continuing with the current methodology for placements.

Advantages
 Systems are familiar to Children's Commissioning and operational staff, and 

have proved both practical and durable
 No additional costs associated with procurement

Disadvantages
 Public Contracts Regulations 2015 may offer providers renewed opportunity 

to challenge LCC placement methodology
 Less likely to encourage current providers to sign up to new terms and 

conditions for future placements
 Less scope to drive competition and cost savings within strands such as 

UASC and Intense Needs Supported Housing
 Reduces opportunity to send clear statement to market regarding LCC focus 

and priorities e.g. placements closer to home
 No opportunity to update current specification documents with new 

legislation and guidance

Page 145



Option 2 – Decommissioning

The services commissioned support the Council in fulfilling statutory duties. 
Decommissioning would be likely to result in the Council facing significant legal 
challenge if these services were no longer available. This is not a legitimate option 
for consideration and for this reason no further detailed options analysis has been 
conducted. 

Option 3 – Influencing

There is no requirement for any organisation, other that the Council, to commission 
or provide these services. The responsibility for commissioning clearly lies with the 
Council. This is not a legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no 
further detailed options analysis has been conducted.

Option 4 – Partnership

There is no requirement for any organisation, other that the Council, to commission 
or provide these services. The responsibility for commissioning clearly lies with the 
Council. This is not a legitimate option for consideration and for this reason no 
further detailed options analysis has been conducted.

Option 5 – Insourcing

This means bringing the services within the Council with staff, potentially being 
subject to TUPE rights, then being employed and managed by the Council. This 
option has been considered on a strand-by-strand basis:

INMS
C&YP with SEND are placed into independent non-maintained school placements 
when there are no suitable placements within existing mainstream and special 
schools in Lincolnshire. Whilst every effort is made to try and meet the needs of 
C&YP within Lincolnshire maintained and special schools, it is not always possible 
to meet the needs of each and every C&YP with SEND and some specialist 
provision e.g. for children with hearing impairments is always likely to be required. 
Therefore this option has not been considered and for this reason no further 
detailed options analysis has been conducted.

Residential Care & Foster Care
C&YP are only placed into independent residential and foster care services where 
existing capacity and/or the needs of the individual C&YP are beyond the scope of 
the internal residential and foster care services. 
Internal residential care occupancy rates are normally high. To expand capacity 
near two-fold would require a much longer-term consideration involving substantial 
capital and revenue investment and a solution is still required in the short-to-
medium term to meet the needs of C&YP where they cannot be met within existing 
internal residential care regardless of whether that it is due to capacity or skills 
issues.
Efforts to expand both the numbers and skills within the internal foster care service 
are continuous. However, there are always likely to be individual C&YP with 
specialist needs beyond the scope of internal residential and foster care services 

Page 146



that require more specialist placements e.g. child sexual exploitation placements 
etc. and an effective solution to deliver such placements needs to be in place.
Therefore this option has not been considered and for this reason no further 
detailed options analysis has been conducted.

UASC
UASC are routinely placed into supported accommodation within hours of an age 
assessment being undertaken. This requires a rapid response with both 
accommodation and support to be available immediately. It is considered that the 
nature of the service is therefore best met through placement with designated 
providers able to respond quickly and mobilise resources according to need that 
does not tie up internal resources. Therefore this option has not been considered 
and for this reason no further detailed options analysis has been conducted.

Intense Needs Supported Accommodation
Advantages

 The provision will be located in Lincolnshire, so there is assurance that links 
with existing services such as Youth Offending Services and CAMHS can be 
maintained, as well as potentially offering Social Value in terms of 
employment within the county. 

 The time and cost of workers travelling to placements outside of 
Lincolnshire will be reduced.

 As the provision is in Lincolnshire the existing commissioned Youth Housing 
services can be used for step-down.

 Those Young People with the most complex needs can have their needs 
met within the in-house commissioned response thereby reducing the most 
expensive out-of-county placements.

 In-house provision allows LCC to dictate the nature of the service to be 
delivered including commissioning any relevant specialisms e.g. therapeutic 
input or substance misuse treatments that may be included as standard to 
help address root causes of issues. In addition, existing relationships with 
Key Workers can be maintained and a flexible approach can be adopted to 
meet the needs of residents.

 Any additional placements required can continue to be spot purchased.

Disadvantages
 If demand falls and/or a high occupancy rate is not maintained, the unit cost 

increases and valuable resources may be tied up. 
 Given the complexity of young people most likely to access the provision, 

turnover is not likely to be high.  In spot purchased placements support can 
gradually be reduced without the need for the young person to move, 
whereas in this model, they would have to move, supportive key worker 
relationships will be broken and may lead to the young person re-engaging 
in negative behaviour without a very careful/well managed transition. 

 Young people may refuse to move to the units if they are not in an area of 
the county they wish to live.  This could lead to beds being empty, raising 
the cost per person, or being filled with less complex cases in order to fill 
voids.

 Attempting to staff from within existing resources may put pressure on other 
areas of Children’s Services.

Page 147



 In securing suitable accommodation, it is likely Children’s Services will have 
to underwrite the costs of any damage to the property.

 Excluding the comparisons with 24/7, 1:1 provision with the main existing 
providers, the comparative cost of an in-house service is likely to be as 
much as 20-25% higher than indicative costs for similar services from the 
independent sector and the current average cost of an intense needs 
supported accommodation placement. By not putting the provision out to 
market, the best value for money cannot be guaranteed. 

Given the advantages listed above can also be met through developing a bespoke 
specification and putting the provision out to market – whilst avoiding some of the 
disadvantages such as tying up resources – it is considered that Option 6 is the 
most suitable option both for this and the other four strands. 

Option 6 – Procurement
Proposed Commissioning Approach
The proposed procurement approach would be to create an Open Select List for 
each strand, with the additional proviso that one of the strands – Intense Needs 
Supported Accommodation – may be bolstered by the commissioning of a block 
contract if market engagement activity suggests this is likely to deliver better value 
for money (Further work is being currently being undertaken on this and will be 
reported directly to the Executive Director for Children's Services and the Executive 
Councillor responsible for Children’s Services in due course).  The approach 
adopted will ensure there is some flexibility therein so that the process adequately 
meets the requirements of individual placements within that strand. The Open 
Select List will be procured under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the 
application of the "light touch regime" as set out in Chapter 3 of Part 2 of the 
Regulations as the value of the contracts exceed the EU Threshold for services. 
The "light touch regime" allows the Council greater flexibility in the design of the 
procurement process than is allowed under some of the other procurement 
procedures laid down in the Regulations. It enables the Council to design a fair and 
transparent process to identify a list of suitable providers for the services in 
question.  The proposed process would ensure that the Council undertook its 
placement activity on a sound legal footing, demonstrating fairness, openness and 
transparency and reducing the Council’s risk of challenge. The Open Select List 
shall be opened up to new entrants on at least a six monthly basis. This will ensure 
that all providers in the market get a fair opportunity to become part of the 
resources available to the Council to meet the needs of the individuals in question.

Main features of the methodology for each Strand:
Placement Strand Features of Open Select List

Residential Care

Independent Foster 
Care
 
INMS (including the 
commissioning of 
additional therapeutic 
services)

 A selection form to be completed for providers to join 
the list - this form would include specific information 
about the provider to allow the Open Select List to be 
filtered by, for instance, geography, specialism, Ofsted 
rating etc.

 In line with current methodology , a form of 'mini 
competition' would be held for each placement 
required with only suitable providers, utilising the 
identified filter(s), on the Open Select List invited to 

Page 148



quote in the first instance
 For each mini competition, weightings would be 

applied to key criteria on an individual basis, in 
accordance with that child’s needs e.g. location, type of 
support required etc. alongside the cost of the 
placement

 A timescale for return will be advised as part of the 
competition document; if no quotations are received by 
the deadline, or the proposed cost is deemed 
'excessive', the Council will reserve the right to go 'off 
list'

 At the time of placement with a provider, further quality 
assurance checks will be undertaken to ensure 
compliance with statutory obligations and to validate 
the financial stability of the provider. The performance 
of such additional checks shall be disclosed to 
providers as part of the invitation to participate in the 
procurement process.

Intense Supported 
Accommodation

(N.B, this is a 
minimum measure 
and further work will 
be considered 
regarding alternative 
approaches for step-
down, block 
contracting etc.)

 A selection form to be completed for providers to join 
the list - this form would include basic information 
about the provider to allow the Open Select List to be 
filtered by, for instance, geography, specialism, nature 
of accommodation etc.  

 At this point, providers for this strand will be asked to 
submit a price list for their accommodation/support 
packages 

 A 'mini competition' would be held for each placement 
required with only suitable providers, utilising the 
appropriate filter(s), on the Open Select List invited to 
quote in the first instance

 For each mini competition, weightings would be 
applied to key criteria on an individual basis, in 
accordance with that child’s needs e.g. location, type of 
support required etc. alongside the cost of the 
placement 

 A timescale for return will be advised as part of the 
competition document, if no quotations are received by 
the deadline, the Council will reserve the right to go 'off 
list' 

 At the time of placement with a provider, further quality 
assurance checks will be undertaken to ensure 
compliance with statutory obligations and to validate 
the financial stability of the provider. The performance 
of such additional checks shall be disclosed to 
providers as part of the invitation to participate in the 
procurement process.

Page 149



UASC  It is proposed that the UASC strand of placement 
process and Open Select List will operate differently.  
Due to the immediacy of this strand and the more 
common needs of the children involved, an Open 
Select List that is ordered according to the Supplier 
responses to an more detailed selection form. This will 
allow the Service Area to directly call-off a provider 
from the list to place the child immediately.

 A selection form to be completed for providers to join 
the list - this form would include more detailed 
information about what the provider can deliver; their 
pricing structure; and all the necessary quality 
assurance and compliance information including 
safeguarding and financial stability.

 Once received, all applications for this Open Select List 
would be evaluated against set criteria and an ordered 
Open Select List will be created. The ordering will be 
adjusted at each point where the Open Select List is 
opened up for new entrants to come onto the list.

 At the time of placement, the Service Area will access 
the Open Select List and contact the providers in the 
order they appear on the list until a suitable placement 
is sourced.

Further Information:
 Value for Money - In all cases relating to Residential Care, Independent 

Foster Care and INMS, the Council will reserve the right to seek a 
placement ‘off-list’ if it is deemed that the quotation(s) from providers on the 
Open Select List does not offer 'reasonable' value for money in comparison 
with similar placements.  Legal Services form part of the project board and 
will be fully involved in signing off the terms and conditions and assisting in 
setting out what is considered 'reasonable' to ensure the process is open, 
transparent and fair.

 Meeting the Child's Needs – If the only quotation(s) received are not 
deemed suitable or adequate by the Service Area in meeting the child's 
needs, the Council will also reserve the right to go 'off-list' to ensure that 
there is no adverse impact upon any child.

 Emergency Placements – There are often instances where emergency 
placements are sought, sometimes required for the same day.  In those 
cases, providers on the Open Select List will still be offered the opportunity 
first; however, there is likely to be a very short turnaround time for them to 
respond.  If a response has not been received during that time, the Council 
will be able to source a placement off-list to ensure that the child is not 
adversely impacted.

It should be noted that under the Open Select List process, no provider will be 
guaranteed any business. Thus, whilst there is likely to be significant expenditure 
incurred given the monies currently disbursed within each of the strands (see 
above), the Council will not be awarding contracts of any specific value to any 
provider as a result of the tender process. Successful providers will instead be 

Page 150



admitted onto the relevant Open Select List with the opportunity to compete, on a 
priority basis, for placements required within the relevant strand.

Advantages
 Legal basis for placement activity without resorting to waiver
 Alignment and consistency of placement process for all strands
 Tailored approach to each strand to ensure needs of all children being met 

whilst delivering value for money
 Opportunity to 'migrate' current providers onto the current standard terms 

and conditions and update the specification, which will be beneficial to the 
Council  

 Opportunity to encourage new providers to Lincolnshire through market 
engagement activities planned with the Open Select List project and send 
clear statement to the market regarding LCC focus and priorities e.g. 
placements closer to home

 An Open Select List can be opened periodically throughout its duration to 
allow new providers to join and be considered for placements - this ensures 
that new entrants to the market and improving providers can bid to join the 
Open Select List

 Opportunity to drive competition and associated cost savings within strands 
such as UASC and Intense Needs Supported Housing

 Opportunity to develop greater understanding of costs and the impact of 
external factors on those costs such as national living wage through 
requirement in contract to provide breakdown of costs.  This will assist in 
challenging the price of different levels of support and/or fee increase 
requests

Disadvantages
 Resource costs associated with procurement exercise, including reduced 

capacity within Children's Strategic Commissioning team
 May be poor take up of the list if providers deem terms and conditions less 

favourable or evaluate the bidding process as too onerous, which could limit 
placement options and choice of provider before going 'off-list'.

Equality Act 2010

The Council must comply with the public sector equality duty set out in S149 
Equality Act 2010 when coming to a decision on the proposals. In doing so, the 
Executive Councillor as decision-maker must have due regard to the needs to:
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; 
 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it: Equality Act 2010 section 
149(1). The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual 
orientation: section 149(7).

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to:

Page 151

https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/runRemoteLink.do?langcountry=GB&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23num%252010_15a_Title%25&risb=21_T11624841281&bct=A&service=citation&A=0.4026760067779367
https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/runRemoteLink.do?langcountry=GB&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23section%25149%25sect%25149%25num%252010_15a%25&risb=21_T11624841281&bct=A&service=citation&A=0.8213227680330027
https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/runRemoteLink.do?langcountry=GB&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23section%25149%25sect%25149%25num%252010_15a%25&risb=21_T11624841281&bct=A&service=citation&A=0.8213227680330027


 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it;

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low. 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities.

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding.

Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others.

A reference to conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act includes a reference 
to:

(a)     A breach of an equality clause or rule
(b)     A breach of a non-discrimination rule

It is important that the Executive Councillor is aware of the special duties the 
Council owes to persons who have a protected characteristic as the duty cannot be 
delegated and must be discharged by the Executive. The duty applies to all 
decisions taken by public bodies including policy decisions and decisions on 
individual cases and includes this decision. 

To discharge the statutory duty the Executive Councillor must analyse all the 
relevant material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse 
impact is identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact 
as part of the decision making process. 

An Impact Assessment has not been completed relevant to this report as approval 
is sought merely to go to procurement with a view to adapting the Council's internal 
methodology for commissioning such services and the nature of the contractual 
relationship with suppliers of such services. An Impact Assessment will be 
considered as part of an evaluation of the outcome of any decision to go out to 
procurement.

Child Poverty Strategy

The Council is under a duty in the exercise of its functions to have regard to its 
Child Poverty Strategy.  Child poverty is one of the key risk factors that can 
negatively influence a child’s life chances. Children that live in poverty are at 

Page 152



greater risk of social exclusion which, in turn, can lead to poor outcomes for the 
individual and for society as a whole.

In Lincolnshire we consider that poverty is not only a matter of having limited 
financial resources but that it is also about the ability of families to access the 
means of lifting themselves out of poverty and of having the aspiration to do so. 
The following four key strategic themes form the basis of Lincolnshire’s Child 
Poverty strategy: Economic Poverty, Poverty of Access, Poverty of Aspiration and 
Best Use of Resources.

The Strategy has been taken into account in this instance and the following 
comments are made:

Economic Poverty
Family breakdown and crisis, leading to C&YP becoming looked after, can lead to 
economic disadvantage for C&YP, given the educational outcomes often achieved 
are lower than that for their peers and heightens the risk of being unable to sustain 
education, training and employment opportunities in the future. This can also be 
problematic for C&YP seeking alternative accommodation as a result of becoming 
homeless. Service provision within the placement strands will focus on ensuring 
young people maximise education, training and employment prospects. Services 
will also look, wherever appropriate, to mediate with C&YP and their families to 
help them return to the familial home where it is safe to do so.

Poverty of Access
Poverty of access is concerned with vulnerable groups that are at risk of poor 
outcomes compared with their peers.   Services commissioned through the 
placement function are charged with ensuring that C&YP are offered the right 
information, advice and guidance as well as practical support to enable them to 
maintain the same education, training and employment opportunities as their 
peers. Each and every C&YP entering a placement participates in the development 
of an individual support plan to help meet their needs and further their future 
prospects.

Poverty of Aspiration
Commissioned services provide dedicated support to C&YP. They will empower 
the C&YP to maintain aspirations through the development of support networks, 
including family ties where appropriate, and an individual support plan that includes 
improving the young person’s life chances through a focus on education, training 
and employment.

Best use of Resources
Best use of Resources aims to ensure that all key stakeholders contribute to 
reducing child poverty and improving the life chances of C&YP in a coordinated 
way. The services commissioned will be charged with ensuring that best value for 
money is achieved within the contracts to meet the needs of C&YP requiring a 
placement. The current high numbers of referrals and significant level of 
involvement from partner agencies – such as Health, District Councils and 
Education - demonstrates the partnership approach to the provision of placements 
within Children's Services.  

Page 153



Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 

The Council in exercising its functions must have regard to the JSNA. The 
proposals contribute to the following themes: 

Be Healthy
C&YP likely to be placed will include some C&YP with issues such as substance 
and alcohol misuse, Offending behaviours and mental health problems. The 
support offered will empower C&YP to address such issues as they move towards 
independent living. Those C&YP will be offered tailored support, including 
opportunities for education and training leading to enhanced employment 
prospects.

Stay Safe
The primary focus of placement activity is to provide C&YP with a safe and stable 
environment in which to learn and achieve and, for the older cohort, to prevent 
young people from becoming homeless. The support offered will prepare them for 
living independently in the community whilst keeping them safe from harm. 

Enjoy and Achieve
A key part of many of the placement strands is to enable C&YP to enter and/or 
maintain education and training opportunities. Individual support plans will be 
tailored to meet the needs of C&YP with regard to education and training. Services 
support C&YP to attend educational establishments and often give C&YP the 
chance to maintain their educational commitments whilst making the transition to 
independent living.

Positive Contribution
Individual support plans are predicated on meeting the needs of the C&YP with the 
individual active in creating those support plans and the outcomes they wish to 
achieve. Services will also empower C&YP to maximise the use of universal 
services, where appropriate, that are available locally to prepare them for 
independent living.

Achieve Economic Wellbeing
Service provision within placements will retain a focus on ensuring C&YP maintain 
education, training and employment prospects.  

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS)

The Council in exercising its functions must have regard to the JHWS.

The Lincolnshire Health & Well Being Strategy includes five main themes, with an 
additional theme of “mental health” running throughout the document. Placement 
activity supports the following themes.

Promoting healthier lifestyles 
Commissioned services may support some C&YP with substance and alcohol 
misuse issues as well as helping C&YP's sense of mental wellbeing. Furthermore, 
the primary focus is to provide C&YP with a safe and stable environment, and 

Page 154



preventing homelessness amongst older cohorts of C&YP which can often lead to 
negative health outcomes and inequalities. 

Improve health and social outcomes for C&YP and reduce inequalities 
Services within the five placement strands focus on supporting C&YP to enter 
and/or maintain education and training opportunities enhancing employment 
prospects, life chances and reducing inequalities. They will also empower C&YP to 
build up support networks both within the provision itself and in the wider 
community through access to universal and targeted services, wherever 
appropriate.

Tackling the social determinants of health
As indicated above, accessing and maintaining education, training and 
employment opportunities are an integral part of the support being offered through 
commissioned services in each of the placement strands. With regard to the older 
cohort of C&YP, commissioned services will also serve to ensure C&YP have 
access to adequate and decent housing which is often a strong contributory factor 
to determining health. 

Crime and Disorder

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area.

The services commissioned, especially those targeted at the older cohort of C&YP,  
may from time to time be in contact with C&YP and their families who may be 
experiencing or partaking in crime and disorder and services are tasked with 
providing support to those most at risk and indirectly prevent crime and disorder. 

In addition, services commissioned through the placement function seek to offer a 
secure and stable environment for C&YP, removing them from households where 
they may have experienced crime and disorder, and enabling those C&YP to learn 
and achieve more readily. 

2. Conclusion

The proposed commissioning approach will provide the opportunity to enhance the 
service specification, improving the level of provision and outcomes achieved for 
Lincolnshire children and young people (C&YP). It will place the Council on a firm 
contractual footing and promote LCC's standard terms and conditions, whilst 
ensuring services are commissioned in line with the Public Contract Regulations 
2015.

By adopting the approach across all five strands, it will provide a consistency of 
approach and alignment of the placement functions within Children's Services. It 
will also encourage the development of the market-place for this provision within 
Lincolnshire and promote a greater choice of provision, helping to ensure there is 

Page 155



sufficient and sustainable provision when making urgent and planned for 
placements which meet the individual needs of Lincolnshire C&YP.

In addition, the proposed methodology offers the opportunity to test the market 
through enhanced competition, particularly in the Intense Needs Supported 
Accommodation and UASC strands, to ensure the Council is achieving best value 
for money. 

3. Legal Comments:

The procurement law implications and the other matters to which the Executive 
Councillor must have regard are dealt with in detail in the Report.

The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive Councillor if it is within the budget.

5. Consultation

a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted?  
N/A

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted? 
Yes

c)  Scrutiny Comments
The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee will consider this report at its 
meeting on 21 October 2016. Comments from the Committee will be reported to 
the Executive Councillor.

d)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 
N/A

6. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.

This report was written by Amy Allcock, Senior Commissioning Officer who can be 
contacted on 01522 552687 or amy.allcock@lincolnshire.gov.uk

4. Resource Comments: 

The recommendation to approve the commissioning approach of undertaking a 
procurement exercise for five strands of Children's Services placements will 
provide the opportunity to potentially improve service delivery; enhance 
competition in the market, and value for money. There are no financial 
implications arising from this initial procurement exercise.   

Page 156

mailto:amy.allcock@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 
 
 

Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 21 October 2016 

Subject: 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme   

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item enables the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider its own work programme for the coming year. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To comment and agree on the content of the work programme, as set out 
in Appendix A to this report. 

(2) To note the content of the Children's Services Forward Plan, as set out in 
Appendix B to this report. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
Current Work Programme 
 
At every meeting of the Committee, Members are invited to consider their future 
Work Programme and to agree on items to be included in the Work Programme. 
The current work programme for the Committee is attached at Appendix A to this 
report. 
 
Forward Plan 
 
Also attached at Appendix B for the Committee’s consideration is a list of the 
intended decisions of the Executive or Executive Councillor for Adult Care and 
Health Services, Children's Services, which fall within the remit of the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee.      
 
Scrutiny Activity Definitions 
 
Set out below are the definitions used to describe the types of scrutiny, relating to 
the items:  

 

Budget Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising the previous year’s budget, the 
current year’s budget or proposals for the future year’s budget.  
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 10



Pre-Decision Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising a proposal, prior to a 
decision on the proposal by the Executive, the Executive Councillor or a senior 
officer. 
 

Performance Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising periodic performance, issue 
specific performance or external inspection reports.    
 

Policy Development - The Committee is involved in the development of policy, 
usually at an early stage, where a range of options are being considered.  
 

Consultation - The Committee is responding to (or making arrangements to 
respond to) a consultation, either formally or informally. This includes pre-
consultation engagement.   
 

Status Report - The Committee is considering a topic for the first time where a 
specific issue has been raised or members wish to gain a greater understanding.  
 

Update Report - The Committee is scrutinising an item following earlier 
consideration.   
 

Scrutiny Review Activity - This includes discussion on possible scrutiny review 
items; finalising the scoping for the review; monitoring or interim reports; approval 
of the final report; and the response to the report.   
 

2. Conclusion
 

That consideration is given to the content of this report.
 
3. Consultation 
 
 
 

 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

No policy proofing is required for this report. 
 

 

4. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 

Appendix B Children's Services Forward Plan 

 

5. Background Papers 
 

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 552164 or Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

Page 158

mailto:Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Theme: “That every child, in every part of the county should achieve their potential”

Chairman: Councillor John Hough
Vice Chairman: Councillor Ray Wootten

21 October 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Children's Health Services 
Model and Commissioning 
Plan

Charlotte Gray
Team Manager Children's 
Commissioning

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Decision on 1 
November 2016)

Schools that work for 
everyone – Government 
Consultation

Heather Sandy
Chief Commissioner - 
Learning

Consultation (Closing date 
is 12 December 2016)

Corporate Parenting Panel 
Update

Cllr David Brailsford
Chairman of the Panel

Member Report

Inclusive Lincolnshire 
Strategy – Six Monthly 
Update

Mary Meredith
Service Manager – 
Inclusion

Policy Review

Sector Led Model for 
School Improvement – 
Update Report 

Heather Sandy
Chief Commissioner - 
Learning

Policy Development

Open Select List for 
Children’s Services 
Placements

Amy Allcock
Commissioning Officer

Mark Rainey
Children's Commissioning 
Manager

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
decision on 31 October 
2016)

25 November 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
The Future of the Music 
Service – Update

John O'Connor
Children's Services 
Manager: Education 
Support

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
decision on 9 December 
2016)

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 2

Sally Savage
Chief Commissioning 
Officer – Children's

Performance Scrutiny

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group Update

Cllr Ron Oxby
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Centre for Public 
Scrutiny's Guide to 
Scrutinising Children's 
Safeguarding  
Arrangements  – Key 
Scrutiny Questions for 
Safeguarding – Questions 

Janice Spencer
Assistant Director – 
Children's (Safeguarding)

Performance Scrutiny

Page 159



25 November 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
8, 9, 13, 14
Additional Item
Additional Item

Budget Workshop
2.00pm – 4.00pm

20 January 2017
Item Contributor Purpose
Budget Proposals 2017/18 Debbie Barnes

Executive Director of 
Children's Services

Budget Scrutiny

Corporate Parenting Panel 
Update

Cllr David Brailsford
Chairman of the Panel

Member Report

Outcomes from School 
Performance Working 
Groups

Martin Smith 
Children's Services 
Manager  - School 
Standards

Kieran Barnes 
Head of the Virtual School 
for Looked After Children

Member Report

Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item

10 March 2017
Item Contributor Purpose
Lincolnshire Local 
Authority School 
Performance 2015-16

Martin Smith
Children's Service 
Manager - School 
Standards

Performance Scrutiny

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 3

Sally Savage
Chief Commissioning 
Officer – Children's

Performance Scrutiny

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group Update

Cllr Ron Oxby
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Centre for Public 
Scrutiny's Guide to 
Scrutinising Children's 
Safeguarding 
Arrangements Guide – 
Key Scrutiny Questions for 
Safeguarding – Questions 
18, 20, 21

Janice Spencer
Assistant Director – 
Children's (Safeguarding)

Performance Scrutiny

Partners in Practice Debbie Barnes Update Report

Page 160



10 March 2017
Item Contributor Purpose
Update Executive Director of 

Children's Services
Additional Item

28 April 2017
Item Contributor Purpose
Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item

9 June 2017
Item Contributor Purpose
A Proposed Future Model 
of SEN Provision from 
Lincolnshire Special 
Schools

Andrew Hancy Pre-Decision Scrutiny 

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 4

Sally Savage
Chief Commissioning 
Officer – Children's

Performance Scrutiny

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group Update

Cllr Ron Oxby
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Corporate Parenting Panel 
Update

Cllr David Brailsford
Chairman of the Panel

Member Report

Additional Item
Additional Item

To be scheduled

 Educational Excellence Everywhere

Theme Outcomes

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is aligned to the five principles set out 
in the Children and Young People’s Plan 2012-2015:  

1. Early Intervention and Prevention 
 Strong universal services, providing early action and intensive support to 

vulnerable children and young people. 

2. Safeguarding and Best Start in Life 
 Ensuring children are safe in every environment. 
 Encouraging community responsibility for safeguarding. 

Page 161



3. Aspiration and Well Being 
 Ensuring all those working with children champion the importance of 

aspiration. 
 Develop self-esteem, self-belief and resilience in all children, young people 

and their families. 

4. Learning and Achievement 
 All children being the best that they can be. 
 Closing the gap between vulnerable groups and children living in 

disadvantaged communities. 

5. Best Use of Resources 
 Integrating delivery with a focus on outcomes, life chances and opportunities. 
 Effective use of resources to provide better services locally. 
 Empower communities, creating opportunities for them to engage. 

For more information about the work of this Committee please contact Tracy Johnson, 
Senior Scrutiny Officer, on 01522 552164 or by e-mail at 

tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Page 162

mailto:tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX B
FORWARD PLAN OF DECISIONS RELATING TO CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 1 NOVEMBER 2016

DEC
REF

MATTERS
FOR DECISION

DATE OF
DECISION

DECISION
MAKER

PEOPLE/GROUPS
CONSULTED PRIOR 
TO DECISION

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 
SUBMITTED
FOR 
DECISION

HOW TO COMMENT
ON THE DECISION 
BEFORE IT IS MADE 
AND THE DATE BY 
WHICH COMMENTS 
MUST BE RECEIVED

RESPONSIBLE 
PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER AND CHIEF 
OFFICER

KEY       
DECISION
YES/NO

  DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED

I011946 Open Select List 
for Placements 
in Children 
Services 

31 October 
2016 

Executive 
Councillor: 
Adult Care, 
Health and 
Children's 
Services 

Representatives from 
Children in Care 
Council; Additional 
Needs Team; Looked 
after Children Team; 
Lincolnshire Leaving 
Care Service 

Exempt Report Senior Commissioning Officer 
Tel: 01522 552687 Email: 
amy.allcock@lincolnshire.gov.
uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care, Health 
and Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

Yes All Divisions 

I011790 Children's health 
services future 
model and 
commissioning 
plan 

1 
November 
2016 

Executive Children's DMT; 
Informal Member 
Working Group; 
Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
Committee 

Exempt Report Commissioning and 
Development Officer Tel: 
01522 553783 Email: 
charlotte.gray@lincolnshire.go
v.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care, Health 
and Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

Yes All Divisions 

I012108 The Future of 
the Music 
Service - Update 

9 
December 
2016 

Executive 
Councillor: 
Adult Care, 
Health and 
Children's 
Services 

Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
Committee 

Report Senior Music Advisor Tel: 
01522 552841 Email: 
jennifer.mckie@lincolnshire.go
v.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care, Health 
and Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

No All Divisions 

I011993 Statement of 
Purpose - 
Private 
Fostering 

9 January 
2017 

Executive 
Councillor: 
Adult Care, 
Health and 
Children's 
Services 

Corporate Parenting 
Panel 

Report Assistant Director of Children's 
Services Tel: 01522 553202 
Email: 
janet.spencer@lincolnshire.go
v.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care, Health 
and Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

No All Divisions 

I011996 Annual Report - 
Private 
Fostering 

9 January 
2017 

Executive 
Councillor: 
Adult Care, 
Health and 
Children's 
Services 

Corporate Parenting 
Panel 

Report Assistant Director of Children's 
Services Tel: 01522 553202 
Email: 
janice.spencer@lincolnshire.g
ov.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care, Health 
and Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

No All Divisions 

P
age 163



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2016
	4 Children's Health Services Model and Commissioning Plan
	Appendix 1 - Children's Health Model and Commissioning Plan Exec Report
	Appendix A -  Review Findings
	Appendix B(i) - Early Years and 0-6 Health Services EIA
	Appendix B(ii) - Emotional Wellbeing and 6-19 Health Services EIA

	5 Schools that work for everyone - Government consultation
	Appendix A - Consultation Response

	6 Corporate Parenting Panel Update
	Appendix A - Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2016

	7 Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy - Six Monthly Update
	8 Sector Led School Improvement Model - Update Report
	9 Open Select List for Children's Services Placements
	Appendix 1 - Executive Councillor Report

	10 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	CYPSC Work Programme Appendix


